

PAPER • OPEN ACCESS

Observing invisible axions with gravitational waves

To cite this article: Marco Gorghetto et al JCAP06(2021)034

View the article online for updates and enhancements.

You may also like

- Dark radiation constraints on mixed Axion/Neutralino dark matter Kyu Jung Bae, Howard Baer and Andre Lessa

- Peccei-Quinn-like symmetries for nonabelian axions Debashis Chatterjee and P Mitra

- <u>Strongly broken Peccei-Quinn symmetry in</u> <u>the early Universe</u>

Fuminobu Takahashi and Masaki Yamada

ournal of Cosmology and Astroparticle Physics

Observing invisible axions with gravitational waves

Marco Gorghetto,^{*a*} Edward Hardy^{*b*} and Horia Nicolaescu^{*b*}

^aDepartment of Particle Physics and Astrophysics, Weizmann Institute of Science, Herzl St 234, Rehovot 761001, Israel

^bDepartment of Mathematical Sciences, University of Liverpool, Liverpool, L69 7ZL, United Kingdom

E-mail: marco.gorghetto@gmail.com, Edward.Hardy@liverpool.ac.uk, H.Nicolaescu@liverpool.ac.uk

Received February 4, 2021 Accepted April 19, 2021 Published June 17, 2021

Abstract. If the Peccei-Quinn symmetry associated to an axion has ever been restored after inflation, axion strings inevitably produce a contribution to the stochastic gravitational wave background. Combining effective field theory analysis with numerical simulations, we show that the resulting gravitational wave spectrum has logarithmic deviations from a scale invariant form with an amplitude that is significantly enhanced at low frequencies. As a result, a single ultralight axion-like particle with a decay constant larger than 10^{14} GeV and any mass between 10^{-18} eV and 10^{-28} eV leads to an observable gravitational wave spectrum and is compatible with constraints on the post-inflationary scenario from dark matter overproduction, isocurvature and dark radiation. Since the spectrum extends over a wide range of frequencies, the resulting signal could be detected by multiple experiments. We describe straightforward ways in which the Peccei-Quinn symmetry can be restored after inflation for such decay constants. We also comment on the recent possible NANOgrav signal in light of our results.

Keywords: axions, Cosmic strings, domain walls, monopoles, gravitational waves / theory, cosmology of theories beyond the SM

ArXiv ePrint: 2101.11007

© 2021 The Author(s). Published by IOP Publishing Ltd on behalf of Sissa Medialab. Original content from this work may be used under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 licence. Any further distribution of this work must maintain attribution to the author(s) and the title of the work, journal citation and DOI.

Contents

1	Introduction	1
2	Properties of axion string networks	3
3	 Gravitational waves from strings 3.1 Theoretical derivation of GW emission 3.2 GW spectrum during the scaling regime 3.3 Comparison with numerical simulations 3.4 The GW spectrum today 	6 9 12 17
4	Constraints on the axion mass and decay constant4.1Dark matter4.2Dark radiation4.3Isocurvature perturbations4.4Strings and CMB anisotropies4.5The case $N > 1$	21 23 24 26 29 29
5	 Peccei-Quinn restoration in the early universe 5.1 Symmetry restoration during inflation 5.2 Parametric resonances 5.3 Symmetry restoration with a light radial mode 	30 32 33 33
6	Summary and conclusions	3 4
A	More details on GWs from strings A.1 Axions and gravitational waves from Nambu-Goto strings A.2 GW spectrum during the scaling regime	37 37 38
В	Details of simulations	39
С	 Further results from simulations C.1 The scaling regime C.2 GW backreaction on the strings C.3 Analysis of systematics C.4 The end of the scaling regime and nonlinear transient C.5 The density power spectrum 	40 41 47 49 50 54
D	GWs from the nonlinear transient and oscillons	57
\mathbf{E}	Other bounds	58
\mathbf{F}	Comparison to the literature	59
G	Cosmological stability of the axions and temperature dependent masses	60

\Box
P
\bigcirc
M
\frown
\mathbb{N}
\bigcirc
\mathbb{N}
\vdash
\smile
\bigcirc
ω

Η	Syn	nmetry restoration	61
	H.1	Symmetry restoration during inflation	61
	H.2	Preheating	63
	H.3	Symmetry restoration with a light radial mode	66

1 Introduction

The discovery of gravitational waves (GWs) from binary mergers by the Ligo/Virgo collaboration [1] has opened a new window through which our Universe can be observed. This has already led to discoveries in astrophysics [2, 3] and many others will inevitably follow. Moreover, GWs also have the potential to provide invaluable insights into fundamental particle physics. This is a particularly promising avenue since there are plans for numerous new detectors, which will have access to a much wider range of frequencies and much greater sensitivity than the current generation. It is therefore worth understanding whether the simplest and most motivated models of new physics predict GW backgrounds left over from the early Universe, and, if they do, whether these are in reach of future detectors.

In this regard, many extensions of the Standard Model (SM) predict the existence of additional U(1) (global or local) symmetry factors that are spontaneously broken. For instance, local U(1)s appear in grand unified theories, and theories of leptogenesis and neutrino masses. On the other hand, the QCD axion, introduced to solve the strong CP problem, is the pseudo Nambu-Goldstone boson (PNGB) of a spontaneously broken global U(1) Peccei-Quinn (PQ) symmetry [4–6]. Similarly, axion-like-particles are PNGBs of new global U(1) symmetries, are common in well motivated phenomenological models and appear ubiquitous in typical string theory constructions [7–11].¹ Additionally, the QCD axion and axion-like-particles (both of which we refer to just as axions) are compelling candidates to comprise some or all of the dark matter (DM), since they are automatically produced in the early Universe and are usually cosmologically stable [13–15]. Nevertheless, over large parts of their parameter space the detection of axions is challenging due to their extremely weak (or possibly vanishing) couplings to the SM, see e.g. [16].

If it has ever been restored in the early Universe, a spontaneously broken U(1) symmetry leads to the formation of cosmic strings. Thanks to their topological nature, after they form, a network of such objects typically persists as the Universe expands. They therefore provide a sustained, possibly substantial, contribution to the (transverse-traceless component of the) energy momentum tensor of the Universe, sourcing GWs for an extended period of time. The resulting GW spectrum could span a wide range of frequencies, so is potentially relevant to numerous proposed detectors, including pulsar timing arrays such as SKA [17]; space based laser interferometers such as LISA [18] as well as terrestrial laser interferometers including LIGO [19] and ET [20, 21]; and searches utilising novel approaches including atom interferometery such as AEDGE [22].

In this paper we study the GWs produced by cosmic strings in a generic axion model in which the U(1) global symmetry has been restored after inflation, known as the postinflationary scenario. Our analysis includes the QCD axion and axion-like particles as it only relies on the universal coupling to gravity. The signals are also independent of possible couplings of these particles to the SM and they do not depend on the possible local DM

¹Particularly relevant for our present work are axions from the closed string sector [12], for which global string defects can form due to symmetry restoration in the early Universe.

axion abundance, unlike many other detection strategies.² Consequently our results apply to a remarkably wide class of models, most of which are otherwise not presently under experimental scrutiny.

After a network of axion strings first forms (e.g. when the temperature of the Universe drops sufficiently that the PQ symmetry spontaneously breaks) it evolves towards an attractor solution that is independent of the initial conditions [23]. Such a regime — known as scaling — is the result of the competing effects of string recombination and Hubble expansion. As we discuss in section 2, during scaling the network's statistical properties drastically simplify and their time-dependence is fixed only by one scale, the Hubble parameter, up to crucial corrections that are logarithmic in the UV physics scale. For instance, since the strings arise from a global symmetry their tension manifestly has such a dependence.³ In particular, in this regime the number of strings per Hubble volume is driven to a critical value (also subject to logarithmic corrections [23, 25, 26]) and to maintain this the network releases energy, dominantly in the form of axions.

The motion and recombination of strings during scaling also sources GWs, which propagate freely until today and therefore contribute to the stochastic background. The crucial ingredients needed to determine the resulting spectrum are: 1) the energy emitted instantaneously from the string network in GWs as a function of time, and 2) the momentum distribution with which this energy is emitted. In fact, we will be able to derive these quantities (up to order one coefficients) analytically from energy conservation and the Nambu-Goto effective theory with the Kalb-Ramond term, which describes strings coupled to the axion field in the limit of small string thickness (and captures the logarithmic dependence of the tension mentioned above). We will then see that these predictions are reproduced remarkably well by first principles numerical simulations of the physical system, which confirm the validity of the theoretical assumptions and allow us to extract the unknown coefficients. As will be clear in what follows, numerical simulations can only access a relatively small time range, and it is impossible to directly extract the GW energy and its momentum distribution at the physically relevant time, so a careful extrapolation is essential. However, the existence of the scaling solution, in combination with our analytic understanding on the GW emission, makes this extrapolation reliable.

We will show that the energy emitted in GWs at later times during the scaling regime is logarithmically enhanced, primarily as a result of the logarithmic increase of the string tension, and the energy is always produced with a momentum distribution localised at frequencies of order the Hubble scale. When the emission from the entire scaling regime is taken into account, this leads to logarithmic deviations from a scale invariant GW spectrum, which increase the amplitude of the spectrum at low frequencies (indeed, these frequencies are emitted the latest, when the enhancement is largest). As we will show in section 3, the deviation can be approximated by a spectrum $d\Omega_{\rm gw}/d\log f \propto \log^4(f_a/H_f)$, where f_a is the axion decay constant and $H_f \propto f^2$ is the Hubble parameter at the time when GWs of present day frequency f are emitted. Given the large value of this logarithm (up to 10^2 for the relevant axion masses), the deviation from scale invariance is substantial and means that axions with $f_a \gtrsim 10^{14}$ GeV lead to GW spectra that are observable in multiple upcoming experiments.

 $^{^{2}}$ We will see that, regardless of the axion's couplings, friction from the thermal bath does not affect the string dynamics at the times when GWs with observable frequencies are emitted for axion decay constants that lead to an amplitude that could be detected.

 $^{^{3}}$ Such corrections to naive scaling laws are common in a wide range of physical systems whenever a UV cutoff is present [24].

To better understand the range of decay constants and masses that could be discovered via GW observations, in section 4 we study additional properties of the post-inflationary scenario, which give constraints on the axion parameter space. In particular, we derive a lower bound on the relic abundance of axions from strings. We also calculate the spectrum of density perturbations in the axion field, which leads to isocurvature perturbations measurable for instance in the cosmic microwave background (CMB) that are potentially in conflict with observations. Finally, we discuss how the axions emitted during the scaling regime contribute to dark radiation, which is constrained by big bang nucleosynthesis (BBN) and CMB measurements.

We will see there is a significant region of allowed and observable masses and decay constants for ultralight axions, i.e. with a mass $\leq 10^{-17}$ eV. However, the GWs from QCD axion strings are not observable due to the bound $f_a \leq 10^{10}$ GeV from DM overproduction in this case [27]. GW searches are particularly useful since they are complementary to other approaches, such as astrophysical observations and DM direct detection experiments, with their sensitivity strongest for large decay constants for which the axion couplings are typically suppressed. Our work will enable limits from GW observations, or even possible future discoveries, to be related to physics at energy scales far beyond any that could be explored directly. It will also allow complementary progress (e.g. potential improvements in searches for isocurvature perturbations and of the measurement of $N_{\rm eff}$) to be interpreted in terms of the post-inflationary scenario.

The paper is structured as follows. After reviewing the properties of global strings in section 2, we begin our new work in section 3 by calculating the GW emission from the string network. In section 4 we analyse additional properties and constraints on axions in the post-inflationary scenario. Following this, in section 5 we study ways in which the U(1) symmetry can be restored in the early universe for large f_a . Finally, we conclude and discuss directions for future work in section 6. Further details and supporting analysis is given in appendices where we also compare our work to the previous literature.

2 Properties of axion string networks

We consider a single axion, i.e. a PNGB of a spontaneously broken global U(1) symmetry, softly broken by the axion potential V, which is a periodic function of period $2\pi f_a$ and leads to an axion mass m_a . We remain agnostic about the origin of the potential (either by UV or IR physics) and its particular form. The QCD axion is a particular case, with a mass that arises due to an anomalous coupling to the gluon field strength and which is related to the axion decay constant by $m_a f_a \simeq m_\pi f_\pi$ (where m_π and f_π are the pion mass and decay constant) [5]. A prototypical axion model comprises a complex scalar field ϕ with Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L} = |\partial_{\mu}\phi|^2 - \frac{m_r^2}{2v^2} \left(|\phi|^2 - \frac{v^2}{2} \right)^2 \,, \tag{2.1}$$

leading to the spontaneous U(1) symmetry breaking at the scale v. The axion a(x) is associated to the phase of ϕ as $\phi(x) = \frac{v+r(x)}{\sqrt{2}}e^{ia(x)/v}$, while the radial mode r(x) is a heavy field of mass m_r . The equations of motion of the Lagrangian in eq. (2.1) admit solitonic string-like solutions, called axion strings [28–31], which are topologically non-trivial configurations that contain loops in space around which the axion field wraps the fundamental domain $[-\pi v, \pi v]$ with non-zero winding number. At the string centre, r(x) acquires a value of the order v over a distance of order m_r^{-1} , which sets the string core thickness.

A network of axion strings forms after the U(1) symmetry is broken, and this subsequently approaches the attractor solution. We assume that the Universe is in radiation domination with metric $ds^2 = dt^2 - R^2(t)dx^2$, where $R(t) \propto t^{1/2}$, and Hubble parameter $H \equiv \dot{R}/R = 1/(2t)$. Extensive evidence for the attractor was given in [23, 27], where more details can be found. The attractor is independent of the network's initial properties, allowing us to make predictions that do not depend on the details of the breaking of the U(1) symmetry and of the very early history of the Universe, i.e. at times when $H \gg m_a$.⁴ The existence of the attractor can be understood as resulting from a balance between two opposing effects: the expansion of the Universe continually increases the number of strings per Hubble patch, but if the critical density is exceeded string interactions and recombinations become efficient enough that the number of strings decreases. Consequently, the system is held at a critical point at which the number of strings per Hubble patch is approximately constant.

As mentioned, on the attractor solution the statistical properties of the string network follow fixed scaling laws that are (approximately) determined only by the one evolving scale: the Hubble parameter. For instance, the average energy density of the string network can be written as

$$\rho_s(t) = \xi \frac{\mu_{\text{eff}}}{t^2} \equiv 4\xi \mu_{\text{eff}} H^2 \,, \tag{2.2}$$

where ξ is the number of strings per Hubble patch, which measures the total length ℓ of the strings inside a Hubble volume in units of Hubble length, namely $\xi \equiv \lim_{L\to\infty} \ell(L) t^2/L^3$, while μ_{eff} is the effective tension of the strings, i.e. their energy per unit length. For local strings the string tension is constant as the energy density is localised on their cores, and the explicit factor of H^2 in eq. (2.2) might capture the full time dependence of ρ_s . However, the situation is different for the global strings that we study. In this case, owing to a logarithmic divergence, the tension of a single long straight string in one Hubble patch is $\mu = \pi v^2 \log(m_r/H)$. Consequently, during the scaling regime μ_{eff} is expected to take the form

$$\mu_{\rm th} = \pi v^2 \log \left(\frac{m_r}{H} \frac{\eta}{\sqrt{\xi}} \right) \,, \tag{2.3}$$

where η is a dimensionless quantity that parametrises the typical shape of the strings in the scaling regime.⁵ Given the self-similarity of the network during scaling, η is expected to have, at most, a weak time-dependence, so μ_{eff} increases logarithmically with time. In axion theories that are more general than eq. (2.1), eq. (2.3) still holds with m_r a UV-dependent parameter representing the typical mass of the heavy degrees of freedom associated with the U(1) breaking. In appendix C.1 we will show that numerical simulations of eq. (2.1) confirm the validity of eq. (2.3) with a fixed η .

The linear dependence of the string tension on $\log(m_r/H)$ also implies that the effective coupling of the axion field to the string is proportional to $1/\log(m_r/H)$ (see e.g. the discussion around eq. (3.2) below). It is therefore plausible that other properties of network might also depend on the same factor (in the following we define $\log \equiv \log(m_r/H)$). Indeed, there is clear evidence from numerical simulation of eq. (2.1) that such violations are present in a number of the network's properties. For example, ξ itself grows linearly with log during the scaling regime, namely (up to 1/log terms that depend on the initial conditions)

$$\xi = c_1 \log + c_0 \,, \tag{2.4}$$

 $^{{}^{4}}$ We will see that the GW spectrum at the observationally relevant frequencies is also independent of the very early evolution.

⁵In eq. (2.3), the argument of the logarithm should capture the main time dependence on t since the logarithm is cut-off by the average distance between strings $\propto t/\sqrt{\xi}$.

where the coefficient $c_1 = 0.24(2)$ can be extracted numerically. Although numerical simulations can so far only simulate string networks, and hence confirm eq. (2.4), at small scale separations (with $\log \leq 8$), the growth is likely to be an intrinsic property of the scaling solution and persist also at larger logs [23].⁶ The logarithmic dependence of μ_{eff} and ξ on m_r/H is referred to as 'scaling violation', as it introduces an explicit dependence on the additional scale m_r in the properties of the scaling regime and in eq. (2.2).

Since the energy density in eq. (2.2) diminishes faster than the energy of a system of (long) free strings ($\rho_s^{\text{free}} \propto R^{-2}$), energy must be continuously emitted from strings to maintain scaling. Conservation of energy and eq. (2.2) imply the energy density emission rate $\Gamma = \dot{\rho}_s^{\text{free}} - \dot{\rho}_s$ is given by [23]

$$\Gamma = \rho_s \left[2H - \frac{\dot{\xi}}{\xi} - \frac{\pi v^2}{\mu_{\text{eff}}} \left(H + \frac{\dot{\eta}}{\eta} - \frac{1}{2} \frac{\dot{\xi}}{\xi} \right) \right] \xrightarrow{\log \gg 1} 2H \rho_s = \frac{\xi \mu_{\text{eff}}}{t^3}, \quad (2.5)$$

where we assumed that μ_{eff} defined by eq. (2.2) is indeed reproduced by μ_{th} in eq. (2.3) once the parameter η is fixed appropriately. The equality on the right hand side of eq. (2.5) holds in the large log limit, which as we will see is the regime relevant to the emission of observable GWs. In appendix C.1 we will show that numerical simulations confirm the validity of eq. (2.5) (and we also give additional insights into the subtlety that eq. (2.5) applies only to the 80% of the string length that is in long strings and the interplay of these with small loops). Additionally, we note that eqs. (2.3) and (2.5) hold for nonrelativistic strings. Instead, for relativistic strings an additional term proportional to the string velocity would be present in eq. (2.5), encoding additional energy lost by the network via redshifting, see e.g. [32]. Since long strings are close to non-relativistic [27] we neglect this effect, which leads to changes safely smaller than the uncertainties we subsequently quote.

The energy lost by the network is radiated into the degrees of freedom coupled to the string, which are axions, radial modes and GWs. We therefore split

$$\Gamma = \Gamma_a + \Gamma_r + \Gamma_q \,, \tag{2.6}$$

to account for the respective emissions. At large enough value of log (but not too large), Γ is dominated by Γ_a . Indeed, numerical simulations of eq. (2.1) show that the radial mode decouples from the string, but only logarithmically with the ratio m_r/H , i.e. Γ_r/Γ_a decreases as inverse powers of log [27]. In particular, although some small fraction of the energy (about 10%) is emitted into radial modes at log $\lesssim 8$, this is seen to reduce logarithmically and is expected to vanish in the large log limit. Meanwhile, as we will show in the next section, $\Gamma_g/\Gamma_a \simeq G\mu_{\text{eff}}^2/v^2 = \pi/8(v \log/M_{\text{P}})^2$, where $M_{\text{P}} = 1/\sqrt{8\pi G}$ is the reduced Planck Mass. Consequently the GW emission is suppressed with respect to that into axions until log $\sim M_{\text{P}}/v$. As a result, $\Gamma \simeq \Gamma_a$ for $1 \ll \log \ll M_{\text{P}}/v$. In this range of log eq. (2.5) fully fixes Γ_a in terms of ξ and μ_{eff} .

The string network and the scaling regime persist as the Universe expands until approximately $H = m_a \equiv H_{\star}$, when the axion potential V becomes cosmologically relevant $(m_a \max)$ may either be temperature dependent or independent). At this time $\log(m_r/H_{\star}) = 60 \div 70$ for the QCD axion and can be $\simeq 100$ for ultralight axions. At $H = H_{\star}$ a network of domain walls forms, bounded by the strings. If the axion potential does not preserve any discrete subgroup of the U(1) symmetry, in which case $v = f_a$, the domain walls are unstable and

 $^{^{6}}$ For instance, the logarithmic growth affects long strings at exactly the same rate as sub-horizon loops (which make up respectively 80% and 20% of the string network length).

decay destroying the string network in the process. Meanwhile, soon after $H = H_{\star}$, most of the axions emitted during the scaling regime turn nonrelativistic and contribute to the DM abundance. Additional axions are expected to be emitted as the domain walls annihilate, supplementing the relic abundance from axions produced during the scaling regime. In the following we will set $v = f_a$, as is the case for unstable domain walls. However, as discussed in more detail in section 4.5, our derivation of the GW spectrum from strings can be easily generalised to axions with $v = Nf_a$ by replacing $f_a \rightarrow v$ throughout (for the QCD axion N is set by the anomaly coefficient between the PQ symmetry and QCD). Note that for N > 1 additional explicit breaking of the remaining discrete symmetry is necessary to avoid the domain walls over-closing the Universe.

3 Gravitational waves from strings

During the scaling regime the motion and interactions of the strings act as a continual source of GWs. In this section we study the resulting spectrum by combining the effective theory of global strings, and field theory simulations of the physical system in eq. (2.1). In particular, in section 3.1 we use the Nambu-Goto effective theory coupled to the axion field via the Kalb-Ramond term, which captures the dynamics of the parts of the network with small curvature. Both the effective theory and numerical simulations will show that the GWs can be self-consistently treated as a perturbation of the string network if $G\mu^2/f_a^2 \ll 1$, which will be satisfied for all f_a and m_a of interest. In this case, the fact that GWs are produced does not significantly influence the evolution of the network, which follows the previously described attractor.⁷

As mentioned, for $G\mu^2/f_a^2 \ll 1$ energy conservation and the scaling regime fix the time dependence of Γ_a , via eq. (2.5). However, this cannot be directly used to infer Γ_q , which accounts for only a small fraction of the energy released. Nevertheless, in this section we will show that we can still make use of eq. (2.5) thanks to a convenient relation between the rate of energy emission into GWs and that into axions. We will argue for this relation theoretically using the Nambu-Goto effective theory, and confirm it with numerical simulations of the physical system in the scaling regime. This will allow us to have analytic control of Γ_q at all times, except for an order one coefficient that will be directly extracted from the simulations. In combination with the momentum distribution of the instantaneous GW emission, whose general form can be easily guessed and will be confirmed in simulations, this will allow us to determine the total GW spectrum produced by the network up to $H = H_{\star}$ when it is destroyed. After being produced the GWs propagate freely, redshifting as the universe expands, so today they make up an irreducible contribution to the stochastic background. As we will see in section 3.4, during the scaling regime the GWs at the observable frequencies are emitted when $\log \gg 1$, and therefore in the following we will often refer to the large log limit.

3.1 Theoretical derivation of GW emission

The required relation between Γ_g and Γ_a can be argued for via the low energy limit of eq. (2.1), which is the effective theory of Nambu-Goto strings coupled to the axion field [33] by the Kalb-Ramond action [34]. In particular, this effective theory can be obtained from eq. (2.1) on the background of a string and at energies smaller than m_r (i.e. integrating out

⁷If instead $G\mu^2/f_a^2 \gtrsim 1$ gravity dramatically changes the evolution of the system, and affects the scaling regime in a way that is not known.

the radial mode, see [35] for the explicit derivation). It describes the evolution of an infinitely thin string, with a trajectory identified by the space-time coordinate $X^{\mu}(\tau, \sigma)$, where τ, σ are worldsheet coordinates. The string is coupled to the axion field, described by its (dual) antisymmetric tensor $A_{\mu\nu}$. The corresponding action is

$$S = -\mu \int d\tau d\sigma \sqrt{-\gamma} - \frac{1}{6} \int d^4 x F^{\mu\nu\rho} F_{\mu\nu\rho} - g \int d\tau d\sigma \epsilon^{ab} \partial_a X^{\mu} \partial_b X^{\nu} A_{\mu\nu}(X) , \qquad (3.1)$$

where $F_{\mu\nu\rho} = \partial_{\mu}A_{\nu\rho} + \partial_{\nu}A_{\rho\mu} + \partial_{\rho}A_{\mu\nu}$ and γ is the determinant of the induced metric on the worldsheet $\gamma_{ab} = \partial_a X^{\mu} \partial_b X_{\mu}$, with $a, b = \tau, \sigma$. The coupling g defines the axion-string interaction, while μ is the string energy per unit length (this is easily seen from the first component of the energy momentum tensor, see eq. (3.4)). As we will see in the following, μ accounts for the energy in the axion gradients, as well as that localised in the core. The axion is related to the only degree of freedom of $A_{\mu\nu}$ by $F^{\mu\nu\rho} = \epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}\partial_{\sigma}a/\sqrt{2}$.⁸

Since a changes by multiples of $2\pi f_a$ around a string, the coupling g is quantised in terms of f_a as $g = 2\pi n f_a / \sqrt{2}$, with n integer.⁹ The gauge invariance $A_{\mu\nu} \to A_{\mu\nu} + \partial_{\mu}\Lambda_{\nu} + \partial_{\nu}\Lambda_{\mu}$ and worldsheet reparametrization invariance of eq. (3.1) can be fixed by choosing the gauge $\partial_{\mu}A^{\mu\nu} = 0$ and $\dot{X} \cdot X' = \dot{X}^2 + X'^2 = 0$ where $\dot{X}^{\mu} \equiv \partial_{\tau}X^{\mu}$ and $X'^{\mu} \equiv \partial_{\sigma}X^{\mu}$. In the frame $\tau = t$, the equations of motion for a string with winding n = 1 are

$$\mu(\ddot{X}^{\mu} - X^{\prime\prime\mu}) = 2\sqrt{2}\pi f_a F^{\mu\nu\rho} \dot{X}_{\nu} X^{\prime}_{\rho}, \qquad (3.2)$$

$$\partial_{\alpha}\partial^{\alpha}A^{\mu\nu} = \sqrt{2}\pi f_a \int d\sigma \left(\dot{X}^{\mu}X^{\prime\nu} - \dot{X}^{\nu}X^{\prime\mu}\right)\delta^3(\vec{x} - \vec{X}) \ . \tag{3.3}$$

This system of coupled equations determines the evolution of the string and the axion field. The axion is sourced from a moving string via eq. (3.3), whose motion is itself influenced by the axion via eq. (3.2).

Before proceeding, let us clarify a subtlety of this theory. As discussed in [33, 36] the action in eq. (3.1) is strictly speaking ill defined, since the solution of the equations of motion for $A_{\mu\nu}$ in eq. (3.3) is divergent as x^{μ} approaches X^{μ} . This makes the interaction term in eq. (3.1) (logarithmically) divergent when evaluated on such solutions. This UV divergence can be regularized and completely reabsorbed in the redefinition of the (bare) string tension μ . After reabsorbing the divergence, the equations of motion will have the same form as eqs. (3.2) and (3.3), but (just like in the renormalization of quantum field theories) with finite $\mu(\Delta)$ and $A_{\mu\nu}(\Delta)$ depending on a new (unphysical) length scale Δ , which can be interpreted as the length at which one probes the string core. In particular, under the change of this scale to Δ' , $\mu(\Delta') = \mu(\Delta) + (g^2/2\pi) \log(\Delta'/\Delta) = \mu(\Delta) + \pi f_a^2 \log(\Delta'/\Delta)$.¹⁰ As this scale is not physical, it can be chosen arbitrarily. If Δ is chosen as $m_r^{-1} \ll \Delta \lesssim L$, where L is the IR cutoff ($\simeq H^{-1}$ for long strings), the interpretation of $\mu(\Delta)$ will be that of an effective tension that includes the energy in the axiostatic gradient (up to the IR cutoff Δ), while

 $^{^{8}}$ The normalisation is fixed by equating the energy momentum tensor of the second term in eq. (3.1) to that of a free axion.

⁹This is a consequence of the fact that the commutator $[\partial_i, \partial_j]a$ is non-zero (and quantized) around a string [35] and is easily seen by imposing $2\pi n f_a = \oint_C dx^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} a$ where C is a loop surrounding the string, and evaluating the right hand side of this equation via Gauss' theorem and using the equations of motion $\partial_{\mu} F^{\mu\nu\rho} = -g \int d\tau d\sigma \epsilon^{ab} \partial_a X^{\nu} \partial_b X^{\rho} \delta^4(x-X).$

 $^{^{10}}$ The same running has been studied in a generalisation of the theory we consider in the context of the effective string description of vortices in superfluids [37].

 $A_{\mu\nu}(\Delta)$ will include mostly the axion radiation.¹¹ In the following we will tacitly assume that the preceding regularization and subtraction has been performed, and that Δ has been always chosen in this way, so that $\mu(\Delta)$ (which we will call μ for simplicity) corresponds to the total energy per unit length, including the gradient energy (see [36] for a more complete treatment). From eq. (3.2) it follows that, as anticipated in section 2, the effective coupling of the axion to the string is determined by $f_a^2/\mu \propto 1/\log$.

Notice that the preceding discussion does not hold when the inverse core-size m_r^{-1} is of the order of the IR cutoff *L*. Consequently, this effective theory describes the dynamics of the physical system in the parts of the network where the finite string thickness is smaller than the inverse string curvature, but it will break down when strings intersect and reconnect, or when loops shrink (such processes are sensitive to the details of the structure of the potential of the field ϕ and will therefore need the full theory in eq. (2.1)).

In the presence of gravity a moving string sources gravitational radiation, which can be determined by linearising Einstein's equations giving e.g. in the harmonic gauge $\partial^{\mu}h_{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{2}\partial^{\mu}h$

$$\partial_{\alpha}\partial^{\alpha}h^{\mu\nu} = 16\pi G\left(T_{s}^{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}\eta^{\mu\nu}T_{s\lambda}^{\lambda}\right), \quad T_{s}^{\mu\nu} = \mu \int d\sigma \left(\dot{X}^{\mu}\dot{X}^{\nu} - X^{\prime\mu}X^{\prime\nu}\right)\delta^{3}(\vec{x} - \vec{X}), \quad (3.4)$$

where $g_{\mu\nu} = \eta_{\mu\nu} + h_{\mu\nu}$ is the metric, $h \equiv h^{\mu}_{\mu}$ and $T^{\mu\nu}_{s}$ is the energy momentum tensor of the string from the first term of eq. (3.1). It is straightforward to show that the energies radiated at infinity per unit time in axions and GWs from a string trajectory X^{μ} are respectively

0

$$\frac{dE_a}{dt} = r_a[X] f_a^2, \qquad \frac{dE_g}{dt} = r_g[X] G\mu^2, \qquad (3.5)$$

where $r_a[X]$ and $r_g[X]$ are dimensionless functionals of the shape of the string trajectory (but independent of the string length). In more detail, for any string trajectory X^{μ} that is a solution of eqs. (3.2) and (3.3), the axion and GW fields are determined by eqs. (3.3) and (3.4). These are wave-like equations of the form $\partial_{\alpha}\partial^{\alpha}B = j$, with solution $B = \int d^3y j(t - |\vec{x} - \vec{y}|, \vec{y})/(4\pi |\vec{x} - \vec{y}|)$, and therefore $A_{\mu\nu} \propto f_a$ and $h_{\mu\nu} \propto G\mu$. The emitted energy is $dE/dt \equiv -\int d^3x \dot{T}^{00}$, where for the axion $T_a^{\mu\nu} \sim (\partial A)^2$ and for the GWs $T_g^{\mu\nu} \sim G^{-1}(\partial h)^2$. This fixes the dependence on f_a^2 and $G\mu^2$ of eq. (3.5), while the remaining factors (called r_a and r_q) must be dimensionless functionals of the string trajectory only.

The main conclusion from eq. (3.5) is that GWs are emitted proportionally to the (square of) the string tension, since they are sourced by the energy momentum tensor. Conversely, the axion coupling to the string is fixed by f_a and the axion energy is proportional to f_a^2 only. We stress that eq. (3.5) is valid for any trajectory that is a solution of eqs. (3.2) and (3.3), irrespective of the ratio f_a^2/μ , i.e. regardless of the magnitude of the axion-string coupling. Therefore eq. (3.5) is expected to capture the energy emission from the pieces of the string network for which the string thickness can be neglected at all values of the log, including those accessible in simulations (related previous analysis in the literature has been carried out in the limit of zero coupling [38, 39]).

Since we will not need the functional form of $r_a[X]$ and $r_g[X]$, we give their expressions in appendix A.1, where we also give further details of the derivation of eq. (3.5). From eqs. (A.6) in appendix A.1 it can be seen explicitly that (as expected given that they are dimensionless)

¹¹The fact that changing Δ does not change the equations of motion implies that, as far as the dynamics of the string at small curvature is concerned, it does not matter whether the energy is localised in the string core or in the axion gradient.

 $r_a[X]$ and $r_g[X]$ are invariant under the rescaling of the length of the trajectory and of time, and therefore depend only on the shape of the trajectory. We note that the coefficients $r_a[X]$ and $r_g[X]$ have been calculated in [39] for particular trajectories in the limit of zero coupling.

Finally, we observe that, as mentioned, this effective field theory predicts that the GWs do not significantly influence the motion of the strings provided $G\mu^2/f_a^2 \ll 1$. Indeed, the inclusion of gravitational backreaction modifies eq. (3.2) by introducing, on the right hand side, the term $-\mu\Gamma^{\mu}_{\nu\rho}(\dot{X}^{\nu}X'^{\rho} + \dot{X}^{\rho}X'^{\nu})$, where $\Gamma^{\mu}_{\nu\rho}$ are the Christoffel symbols (this was first studied in [40, 41]). Since $\Gamma^{\mu}_{\nu\rho} \sim \partial h$, and h is of order $G\mu$, this term is suppressed by $G\mu^2/f_a^2$ with respect to the one already present in eq. (3.2). Similarly, the energy emitted in GWs from eq. (3.5) is suppressed with respect to that into axions by the same factor.

3.2 GW spectrum during the scaling regime

We now combine the results of sections 2 and 3.1 to extract information on the emission of GWs during the scaling regime. As outlined, we use an approach that avoids having to calculate the GW emission directly from eq. (3.5), which would require understanding the form of the trajectories X_s^{μ} of long strings and loops during scaling.

Given that eq. (3.5) holds for a generic string trajectory, the energy densities Γ_a and Γ_g emitted per unit time during the scaling regime are related by $rG\mu_{\text{eff}}^2/f_a^2$, where $r \equiv r_g[X_s]/r_a[X_s]$. We can therefore use our knowledge of Γ_a from energy conservation (i.e. eq. (2.5)) to infer the energy density emitted per unit time in GWs during the scaling regime. This reads

$$\Gamma_g = r \frac{G\mu_{\text{eff}}^2}{f_a^2} \Gamma_a \xrightarrow{\log \gg 1} 8\xi r H^3 \frac{G\mu_{\text{eff}}^3}{f_a^2}, \qquad (3.6)$$

where the second relation holds in the large log limit, and in that case $\Gamma_g \simeq 8\pi^3 r G f_a^4 H^3 \xi \log^3$. In eq. (3.6) the dimensionless coefficient r is a functional of the average shape of the string network (and expected to be of order 1). The average shape of the strings is preserved throughout the scaling regime, and therefore we expect r to be time-independent, or at most have a weak log dependence. The coefficient r can be interpreted as a form factor of the string network that encodes how efficiently the string trajectories during scaling emit GWs compared to axions. In particular it parametrises the string dynamics that are responsible for the GW emission (long strings, small loops, string reconnection, etc.).

The validity of eq. (3.6) with a constant r relies solely on energy conservation during the scaling regime and on the Nambu-Goto effective theory. While the latter must break down when strings reconnect and loops shrink, it is possible that most of the axion and GW energy is emitted in the regime where the effective theory is valid. Indeed, we will see in section 3.3 that eq. (3.6) is reproduced remarkably well with a constant r in first principles field theory simulations, which will allow us to also directly extract its value (instead of calculating it from its definition). We will also see that μ_{eff} , which we defined in terms of the string energy, is well matched by the theoretical form eq. (2.3). Given this, we will assume that eq. (3.6) holds in the remainder of our present analysis.¹² In particular, assuming the growth of ξ as in eq. (2.4), this implies that Γ_q is proportional to $H^3 \log^4$ at large log.

Since GWs redshift freely, we can straightforwardly obtain the GW energy density ρ_g at a generic time during the scaling regime from $\dot{\rho}_g + 4H\rho_g = \Gamma_g + \ldots$, where the dots stand for possible additional GW sources, which we subsequently neglect. It immediately follows that

¹²As mentioned in section 2, eq. (3.6) must break down when $\log \sim M_{\rm P}/f_a$. In section 4 we will see that the values of f_a allowed by existing constraints are always small enough for this to be true (for all m_a). With an abuse of language, we will therefore use the phrasing 'large log' to indicate $\log \leq M_{\rm P}/f_a$.

 $\rho_g(t) = \int_{t_1}^t dt'(R(t')/R(t))^4 \Gamma_g(t'),$ where t_1 is the time when the scaling regime starts. The remaining ingredient required to calculate the GW spectrum is the momentum distribution of Γ_g . It is convenient to write Γ_g as a function of the differential emission rate $\partial \Gamma_g/\partial k$ and to further express this in terms of the instantaneous emission spectrum F_g , i.e.

$$\Gamma_g(t) = \int dk \frac{\partial \Gamma_g}{\partial k}[k,t], \qquad \qquad \frac{\partial \Gamma_g}{\partial k}[k,t] = \frac{\Gamma_g(t)}{H(t)} F_g\left[\frac{k}{H}, \frac{m_r}{H}\right]. \tag{3.7}$$

The function $F_g[x, y]$ fully captures the momentum dependence of the instantaneous emission via the variable x = k/H and its possible time dependence via the variable m_r/H , and is normalised to one by definition, $\int dx F_g[x, y] = 1$. Plugging eq. (3.7) into $\rho_g(t)$ we obtain the total GW energy density spectrum, defined by $\rho_g = \int dk \partial \rho_g / \partial k$,

$$\frac{\partial \rho_g}{\partial k} \left[k, t\right] = \int_{t_1}^t dt' \frac{\Gamma'_g}{H'} \left(\frac{R'}{R}\right)^3 F_g\left[\frac{k'}{H'}, \frac{m_r}{H'}\right], \qquad (3.8)$$

where k' = kR/R' is the redshifted momentum and all other the primed quantities are evaluated at t'. Eq. (3.8) is just the superposition of all the spectra emitted from t_1 to t, properly redshifted.

Given the existence of a scaling solution, we have some theoretical expectations for the form of the instantaneous GW spectrum F_g , which closely resembles the analogous axion spectrum studied in [27]. First, since strings typically have a curvature of order Hubble, the spectrum of GWs emitted at each instant should be peaked at momenta of order the Hubble parameter at that time. Meanwhile, production of GWs with momentum below Hubble or above the string core scale is expected to be strongly suppressed. The absence of any scale between H and m_r suggests that between these two (IR and UV) cutoffs the spectrum follows a single power law $F_g \propto 1/x^q$. It is also expected from the Nambu-Goto description that most of the GW energy Γ_g is contained in (IR) momenta of order Hubble, as opposed to (UV) momenta of order m_r (see [36]), which corresponds to q > 1.

We will show in the next section that all of the properties above are verified in numerical simulations of the scaling regime, where we will provide the exact form of F_g . To get a general picture of the resulting total GW spectrum, it is sufficient to approximate the instantaneous emission with sharp IR and UV cutoffs at momenta x_0H and m_r , i.e. $F_g[x, y] \propto 1/x^q$ for $x \in [x_0, y]$, and zero elsewhere. Inserting this F_g into eq. (3.8) we obtain the GW spectrum. At a generic time during the scaling regime with $\log \gg 1$, in the momentum range $k \gtrsim x_0H$ but $k \leq x_0\sqrt{HH_1}$ (where $H_1 = 1/2t_1$ is the Hubble parameter at the start of the scaling regime) this is given by

$$\frac{\partial \rho_g}{\partial \log k} \left[k, t\right] = 8\pi^3 c_1 r G f_a^4 H^2 \log^4 \left[\frac{m_r}{H} \left(\frac{x_0 H}{k}\right)^2\right], \quad \text{for } x_0 H \lesssim k \lesssim x_0 \sqrt{H H_1}, \quad (3.9)$$

where c_1 defined in eq. (2.4) determines the growth rate of ξ , and we omitted terms proportional to additional inverse powers of log, which are negligible in the regime we are considering. The full expression for the spectrum is given in appendix A.2.

We observe that the spectrum is (approximately) scale invariant between the IR and UV momenta x_0H and $x_0\sqrt{HH_1}$, so the total GW energy is spread over a wide range of frequencies. This is because the rate at which energy in previously emitted GWs redshifts and the main decrease in $\Gamma_g \propto H^3$ in a radiation dominated universe combine to give $\partial \rho_g / \partial k \propto 1/k$.

Such a spectrum accumulates only between the two extremes x_0H and $x_0\sqrt{HH_1}$, which correspond to the peaks of the instantaneous emission at H and at H_1 respectively (redshifted until H).

However, as time progresses the GW emission is enhanced due to the (increasing) \log^4 factor in Γ_g . This leads to a violation of the spectrum's scale invariance, which consequently has larger values at smaller k. This is captured by the logarithmic factor in eq. (3.9), which ranges from $\log^4(m_r/H) = \log^4$ at $k \simeq x_0 H$ to $\log^4(m_r/H_1)$ at $k \simeq x_0 \sqrt{HH_1}$. One \log^2 factor is due to the increase in the energy stored in the network (from ξ and μ_{eff}), and the additional \log^2 factor to the efficiency at which this energy can be emitted in GWs, proportional to coupling of the GWs to the string $G\mu^2$. Although a single power of log relies on the extrapolation of the log growth of ξ observed in simulations, the other three powers are inevitable. Since at the end of the scaling regime $\log \simeq 100$, the violation of scale invariance is substantial and — as we discuss in section 3.4 — it could make the low frequencies of an otherwise invisible signal detectable. It is also clear that it is essential to extrapolate to large log to make any sensible physical predictions, and results directly extracted from simulations, which can reach only $\log \leq 8$, are guaranteed to be off by many orders of magnitude.

There are several other features of the GW spectrum from scaling that are worth noting. First, the dependence of the spectrum in eq. (3.9) on x_0 is only logarithmic, and the dependence on q only comes in (neglected) terms proportional to $(q-1)^{-1} \log^{-1}$ (i.e. together with inverse powers of log, see eq. (A.11) in appendix A.2). Thus, as long as q-1 is definitely larger than $1/\log$ the dependence on q is negligible for modes with $k > x_0H$. This means that even an approximate determination of x_0 and q from simulations will be sufficient to understand the spectrum in the momentum region of eq. (3.9). Moreover, a possible dependence of x_0 and q on log — as long as it keeps q > 1 — would not significantly change the spectrum.

Second, if the effective number of degrees of freedom in thermal equilibrium g is not constant, the scale factor away from particle thresholds is $R \propto t^{1/2}g^{-1/12}$ where g is evaluated at the temperature corresponding to the time t. The spectrum in eq. (3.9) at time t gets the (k-dependent) multiplicative correction $(g(t)/g(t_k))^{1/3}$. Here, t_k is defined by $x_0H(t_k) \equiv kR(t)/R(t_k)$, and is the time when most of the GWs that have momentum k at time t are emitted. We refer to appendix A.2 for the explicit derivation. As we will see in more detail in section 3.4, the change in g distorts the log⁴ dependence at the momenta corresponding to the temperature when the degrees of freedom decouple from the thermal bath.

Finally, as explained in appendix A.2, at UV momenta $k \gtrsim x_0\sqrt{HH_1}$ the spectrum $\partial \rho_a/\partial \log k$ is suppressed as $1/k^{q-1}$ and rapidly falls. The critical Hubble $\sqrt{HH_1}$ is model dependent, since it depends on when the scaling regime began (and so when and how the string network forms). Meanwhile, at IR momenta $k \leq x_0H$ the spectrum is also power law suppressed and follows the same behaviour as F_g for $x \leq x_0$. Contrary to the simplified case discussed above, we will see that $F_g[x, y] \propto x^3$ for $x \leq x_0$ and this implies $\partial \rho_g/\partial k \propto k^3$ at $k \leq x_0H$. This last part of the spectrum is produced at the time when domain walls form, so will also get a contribution from domain walls, which is expected to change it by at least an order one amount (we discuss this contribution briefly in appendix D).

We also note that in the large log limit the total energy in GWs emitted from t_1 to t, i.e. $\rho_g = \int_{t_1}^t dt' \Gamma'_g (R'/R)^4$, is $\rho_g = (4/5)H^2 G \mu_{\rm th}^3 \xi \log / f_a^2 \propto H^2 \log^5$. The additional log factor is related to the fact that this energy gets equal contributions from all the times from t_1 to t on a logarithmic scale. It is straightforward to see that the approximately scale invariant spectrum in eq. (3.9) reproduces this formula.

3.3 Comparison with numerical simulations

We now show that results from numerical simulations match the preceding analysis extremely well. This confirms our theoretical assumptions (i.e. that the Nambu-Goto EFT is valid at least for determining the relative emission into axions and GWs, and the general shape of the instantaneous emission spectrum) and allows us to extract the values of the parameters r, x_0 and q.

In the simulations we evolve the complex scalar ϕ by numerically integrating the equations of motion that follow from eq. (2.1) on a discrete lattice. Starting from suitable initial conditions, a network of strings forms and evolves, and is driven to the attractor. Due to the competing requirements that the grid must contain a least a few Hubble patches (to capture the infinite-volume properties of the network), and must have at least a few lattice points per string core (to reproduce the string interactions correctly), such simulations can only access values of log ≤ 8 .¹³ This is the origin of the previously mentioned required extrapolations (in our approach, we need to extrapolate r, x_0 and q, as well as ξ).

As well as the physical system of eq. (2.1), we also simulate the so-called 'fat' string system, which is defined by the same Lagrangian as eq. (2.1) but with $m_r \propto R^{-1}$ decreasing with time. In this way the string core size remains constant in comoving coordinates. In this system the same hierarchy in log corresponds to a larger ratio between final and initial cosmic times, and the string network therefore flows to the attractor faster, leading to cleaner results. Although the qualitative features are expected to be reproduced, the quantitative parameters of the scaling solution could differ from those of the physical string system (which we therefore use to extract the numerical values). For both systems we set the initial conditions as close as possible to the scaling solution, on which ξ grows logarithmically (the evolution of ξ is plotted in figure 6 in appendix C.1, where we give more details). It is straightforward to evaluate the energy in axions and radial modes in simulations, and therefore the emission rates Γ_a and Γ_r .

The GWs produced during the evolution are obtained by numerically solving the linearised Einstein equations

$$\ddot{h}_{ij} + 3H\dot{h}_{ij} - R^{-2}\nabla^2 h_{ij} = 16\pi G T_{\phi,ij}^{\rm TT}, \qquad (3.10)$$

where $T_{\phi,\mu\nu}^{\text{TT}}$ is the transverse-traceless part of the energy momentum tensor of eq. (2.1).¹⁴ At a generic time the energy density in GWs is $\rho_g \equiv T_g^{00}$, where $T_g^{\mu\nu} = (32\pi GR^2)^{-1} \langle \partial^{\mu} h_{\alpha\beta} \partial^{\nu} h^{\alpha\beta} \rangle$ is their energy momentum tensor and the brackets stand for the spatial average. From ρ_g the emission rate of GWs can be calculated using $\Gamma_g = R^{-4} \frac{d}{dt} (R^4 \rho_g)$. Further details concerning our numerical implementation can be found in appendix B. In appendix C.3 we analyse the systematic uncertainties in simulations, e.g. from the finite lattice spacing, and the results we show are with parameter choices such that these are negligible.

The gravitational backreaction (in the weak gravity regime) is represented in the equations of motion of the Lagrangian in eq. (2.1) by the term $R^{-2}h^{ij}\partial_i\partial_j\phi$. By carrying out simulations with this term included, in appendix C.2 we show that — as expected — the (evolving) effective parameter that controls the gravitational backreaction during the scaling

¹³In more detail, the maximum log is limited to $\sim \log N$, where N is the number of gridpoints in the box side. In this paper we used grids of size to $N^3 \sim 2500^3$ (as opposed to 4500^3 in previous work) given the additional computational cost in the evolution of the GWs. The resulting maximum log ~ 7.5 is still sufficient for the properties and trends in the attractor solution to be reliably identified.

¹⁴Here h is in the transverse-traceless gauge, which is convenient in the FRW background.

regime is $G\mu_{\text{eff}}^2/f_a^2$. This is shown in figure 14 of appendix C.2, where the deviations in ξ and ρ_a due to the backreaction depend only on $G\mu_{\text{eff}}^2/f_a^2$ for different choices of f_a/M_{P} . In particular, provided $G\mu_{\text{eff}}^2/f_a^2 \lesssim 0.5$, corresponding to $\log \lesssim M_{\text{P}}/f_a$: (1) gravity is self-consistently in the weak regime and (2) it does not alter the dynamics of the string network.¹⁵ The decay constants (and logs) of interest, studied in section 3.4, are all safely within this limit, so we do not include backreaction in the remainder of our simulations.

We now turn to our main results from simulations. We first observe that the total energy emitted per unit time from the network $(\Gamma_a + \Gamma_r)$ in simulations matches the theoretical formula for Γ in eq. (2.5) with the theoretically expected form of the tension $\mu_{\rm th}$ given by eq. (2.3). In more detail, although eq. (2.3) determines uniquely $\mu_{\rm th}$ at large log, at the small log relevant in the simulations $\mu_{\rm th}$ (and consequently Γ) is sensitive to the (only) free parameter η . We extract the value of η by requiring $\Gamma = \Gamma_a + \Gamma_r$ (with $(\Gamma_a + \Gamma_r)$) measured in simulations) in the range $\log > 4.5$. For the fat string system, this determines $\eta_{\rm fat} \simeq 0.27$ quite precisely, while for the physical system $\eta_{\rm phys} \simeq 0.20$ with a larger (about 50%) uncertainty. The fact that the ratio $(\Gamma_a + \Gamma_r)/\Gamma$ is close to unity at all times for such time-independent choice of η (this is shown in figure 7 of appendix C.1) is a non-trivial check that eq. (2.5) captures the emission rate at the logs accessible in simulations.¹⁶ This also (indirectly) shows that μ_{eff} is well reproduced by the theoretical expectation μ_{th} of eq. (2.3) and is growing logarithmically as expected, so we can use the latter expression in the analysis that follows. Although this check can be performed only at the small logs available in simulations, given the theoretical discussion of section 2, eqs. (2.3) and (2.5) will hold also at large $\log^{.17}$

Having confirmed the validity of Γ and $\mu_{\rm th}$, we are ready to study the GW emission Γ_g and extract the coefficient r. As discussed, we do so using r's relation to Γ_g and Γ_a of eq. (3.6), i.e. $r = f_a^2 \Gamma_g / (\Gamma_a G \mu_{\rm eff}^2)$. This leads to a small ambiguity in determination of r at small log, because the small (and decreasing) proportion of energy emitted into radial modes is by construction not captured by the Nambu-Goto description, and could be included along with Γ_a in eq. (3.6). Since the radial modes take a proportion of the energy that would otherwise go into axions, it is natural to expect that the inclusion of Γ_r leads to the quantity conserved during scaling. In the following we therefore consider $r_{\rm sim} \equiv f_a^2 \Gamma_g / (\Gamma G \mu_{\rm th}^2)$, where Γ and $\mu_{\rm th}$ are calculated from eqs. (2.3) and (2.5) with the same constant value of η mentioned before (indeed Γ reproduces $\Gamma_a + \Gamma_r$ measured in simulations), while Γ_g is evaluate in the simulations. Note that using the theoretical Γ in the extraction of r instead of the result of $\Gamma_a + \Gamma_r$ from simulations reduces possible systematic uncertainties related to fluctuations of the last two quantities, which especially at small logs are affected by parametric resonance effects between axion and radial modes especially for the physical system.¹⁸

In figure 1 we plot the time evolution of $r_{\rm sim}$ for the fat and the physical systems. The uncertainties on the data points represent the statistical error over a set of 30 simulations with initial conditions with the same initial string density ξ . In both cases $r_{\rm sim}$ is of order one and its time-independence is manifest over more than three *e*-foldings. This corresponds

¹⁵This is expected, since the backreaction term is negligible with respect to the gradient term $-R^{-2}\nabla^2\phi$ for such f_a , as $h \sim G f_a^2$ from the linearised Einstein equations.

¹⁶In fact, the expression for Γ in eq. (2.5) applies only to long nonrelativistic strings, which make up at any time a constant 80% fraction of the string network [23]. As explained in appendix C.1, the ratio $(\Gamma_a + \Gamma_r)/\Gamma$ reproduces this percentage remarkably well.

¹⁷As also explained in appendix C.1, eq. (2.3) strictly speaking holds for nonrelativistic strings (since there is no boost factor), but any corrections from this are absorbed in the definition of r.

¹⁸On the other hand Γ_g fluctuates far less since the coupling of the GWs to the radial modes is much weaker.



Figure 1. The evolution of energy density Γ_g emitted in GWs per unit time during the scaling regime normalised to $\Gamma G \mu_{\rm th}^2 / f_a^2$, where Γ is the total energy emission rate and $\mu_{\rm th}$ is the theoretical expectation for the string tension, for the fat string system (left) and the physical system (right). Error bars on the data points represent the statistical error over a set of 30 simulations. The constant value of this ratio is in agreement with the theoretical expectation of section 3.1, and indicates that the relative emission to GWs grows as $\Gamma_g/\Gamma_a \propto \log^2(m_r/H)$ at large log. The red bands indicate the uncertainty we assign to the value of the ratio extracted from the data.

to a verification of eq. (3.6) and provides a remarkably consistent picture of the dynamics of the string system. First, it confirms the validity of the effective Nambu-Goto description at least for the emission of GWs, which therefore also allows analytic control of Γ_g beyond the range that can be simulated. The constant form of r_{sim} even holds well from $\log = 4$ when there is only a mild hierarchy between the string core scale and the Hubble parameter. In fact it is not unreasonable that r is constant even at such early times, since the theoretical expectation in eq. (3.6) does not rely on the string system being in the pure Nambu-Goto limit (namely it should hold even at small log when the strings are strongly coupled to the axion). Moreover, as anticipated in section 3.2, the constant value of $r_{\rm sim}$ is strong evidence that the string configuration is self-similar. This in turn confirms that the scaling regime has been achieved in the simulation and that the logarithmic increase in ξ is a part of it.¹⁹ Although we cannot exclude a qualitative change in the evolution of $r_{\rm sim}$ after log = 7.5, both theory and simulations suggest that such a change is unlikely. The extrapolation of r after $\log = 7.5$ therefore seems robust despite the difference in log between the simulations and the physically relevant system. On the other hand, simulations can never exclude the possibility that there is a small logarithmic running of r but only bound its value, and we comment on this when discussing the uncertainties on our predictions of GW spectra in section 3.4.

In figure 1 we also show the fit of this observable with a constant function. For the physical system we start the fit at $\log > 4.5$, since the first few data points at small log seem to deviate slightly, as the system has not yet fully reached the scaling regime at such early times (see also the not completely linear behaviour of ξ at those log in figure 6).²⁰

We now estimate the uncertainty on $r = f_a^2 \Gamma_g / (\Gamma_a G \mu_{\text{eff}}^2)$ for physical string network. A first source of uncertainty comes from the precise value of the string tension μ_{eff} at small log (for which, as mentioned, the value of η is relevant), which feeds into the value of rextracted from Γ_g measured in simulations. As mentioned, μ_{eff} is well reproduced by μ_{th} for $\eta_{\text{phys}} \simeq 0.20$. However, given the large fluctuations of $\Gamma_a + \Gamma_r$ in the physical system, values of

¹⁹If the logarithmic increase were a transient, we would expect the configuration not to be self-similar. This is also consistent with the observation that the fraction of ξ in strings of different lengths remains constant [23].

 $^{^{20}}$ The small disagreement of the last two data points of the fat system is due to a statistical fluctuation.



Figure 2. The evolution of the total energy density in GWs ρ_g (black points, with statistical errors smaller than the plotted data points), and the theoretical prediction for this quantity with the range of r extracted from figure 1 (red bands). The data are in full agreement with the predictions. We also plot $\rho_g \propto H^2 \log^5$, which is valid at $\log \gg 1$, and which the prediction and data asymptote to.

 $\eta_{\rm phys} = 0.1 \div 0.3$ still reproduce $\Gamma = \Gamma_a + \Gamma_r$ acceptably well (this range is obtained by varying η such that $(\Gamma_a + \Gamma_r)/\Gamma$ remains approximately constant, see figure 8 and appendix C.1). This translates into an uncertainty on $r_{\rm sim}$ in the range $0.17 \div 0.34$ (estimated by evaluating $r_{\rm sim}$ at the final time for $\eta_{\rm phys}$ in the range $0.1 \div 0.3$, see appendix C.1 and figure 9 for more details). Moreover, the previously mentioned ambiguity in using Γ or Γ_a introduces a theoretical uncertainty in the value of r (although $r_{\rm sim}$ seems to be the conserved quantity). We can conservatively quantify the associated error as about 10%, corresponding to the contribution that Γ_r provides provide to Γ at the largest simulated log of figure 1. The actual statistical uncertainty on data of Γ_g is negligible with respect to the mentioned ones. As a result, we obtain a value for r with a conservative error estimate of

$$r = 0.26(11). \tag{3.11}$$

Since r is of order one, as expected for $f_a \ll M_{\rm P}$ only a small fraction of energy is emitted in GWs. Moreover, as well as qualitative agreement, in appendix C.2 we show that our value of r is quantitatively consistent with the decrease in axion energy, for a fixed $f_a/M_{\rm P}$, when backreaction is included.

In figure 2 we also show the evolution of the total GW energy density ρ_g measured in the simulations (black points). In the same plot we show the theoretical prediction for this quantity, i.e. $\rho_g = \int_{t_1}^t dt' \Gamma'_g (R'/R)^4$, with $\Gamma_g = rG\mu_{\rm th}^2 \Gamma/f_a^2$ where the constant r (together with its error) is extracted from figure 1 and Γ is as in eq. (2.5) and is evaluated as before (in doing the integration we take t_1 such that $\log(m_r/H_1) = 3.5$). As expected given figure 1, the agreement between the prediction and the data is excellent. We also note that the data approach the expected large log behaviour $\rho_g \propto H^2 \log^5$, discussed in section 3.2.

The remaining input required to calculate the GW spectrum is the momentum distribution of the instantaneous GW emission F_g . It is straightforward to extract this from simulations, and results for $F_g[x, y]$ are plotted for the physical system in figure 3 (left) at different times, i.e. different $y = m_r/H$ (labelled by $\log(m_r/H)$). As expected, the distribution has an IR cutoff corresponding to $x_0 \sim 2\pi$ and a UV cutoff at around the string core scale, corresponding to $x \sim m_r/(2H)$, which are the same as for the axion spectrum.²¹ The

²¹The value $k/H \simeq 2\pi$ is also motivated since for such momentum the wavelength equals the Hubble distance.



Figure 3. Left: the momentum distribution $F_g[x, y]$ of the GWs emitted instantaneously from the string network, as a function of their physical momentum normalised to Hubble, x = k/H. Different lines indicate different times i.e. changing $y = m_r/H$, which are labelled by $\log(m_r/H)$. At all times the distribution is dominated by (IR) momenta of order Hubble, and decays as x^{-2} at higher momenta. Right: the evolution of total spectrum of GWs produced by the network, plotted at different times. We factor out the expected time dependence of the amplitude $\propto H^2 \log^4$.

spectrum has a somewhat broad peak around the IR cutoff, from $x \simeq 5$ to 20. Above this, an intermediate power law is visible and compatible with q = 2, which implies an IR dominated emission. Thus, the numerical results fully confirm (at least at small log) our assumptions of section 3.2.

The parameters x_0 and q appear to be time-independent in the range of log accessible to simulations. This can be seen from the fact that the F_g overlap for all y (we carry out a more detailed analysis in appendix C). It is interesting to note that, although the IR and UV cutoffs of F_g are similar to those of the corresponding axion instantaneous emission spectrum F_a , the spectral indices of the two, q and q_a respectively, are dramatically different. For the axion q_a increases with log (from $q_a = 0.75$ to 0.95 between log = 6 and 8 indicating a UV dominated spectrum that is gradually becoming IR dominated).²² We also note that an emission with q = 2 is characteristic of kink-kink collisions [42], as opposed to cusps and kinks which instead provide q = 4/3 and q = 5/3 respectively. Although this could be an indication that kink-kink collisions are the dominant source of the emission, our results do not rely on the modelling of the particular process sourcing the GWs, as the evolution of the field equations captures the full dynamics of the system.

Despite these results, we cannot exclude a slow logarithmic running of x_0 and q. However, as discussed in section 3.2, a slow increase in q would have little effect on the integrated GW spectrum (and a decrease in q until q < 1 would be extremely surprising). Likewise, a slow change in x_0 would only have a very minor effect, so we do not analyse this possibility in detail. Consequently, we can safely assume that the form of F_q is preserved also at large log.

In figure 3 (right) we also show the total GW spectrum $\partial \rho_g / \partial \log k$ at different times as a function of the physical momentum normalised to Hubble. The general features derived in section 3.2 are reproduced. However, due to the small final log, the approximately scale invariant region $x_0H \leq k \leq x_0\sqrt{HH_1}$ of eq. (3.9) corresponds only to a

²²This could be due to the fact that the coupling of the radial modes to axions is much larger than the coupling of radial modes to GWs. Therefore the radial modes which are partly emitted by the strings at small log could produce energetic axions [27], contributing to the UV part of the axion spectrum (but not to the GW one). The emission of radial modes diminishes logarithmically, and the spectrum therefore decreases in the UV.

small portion of the spectrum. Indeed, the first nontrivial emission in the scaling regime happens around $\log (m_r/H_1) \sim 4$ and therefore eq. (3.9) holds in the restricted range $x_0 \leq k/H \leq x_0 \sqrt{HH_1}/H \sim 40 \div 50$ at the final time $\log = 7.4$.²³ Nevertheless, the key result from eq. (3.9) that at fixed $k/H \sim x_0$ the spectrum (once the leading H^2 is factored out) grows proportionally to $\log^4(m_r/H)$ is matched well in figure 3 (right), which is of course consistent with the extrapolation to large log being essential (a version of the plot without the \log^4 factored out is given in figure 12 of appendix C).²⁴ Finally we observe that $\partial \rho_g/\partial k \propto k^3$ for $k \leq x_0 H$ (this is the same behaviour as F_g at small x), while $\partial \rho_g/\partial k \propto k^{q-1}$ at momenta higher than $x_0\sqrt{HH_1}$. In appendix B we show the results for F_g and the total spectrum for the fat string system, which are qualitatively, and even quantitatively, similar to those of the physical system.

3.4 The GW spectrum today

The present day remnant of the GW spectrum from the scaling regime can be straightforwardly computed by combining the theoretical discussion of section 3.2 and the results of section 3.3. For the sake of definiteness for now we assume a temperature-independent axion mass, and we discuss the temperature-dependent case later.

As mentioned, the scaling regime ends (approximately) when $H = m_a$, at which time the network is destroyed and GWs stop being produced at the rate in eq. (3.6). The GW spectrum at $H = m_a$ follows from eq. (3.8). From $H = m_a$ on the GWs redshift freely until today, and their contribution to the present day total energy density of the Universe is $\Omega_{\rm gw} \equiv \rho_q / \rho_c$, where ρ_c is the critical density.

In figure 4 we plot the GW spectrum $d\Omega_{\rm gw}/d\log f$ (from a numerical integration of eq. (3.8)), where f is the frequency. We use the value of r from eq. (3.11) to evaluate Γ_g in eq. (3.6), and a functional form of F_g that fits figure 3 (left) (see appendix A.2 for more details). Results are shown for different choices of axion decay constant and mass that are not excluded by other cosmological constraints (derived in section 4). For an axion that produces GWs in the detectable frequency range, these constraints require $f_a \leq 10^{15} \,\text{GeV}$ and $10^{-28} \,\text{eV} \leq m_a \leq 10^{-17} \,\text{eV}$ (and as a result the network is destroyed before matter-radiation equality).²⁵ We also show $f_a = 3 \times 10^{15} \,\text{GeV}$, which is likely to be in tension with dark radiation bounds, see section 4.2.

In this plot we assume that the Hubble parameter H_1 when the scaling regime starts is sufficiently large that the GW spectrum is in the approximately scale invariant region for the entire range of frequencies shown. Later in this section we show that this assumption is highly plausible. We also assume a standard cosmological history with radiation domination up to high temperatures and only the particle content of the SM plus the axion, and that $m_r = f_a$. We describe the errors that we include on the GW spectra and other sources of uncertainty in detail at the end of this section.

A useful (and for most purposes accurate) analytic approximation for Ω_{gw} in the log $\gg 1$ limit is derived from eq. (3.9) in appendix C.1 (see eq. (A.13)) and reads

$$\frac{d\Omega_{\rm gw}h^2}{d\log f} \simeq 0.80 \times 10^{-15} \left(\frac{c_1}{0.24}\right) \left(\frac{r}{0.26}\right) \left(\frac{f_a}{10^{14} {\rm GeV}}\right)^4 \left(\frac{10}{g_f}\right)^{\frac{1}{3}} \left\{1 + 0.12 \log\left[\left(\frac{m_r}{10^{14} {\rm GeV}}\right) \left(\frac{10^{-8} {\rm Hz}}{f}\right)^2\right]\right\}^4, \tag{3.12}$$

 $^{^{23}}H_1$ corresponds to when the UV and IR cutoffs of the spectrum x_0H and $m_r/2$ coincide.

²⁴At small log, $\partial \rho_a / \partial \log k$ actually grows faster than log⁴ due to the subleading log corrections of Γ_g in eq. (3.6), and indeed at $k/H \sim x_0$ the spectrum in figure 3 (right) shows a slight increase.

²⁵This confirms that the condition for gravitational backreaction to be negligible $G\mu_{\text{eff}}/f_a^2 \ll 1$ is satisfied.



Figure 4. The contribution to the energy density of the Universe today from the GWs emitted by axion strings during the scaling regime, as a function of their present day frequency f. Different lines correspond to different values of the axion decay constant f_a and mass m_a . We plot values of m_a that are compatible with current constraints on the post-inflationary scenario. Values of $f_a \leq 10^{15}$ GeV are possible, while larger values are in tension with isocurvature and dark radiation bounds. GWs with higher frequencies are produced at earlier times, and we indicate the temperature of the Universe when GWs of a particular frequency are dominantly produced, T_f , as well as the corresponding value of the log at this time $\log(m_r/H_f)$. All the GWs are emitted in radiation domination and the network decays before matter-radiation equality.

where g_f is the effective number of degrees of freedom in thermal equilibrium at the temperature T_f , when most of the GWs with today's frequency f are emitted.²⁶ Eq. (3.12) holds in the frequency range $3 \times 10^{-12} (m_a/10^{-20} \text{eV})^{1/2} \lesssim f/\text{Hz} \lesssim 10^3 (H_1/\text{GeV})^{1/2}$. This corresponds to the extremes in eq. (3.9) evaluated at $H = m_a$, redshifted to today. As stressed in section 3.2, at lower and higher frequencies than these IR and UV cutoffs, $d\Omega_{gw}/d\log k$ is suppressed as f^3 and f^{q-1} respectively.²⁷

Several comments are in order. First, we observe that f_a controls the overall amplitude of the spectrum, since it ultimately determines both the energy density of the string network and also the efficiency at which this is emitted into GWs. Conversely, m_a only affects the position of the IR-cutoff $\propto m_a^{1/2}$ of the approximately scale-invariant part of Ω_{gw} (which is m_a independent). This is not surprising given that m_a is unimportant during scaling, and its only role is in determining when the network is destroyed. The resulting IR cutoff is visible in figure 4.

The log⁴ dependence of the frequency is evident in figure 4 and eq. (3.12). In figure 4, we indicated the value of the log when most of the GWs with frequency f are emitted, $\log_f \equiv \log(m_r/H_f)$. Since this varies by more than a factor of 2 over the frequencies of observational interest (in the range $\log_f = 30 \div 90$), there is a substantial effect on the spectral shape as well as the amplitude. We also note that the GWs in most of the observable range

²⁶More precisely, this temperature is defined by $x_0 H(T_f) \equiv f R(T_0) / R(T_f)$.

²⁷The dependence on f^3 of the super-horizon modes is fixed by causality after such modes starts oscillating [43].

are emitted when $\xi = 10 \div 20$ from eq. (2.4). As expected, the spectral shape is also modified by the changes in number of relativistic degrees of freedom in the Universe. In particular, this has an effect at frequencies that are dominantly emitted at temperatures T_f (shown on the upper axis) at which such changes occur (the largest effect is around $T \simeq 100 \text{ MeV}$ when a large number of the degrees of freedom decouple). As a result the spectrum at higher frequencies is suppressed by more that the log⁴ factor, since these are emitted at earlier times when g_f is larger leading to increased expansion of the Universe. However, such effects are fairly weak, as Ω_{gw} depends only on $g_f^{1/3}$.

In figure 4 we also show the projected sensitivity curves for ongoing and proposed GW searches (EPTA [44], PPT [45], SKA [17], LISA [18], DECIGO/BBO [46], AEDGE [22], AION [47], LIGO [19], and ET [20, 21]), as well as an extremely tentative possible signal by NANOgrav [48], which we comment on in the Conclusions. In particular, we plot the power-law-integrated sensitivity curves [49–51] as derived in [52]. Partly due to the enhancement of the signal at low frequencies, the near future detection prospects are best at Pulsar-Timing Arrays such as SKA, which scan the lowest frequencies and could be sensitive to all $f_a \gtrsim 10^{14}$ GeV. Detection is also possible at space-based interferometers: although LISA could be sensitive only to $f_a \gtrsim 5 \times 10^{14}$ GeV, its proposed successors could explore lower values of f_a . The wide range of axion masses and decay constants that lead to a measurable GW signal motivates the effort to develop such experiments.

As mentioned, complementary constraints require $m_a \leq 10^{-17} \,\mathrm{eV}$, and therefore in case of a detection the actual value of m_a will not be inferred. This is because, for this mass range, all the detectable frequencies are emitted deep inside the scaling regime, so the IR cutoff of $\Omega_{\rm gw}$ is unobservable. Additionally, any temperature-dependence of the mass — as long as is monotonically decreasing — does not affect the detectable GWs, as it can only modify lower frequencies, emitted when the mass is relevant. We note that if the string network is destroyed before $T \simeq 10^6 \,\mathrm{GeV}$ (e.g. for a heavy axion mass, $m_a \gtrsim \mathrm{MeV}$, which is still allowed by the observational constraints in section 4), the IR cutoff frequency is so large that the spectrum does not extend down to observable frequencies.

Although neglected in this discussion, after $H = m_a$ additional GWs will be emitted by domain walls, which will supplement those from the scaling regime. As discussed in appendix D, one calculable contribution to these GWs has frequencies (and amplitude) of the same order as that from the last *e*-folding of the scaling regime. Therefore, although it will modify the shape of the IR-cutoff of the GW spectrum from the scaling regime, this contribution at least will not be observationally relevant.

Uncertainties on the spectrum. Given its experimental importance, an understanding of the possible sources of uncertainty on the GW prediction is crucial. The error bands on the GW spectra plotted in figure 4 are obtained by combining the uncertainties on the coefficient of the growth of ξ (i.e. c_1 of eq. (2.4)), on r, and by varying x_0 in the range $5 \div 10$ (which only has a visible effect on the location of the IR cutoff). We do not think it would be fair to associate a sharp numerical uncertainty to the extrapolations necessary to reconstruct the scaling regime at large log. Instead, we now summarise the assumptions needed to obtain eq. (3.12) and figure 4, and the corresponding possible uncertainties. In all cases we have made the most conservative extrapolations possible, and taken together a deviation of more than a factor of $2 \div 4$ from our predictions would be surprising.

• We assumed that ξ continues to grow logarithmically as in eq. (2.4) during the scaling regime beyond the range of simulations. While such an increase has not yet found a

mathematical proof, it has been numerically demonstrated in simulations at $\log \leq 8$, providing the best fit of the data (which disfavours any function that saturates soon after $\log = 8$, as observed in [23, 27] and evident in figure 6 of appendix C).²⁸ Such a growth is theoretically plausible given the logarithmic sensitivity of the system to m_r/H , and given the excellent fit over the range of logs that can be simulated it is the most conservative assumption for the late time behaviour of ξ . The resulting string densities at the times relevant to the emission of observable GWs are $\xi = 10 \div 20$. This is a factor of 10 larger than is reached in simulations, correspondingly increasing the energy emitted into GWs, on top of the (much larger) enhancement from μ_{eff} .

Nevertheless, we cannot exclude the possibility that ξ saturates (or its growth accelerates) at log far beyond the reach of simulations. In these cases, the emission would be damped (or increased) proportionally to the value of ξ . In particular, a different value of ξ would modify the amplitude in figure 4 at the frequency f by the factor $\sim \xi/(c_1 \log_f)$. Therefore, as long as ξ does not saturate at a value smaller than 5 (which seems highly unlikely given that such values are obtained in simulations that partly reproduce the dynamics of the system at large log by boosting the string tension [60]), in the case of a saturation the amplitude of $\Omega_{\rm gw}$ would only decrease by a factor of two at LISA frequencies and a factor of four at SKA frequencies. Consequently the uncertainty on ξ does not qualitative change the prospects of detection, strengthening the robustness of our results (e.g. $f_a \gtrsim 10^{14}$ GeV remains just about detectable by SKA).

- We assumed that the energy emission rate into GWs continues to follow the prediction in eq. (3.6) based on the Nambu-Goto strings effective theory, with r constant, throughout the scaling regime. Numerical simulations confirmed this result for $\log \leq 7.5$ with fixed r = 0.26(11), as in eq. (3.11). As mentioned, we cannot exclude a small logarithmic dependence in r (for instance, due to a change in the average shape of the string trajectories). However such a running is bounded by figure 1 and (if present) would most likely give Γ_g a log dependence that is subleading to that from ξ . This possibility therefore only makes a small contribution to the overall uncertainty on Ω_{gw} .
- We assumed that the form of the instantaneous emission spectrum of GWs F_g of figure 3 is preserved during the whole scaling regime, also after $\log \simeq 7.5$. This assumption is motivated by the existence of the scaling regime (and F_g is seen to be preserved during the whole simulation range). As noted in section 3.2, as long as the IR cutoff x_0 does not change exponentially and q does not decreased below 1 (both of which are unlikely), the uncertainties on Ω_{gw} from these quantities are negligible.

As well as those from our reconstruction of the scaling regime, there are also uncertainties on Ω_{gw} due to unknown features of the early Universe.

• In obtaining figure 4 we have taken the Hubble parameter H_1 when the scaling regime starts sufficiently large that the GWs in the observable frequency range are in the approximately scale invariant part of the spectrum. This is actually a mild assumption

²⁸This behaviour has been confirmed independently [25, 53–55]. An enhanced value of ξ is also suggested by Nambu-Goto string simulations [56–58], and in a system where the tension of the strings is increased via additional degrees of freedom, [59, 60]. Meanwhile [61] claims that simulation results indicate ξ approaches a constant value ~ 1, however their results are fully consistent with a logarithmic increase and are not well fit by the saturating function the authors propose (in particular, the function suggested by the authors fits for less than a single *e*-folding, an interval over which practically any function can be fit).

requiring just that $H_1 \gtrsim \text{keV}$ (corresponding to a temperature of the order of 100 TeV), so the UV cutoff of the spectrum is at frequencies $f \gtrsim \text{Hz}$. Values of H_1 much larger than this are expected in all of the models that lead to symmetry restoration at the relevant f_a , which we discuss in section 5. It is also expected that there is sufficient time for the string network to reach the attractor prior to the Universe dropping to the temperature 10^7 GeV when the first GWs in the observable frequency range are emitted. Moreover, friction on the string due to interactions with the thermal bath, which is relevant at high temperatures if the axion couples to standard model particles (but we do not include in our analysis of the scaling regime), will be negligible by this point for axion decay constants that lead to observable signals. In particular, the friction is expected to be irrelevant for temperatures $\leq 10^{11} \text{ GeV} (f_a/10^{14} \text{ GeV})^2$ [62], which is safely far above those corresponding to observable frequencies (further analysis would be required to determine the temperature at which friction becomes irrelevant precisely, see also [63–66]).

In contrast, the UV part of the spectrum $f \gtrsim (H_1/\text{keV})^{1/2}$ Hz depends on how (and when) the network formed and reached the scaling regime, and possibly gets additional contributions e.g. from the U(1) phase transition. However, in practice this is not detectable in any motivated model.

- In our derivation we also assumed that the Universe is in radiation domination up to high temperatures (say, 10^8 GeV, as show in figure 4). Different cosmological scenarios, e.g. matter domination or kination, would drastically modify the spectrum's shape. Indeed, it is easy to show from eq. (3.8) that, if $R \propto t^{\alpha}$, $\partial \rho_g / \partial \log k$ is proportional to a negative (positive) power of k depending on $\alpha > 1/2$ ($\alpha < 1/2$) [67–70]. An accurate determination of the spectrum in such scenarios would require recalculating ξ and r from simulations with such α .
- Finally, we assumed only SM degrees of freedom. If additional degrees of freedom are present the prediction will be modified as in eq. (3.12). Indeed, as pointed out in [71], a precise measurement of the spectrum could in principle provide information about g at high temperatures (it is plausible that a significant number of beyond SM degrees of freedom could enter at energies \gtrsim TeV, and the possibility this could be detected by analysing the GW spectrum from strings has been considered in [69]). However, given the uncertainties discussed above and the weak dependence of Ω_{gw} on g_f , extracting the number of degrees of freedom would appear to be very challenging.²⁹

4 Constraints on the axion mass and decay constant

Having shown that post-inflationary axions lead to GWs with amplitude and frequency that could be accessible to proposed experiments, we now analyse some other phenomenological features of this scenario. These provide direct and indirect constraints on f_a and m_a , completing our understanding of the axions that could be discovered via GWs, and also giving complementary observational signatures.

²⁹Strictly speaking, our results for ξ and r have been obtained from numerical simulations with $R \propto t^{1/2}$, that do not account for the change in the number of degrees of freedom. We expect however a very minimal change in such observables when one takes into account the time-dependence on R from g.



Figure 5. Constraints on axion mass and decay constant in the post-inflationary scenario, with a temperature independent axion mass. Limits from dark matter overproduction and dark radiation are shown in red and blue respectively. The bound from isocurvature perturbations is conservative but is still particularly uncertain (see the main text for details). Direct CMB observations rule out extremely light axions with large f_a (in purple), since strings persist at the time of decoupling causing anisotropies. We also identify the parts of parameter space in which axion strings produce a GW spectrum that is detectable by SKA and LISA, and the fraction of DM that axions from the scaling regime comprise.

In the following we will consider a single axion with a temperature-independent mass m_a .³⁰ Axions with $f_a \gtrsim 10^{14}$ and $m_a \lesssim$ MeV are cosmologically stable regardless of the details of their couplings to the SM [72]. In section 4.1 we will see that, given this stability, only ultralight axions are not ruled out by dark matter overproduction for the relevant values of f_a , so we focus on this mass range (as described in appendix G, axions with $m_a \gtrsim \text{MeV}$ can decay, but, as mentioned, for such values the scaling regime ends before observable GWs are produced). In appendix G we show that only the ultra-light mass range is allowed for large f_a also in the case of a temperature-dependent axion mass.

In figure 5 we summarise the constraints, which we detail in the remainder of this section. Given their stability, axions form a component of dark matter (potentially overproducing the observed abundance) and those that are relativistic at the time of BBN or decoupling act as dark radiation. The resulting limits are shown in red and blue respectively. DM axions from strings and domain walls have isocurvature perturbations, which are constrained by CMB and Lyman- α observations. As explained in section 4.3, it is challenging to determine the resulting limits precisely, however we will derive reasonable conservative bounds (which should still be treated with caution), shown in purple. We also show bounds on the fraction of dark matter that can be ultralight from Lyman- α observations (L α). Finally, if m_a is small enough, axion strings persist at the epoch of CMB decoupling, and are constrained by CMB observations. In appendix E we summarise other constraints that are less strong than those shown, e.g. from black hole superradiance.

Even though these limits are fairly restrictive and become stronger for larger f_a (exactly when the GWs become detectable), there is about one order of magnitude of allowed values of

 $^{^{30}}$ Although we remain agnostic on how the mass is generated, we observe that this mass could arise from explicit breaking of the axion's shift symmetry in the ultra-violet (UV) theory.

 f_a and many orders of magnitude of m_a that provide observable GW signals from strings. We note that these constraints do not depend on the possible axion couplings to the SM (which we did not specify). Moreover, although we considered a model with a single axion, the bounds are not expected to significantly change if additional light fields are included and coupled to the axion, so our conclusions apply to generic axion models in the post-inflationary scenario.³¹

4.1 Dark matter

As discussed in section 2, during the scaling regime energy is continuously radiated into axions at the rate Γ_a . Such axions are relativistic during the scaling regime (since $m_a \ll H$), and the majority of them become nonrelativistic soon after the axion potential V becomes relevant, when $H \simeq m_a$. Since these axions are stable they form a component of dark matter.

The number density of axions during the scaling regime can be obtained following a similar approach as for GWs in section 3.2. As mentioned, the momentum distribution of Γ_a has the same form as that of Γ_g in figure 3. However, the spectral index q_a for the axion emission changes in time and, although $q_a < 1$ for $\log \leq 8$, its extrapolation indicates that $q_a > 1$ at $\log \geq 9$, which we will assume in the following (see [23, 27] for more details). Once $q_a > 1$, the axion number density during the scaling regime $n_a^{\text{st}} \equiv \int dk/\omega_k \partial \rho_a/\partial k$ is approximately $8H\xi\mu_{\text{eff}}/x_{0,a}$ (here $\omega_k^2 \equiv k^2 + m_a^2$; $\partial \rho_a/\partial k$ is the axion energy density spectrum, defined in the same way as the GW one in eq. (3.8); and $x_{0,a}$ is the IR cutoff of the instantaneous axion emission spectrum). Consequently, the number density $n_{a,\star}^{\text{st}}$ at $H = H_{\star}$ is enhanced by a factor of $\xi_{\star} \log_{\star} \gg 1$ with respect to that in the pre-inflationary scenario, which is of order $\theta_0^2 H_{\star} f_a^2$ at this time [15] (the subscript ' \star ' refers to quantities evaluated at $H = H_{\star} \equiv m_a$).

We can obtain a conservative lower bound on the final axion abundance by considering only the axion waves emitted during the scaling regime up to H_{\star} (i.e. $n_{a,\star}^{\text{st}}$ only), which can be reliably determined (following the logic applied to QCD axion strings in [27]). Additional axions will be produced during the destruction of the string network, however a reliable calculation of this component appears challenging as the system of strings and domain walls cannot be simulated at the physical value of m_a/m_r .³²

As shown in [27], the waves emitted during the scaling regime redshift relativistically for some time even after H_{\star} , since their kinetic energy a factor of $\xi_{\star} \log_{\star} \gg 1$ larger than their potential energy (bounded by $V \leq m_a^2 f_a^2$), which is therefore negligible.³³ The relativistic redshift ends when the potential and kinetic energies become comparable. At this time, the waves experience a nonlinear transient (the main features of which can be understood analytically, up to order 1 coefficients that need to be obtained from numerical simulations). Soon after this the majority of the axions from the scaling regime become nonrelativistic and their number density per comoving volume is conserved. The net effect of the relativistic redshift and the nonlinear transient is a non-conservation of the comoving axion number density between H_{\star} and the end of the transient. However, unlike the case of a temperature dependent mass, this only amounts to an up to O(20%) effect for a temperature-independent mass with $\xi_{\star} \log_{\star} = 3 \times 10^3$ or smaller (see appendix C.4 for the derivation). Given the much larger uncertainties involved, in what follows we will therefore make the approximation that n_a^{st} is conserved.

³¹Some models with unusual features (such as the clockwork mechanism) might avoid these constraints. ³²The final number density of axions arising from the axions emitted by the scaling regime is not expected

The initial number density of actions an sing from the actions emitted by the beam gregime is not expected to the second to strings [27].

³³The relevant kinetic energy is the one is IR modes, approximately given by $8\pi\xi_{\star}\log_{\star}H_{\star}^2f_a^2 \gg m_a^2f_a^2$ at H_{\star} .

Number density conservation from H_{\star} leads to the (nonrelativistic) axion energy density today $\rho_a^0 = m_a (R_{\star}/R_0)^3 n_{a,\star}^{\text{st}}$, and the relic abundance of axions from strings during the scaling regime $\Omega_a^{\text{st}} \equiv \rho_a^0 / \rho_c$ is

$$\Omega_a^{\rm st} \simeq 0.1 \left(\frac{\xi_\star \log_\star}{3 \times 10^3}\right) \left(\frac{f_a}{10^{14} \,\text{GeV}}\right)^2 \left(\frac{m_a}{10^{-18} \,\text{eV}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\frac{10}{x_{0,a}}\right) \left(\frac{3.5}{g_\star(T_\star)}\right)^{\frac{1}{4}}, \tag{4.1}$$

for $\xi_{\star} \log_{\star} \lesssim 10^3$. For larger values of $\xi_{\star} \log_{\star}$, eq. (4.1) must be changed to take into account the non-conservation of the number density. For a temperature independent axion mass, this results in $\Omega_a^{\rm st} \propto (\xi_{\star} \log_{\star})^{3/4}$ up to logarithmic corrections (see appendix C.4). Note that, unlike the QCD axion, in eq. (4.1) f_a and m_a can vary independently and, for a fixed f_a , smaller values of m_a give smaller $\Omega_a^{\rm st}$.

As expected, for $\xi_{\star} \log_{\star}$ small enough that the transient is negligible, the relic density of axions from strings is a factor of $\xi_{\star} \log_{\star}$ larger than that from misalignment in the preinflationary scenario (with $\mathcal{O}(1)$ misalignment angle) [73], with the same leading parametric dependence on f_a and m_a . For ultralight axions $\log_{\star} = \log(m_r/m_a) \simeq 10^2$ and, as discussed in section 3.4, the extrapolation of ξ suggests that $\xi_{\star} = c_1 \log_{\star} \simeq 25$. Therefore, the relic density leads to severe constraints for $f_a \gtrsim 10^{14} \text{ GeV}$, forcing $m_a \lesssim 10^{-17} \text{ eV}$. We show the bound $\Omega_a^{\text{st}} < \Omega_{\text{DM}}$ in figure 5 assuming that the IR cutoff of the spectrum is $x_{0,a} = 10$ also at large log, and that the growth of ξ in eq. (2.4) continues (we also fix that the network persists until $3H = m_a$, as suggested by simulation results for a temperature independent axion mass in appendix C.4, which leads to a constraint that is stronger by a factor of $\sqrt{3}$).

Eq. (4.1) is expected to hold at best up to an order one coefficient that encodes the effect of the system of strings and domain walls on the axion waves produced during the scaling regime. We finally note that eq. (4.1) only provides a lower bound on the axion dark matter abundance, as it misses the unknown part from string-domain wall collapse. In any case, as shown in figure 5, even if this contribution to the axion relic abundance is a few orders of magnitude larger than Ω_a^{st} , a wide range of axion masses are still allowed for $f_a \gtrsim 10^{14} \text{ GeV}$ (thanks to the dependence of Ω_a^{st} on m_a and f_a).

As mentioned, we obtained eq. (4.1) by assuming that at large log the axion spectrum becomes IR dominated, with $q_a > 1$, as suggested by extrapolations of simulation results [27]. If this is not the case the number density of axions from strings will be negligible with respect to that predicted by the misalignment mechanism with an effective initial misalignment angle $\langle \theta_0^2 \rangle \simeq 2.15^2$. The resulting relic abundance is a factor of $\xi_* \log_*$ smaller than eq. (4.1), and the correspondingly weakened bound from dark matter in figure 5 can be straightforwardly obtained. We also note that Lyman- α observations limit the fraction of the dark matter that can have a mass below $\sim 10^{-20}$ eV [74, 75]. We plot the resulting constraints in figure 5, labelled L α . Even though they are weaker than those from isocurvature that we study later, these bounds have the advantage of not depending on the (uncertain) details of the axion density power spectrum.³⁴

4.2 Dark radiation

For the ultra-light axion masses allowed by the relic abundance constraint in eq. (4.1) (plotted in figure 5), the scaling regime ends when the Universe's temperature is less than an MeV

³⁴There is an additional constraint from Lyman- α [76] observations, not plotted, which requires $m_a > 2 \times 10^{-22}$ eV in the case the axion makes up the entirety of the dark matter. While this excludes some values of m_a and f_a such that the axion makes up the whole DM abundance, the extension of this bound to the case of an axion that makes up a fraction of the total DM is currently unknown.

(see also the upper axis of figure 4). Consequently all the axions emitted during the scaling regime up to that point are relativistic at the time of BBN. Additionally, due to the approximately scale-invariant form of the axion energy density spectrum $\partial \rho_a / \partial k$ (see eq. (C.6) in appendix C.4), an order one fraction of the axion energy is in modes that are relativistic at CMB decoupling even if the string network is destroyed prior to this. Constraints from current limits on dark radiation at these times, usually expressed in terms of the effective number of neutrinos $N_{\rm eff}$, are therefore potentially relevant.³⁵

Similarly to gravitational waves, during the scaling regime the energy density in axions is $\rho_a(t) = \int_{t_1}^t dt' (R'/R)^4 \Gamma'_a$, where Γ_a takes the form in eq. (2.5). As a result, up to 1/log corrections and neglecting changes in the number of relativistic degrees of freedom g, and assuming $\xi = c_1 \log$ as in eq. (2.4),

$$\rho_a = \frac{4}{3} H^2 c_1 \pi f_a^2 \left(\log^3 - \log_1^3 \right) \,, \tag{4.2}$$

where $\log_1 \equiv \log(m_r/H_1)$ is the value of the log when the scaling regime starts. From eq. (4.2) we see that the energy in axions could be sizeable as it is enhanced by a \log^3 factor, which ultimately comes from the fact that the axion spectrum deviates from scale invariance by a \log^2 correction. Moreover, the dependence on the initial condition, which sets \log_1 , is not important as long as $\log_1 \ll \log$ (in the following we therefore neglect \log_1 , and the resulting bound is barely affected by varying this in its plausible range).

The axion energy corresponds to an effective number of neutrinos $\Delta N_{\text{eff}} \equiv (8/7)(11/4)^{4/3}$ ρ_a/ρ_γ where ρ_γ is the energy density in photons.³⁶ At a temperature of 1 MeV eq. (4.2) leads to

$$\Delta N_{\rm eff} = 0.6 \left(\frac{c_1}{0.24}\right) \left(\frac{f_a}{10^{15} \text{ GeV}}\right)^2 \left(\frac{\log}{90}\right)^3, \qquad (4.3)$$

where $\log(m_r/H_{\rm BBN}) \simeq 90$ if $m_r = 10^{14} \div 10^{15}$ GeV. To determine the overall coefficient in eq. (4.3) precisely, we improved the calculation of ρ_a in eq. (4.2) by numerically integrating Γ_a to account for the changing number of relativistic degrees of freedom. Owing to the increased expansion of the Universe this suppresses the result by about 30%.³⁷

Although bounds that we will study in section 4.4 require that the string network is destroyed prior to the formation of the CMB for the $f_a \gtrsim 10^{14}$ GeV, limits on dark radiation from the CMB are still potentially relevant. In this case, the energy in relativistic axions at the time of decoupling is simply obtained by redshifting the value of eq. (4.2) from the time of the network destruction, accounting for the proportion of the axions that become non-relativistic.

We use the 95% limits from [77], which correspond to $\Delta N_{\text{eff}} < 0.46$ and 0.28 at BBN and CMB times respectively (imposing constraints derived from different analyses or the 68% limits, e.g. [78] only changes the constraint on f_a relatively mildly). As can be seen from eq. (4.3), the limits from BBN constrain $f_a \leq 10^{15}$ GeV as shown in figure 5. Those from the CMB lead to a comparable bound, although the maximum allowed ΔN_{eff} is more uncertain given tensions between different determinations of the Hubble parameter. As we will see

³⁵For larger axion masses a fraction of ρ_a is in modes that are relativistic at BBN, but constraints from dark matter overproduction are stronger in this case.

³⁶The effective number of neutrinos is defined by $N_{\text{eff}} \equiv (8/7)(11/4)^{4/3}(\rho_{\nu} + \rho_X)/\rho_a$. In principle the energy density in strings and gravitational waves also contributes to ρ_X , however this energy is much smaller than ρ_a .

³⁷In particular, the contribution to ρ_a from earlier times, already suppressed by \log^3 , is further suppressed by $g^{1/3}$.

shortly, all such values of f_a are in tension with limits from isocurvature. However, the constraints from dark radiation are still useful since they are subject to fewer uncertainties.

We finally note that the detection of GWs from strings would predict a non-vanishing $\Delta N_{\rm eff}$. Conversely, given the quadratic dependence on f_a , a plausible improvement in the measurement of $\Delta N_{\rm eff}$ to an uncertainty of $\sigma(\Delta N_{\rm eff}) \simeq 0.02$ [79] could rule out $f_a \gtrsim 2 \times 10^{14}$, which is a large part of the range that gives GWs that could be observed in the near future.³⁸

4.3 Isocurvature perturbations

During the scaling regime, and after domain walls form and annihilate, the axion field contains inhomogeneities. Since these involve only the axion energy density, they correspond to isocurvature perturbations [81], which are potentially in conflict with cosmological observations, even if the axion makes up only a fraction of the total dark matter. An analysis of such perturbation has previously been carried out for the QCD axion [82] and axion-like particles in [83, 84], and we comment in appendix F on the differences with our approach.

The perturbations in the axion energy density ρ_a are most easily studied using the overdensity field $\delta_a(x) \equiv (\rho_a(x) - \langle \rho_a \rangle)/\langle \rho_a \rangle$, where the brackets indicate the spatial average. It is useful to express δ_a in terms of the (dimensionless) power spectrum $\Delta_a^2(k)$, defined by

$$\langle \tilde{\delta}_a(\mathbf{k}) \tilde{\delta}_a(\mathbf{k}') \rangle = \frac{2\pi^2}{k^3} \Delta_a^2(k) \delta^3(\mathbf{k} - \mathbf{k}') , \qquad (4.4)$$

where $\tilde{\delta}_a$ is the Fourier transform of δ_a and we assumed statistical homogeneity and isotropy. It is straightforward to show that $\langle \delta_a^2 \rangle = \int \Delta_a^2(k)/k \ dk$.

After the string network is destroyed, Δ_a^2 is expected to have a non-zero (and order one) value at momenta $k \simeq H_{\star}$, since H_{\star} sets the typical size of fluctuations, and therefore the typical correlations between momentum modes. At these scales, the precise shape of Δ_a^2 depends on the dynamics of the string network at $H \simeq H_{\star}$. Conversely, fluctuations at scales larger than the horizon at that time, i.e. $k \ll H_{\star}$, are expected to be uncorrelated. From eq. (4.4), this fixes the form of $\Delta_a^2 \propto k^3$, which is the prediction from a white noise spectrum, so Δ_a^2 is suppressed at large scales. We therefore parametrise $\Delta_a^2(k) = C(k_{\rm com}/H_{\star})^3$ at comoving momenta $k_{\rm com} \equiv kR/R_{\star} \lesssim H_{\star}$, where C is a dimensionless coefficient. Finally, the power spectrum at $k \gtrsim H_{\star}$ depends on the details of the destruction of strings and domain walls, and it could be affected by oscillons [55], and is beyond the scope of our present work.

During the scaling regime, and as the string network is destroyed, Δ_a^2 changes. However, once all the strings and domain walls have vanished and the axion field has mostly settled down to have amplitude $\ll f_a$, and the axion energy density is redshifting non-relativistically, the k^3 part of Δ_a^2 is constant leading to a time-independent $C.^{39}$

CMB observations dominantly constrain Δ_a^2 at momenta that are of order the Hubble parameter at decoupling. For $m_a \gtrsim 10^{-28}$ eV, the network decays before decoupling, and such scales lie in the IR k^3 tail, on which we will therefore focus (for smaller m_a , strings are present at decoupling, and gravitational effects lead to more stringent bounds, discussed in section 4.4). As we discuss shortly the situation is more complicated for isocurvature constraints from Lyman α observations.

Given the highly nonlinear dynamics of the scaling regime and the destruction of the string network, the only way to determine Δ_a^2 accurately would be to numerically simulate

³⁸Additionally, the possibility that the background of relativistic axions left over today could be directly detected (for axion-to-photon coupling $g_{a\gamma\gamma}$ larger than f_a^{-1}) has recently been studied [80].

³⁹We neglect the effect of gravity, which is expected to not affect the far IR-momenta [84].

the system until the strings and domain walls have all vanished. Unfortunately, as discussed, it is extremely hard to study the network's destruction reliably. Despite this, similarly to the dark matter abundance, we can obtain a conservative isocurvature constraint by considering only the axion waves produced during the scaling regime up to H_{\star} . Provided the presence of domain walls does not affect these waves by more than an order one amount, the axions from the scaling regime can be approximated as a separate component of DM (distinct from that produced by domain walls) with its own power spectrum and a relic abundance given by eq. (4.1). Neglecting the effects of domain walls, we will be able to determine the power spectrum for this component and in doing so obtain an isocurvature bound. The DM axions from domain walls will also have density perturbations so are expected to only strengthen the constraint.⁴⁰

To determine Δ_a^2 , we solve the equations of motion $\ddot{a} + 3H\dot{a} - R^{-2}\nabla^2 a + V'(a) = 0$ (with $V = m_a^2 f_a^2 (1 - \cos(a/f_a))$ and m_a temperature independent as before) numerically. As discussed in appendix C.5 we expect very similar results from any other potential bounded to be $\leq m_a^2 f_a^2$. We start at $H = H_{\star}$ with initial conditions given by a superposition of waves with the energy density spectrum $\partial \rho_a / \partial k$ predicted by the scaling regime at $\xi_{\star} \log_{\star} = 10^3$ (see appendix C.5 and [27] for more details). As mentioned in section 4.1, the field undergoes a period of relativistic redshift and a nonlinear transient, after which the nonrelativistic regime is rapidly reached with (at least the IR part of) Δ_a^2 constant.⁴¹

In figure 19 (left) of appendix C.5 we plot the resulting Δ_a^2 , defined as in eq. (4.4), as a function of the momentum and time. As expected, the spectrum reaches an order one value at momenta corresponding to the scale H_{\star} . The peak is somewhat above H_{\star} since $x_{0,a} \simeq 10$ and correlations at smaller scales are likely since the average axion momentum is larger than x_0 (see [27]). At smaller momenta the expected k^3 behaviour is reproduced, with a constant coefficient $C \approx 2 \times 10^{-5}$ (the nonlinearities turn out to be important, as this coefficient is about a factor of 4 smaller than if the evolution of these waves were linear, i.e. with $V = 1/2m_a^2a^2$, see the green line in figure 19 (left) of appendix C.5). In the following we will derive constraints assuming Δ_a^2 and Ω_a^{st} as described above. To get a feel for how much the DM axions from domain walls might potentially strengthen the constraint, in appendix C.5 we also plot and discuss results for the power spectrum obtained after the destruction of the full string-domain wall network at the unphysical value $\log_{\star} = 5$.

Isocurvature constraints from the CMB and Lyman- α . The CMB is the longest standing source of constraints on isocurvature perturbations, with the best currently available data coming from Planck [85], from modes close to the pivot scale $k_{\text{CMB}} = 0.05 \text{ MPc}^{-1}$. Such observations bound the fraction of isocurvature fluctuations f_{iso} relative to the curvature perturbations at this scale, defined by $f_{\text{iso}}^2 \equiv \Delta_{\text{iso}}^2(k)/\Delta_{\mathcal{R}}^2(k)$, where Δ_{iso}^2 is the spectrum of isocurvature perturbations and $\Delta_{\mathcal{R}}^2(k) = A_s(k/k_{\text{CMB}})^{n_s-1}$ is the (almost scale invariant) spectrum of curvature perturbations.

For $m_a \gtrsim 10^{-28} \text{ eV}$, k_{CMB} is inside the k^3 part of $\Delta_a^2(k)$ and we can directly apply the limit $f_{\text{iso}} < 0.64$ obtained in [84].⁴² In general the axions from scaling only comprise a

 $^{^{40}}$ A large weakening of the bound would require that the domain walls absorb a large fraction of low momentum axion waves emitted during scaling and homogeneously remit them as high momentum modes.

⁴¹Unlike simulations of the string network, the axion only simulations do not need to probe length scales f_a^{-1} (since it is the IR part of the axion spectrum that contains the majority of the axion number density so is relevant to the constraint), therefore the physical dynamics are reproduced directly.

⁴²The precise numerical bound depends on the cosmological data that is combined. Interestingly the analysis in [84] shows a mild preference for a non-zero isocurvature component.

fraction of the total dark matter, so there is a factor of $\Omega_a^{\text{st}}/\Omega_{\text{DM}}$ in their contribution to f_{iso} . Consequently, assuming there are no isocurvature fluctuations in the remainder of the DM, at $k = k_{\text{CMB}}$

$$f_{\rm iso} = \frac{\Omega_a^{\rm st}}{\Omega_{\rm DM}} \sqrt{\frac{C \, k_{\rm CMB}^3}{A_s k_\star^3}} \\ \simeq 0.2 \left(\frac{\xi_\star \log_\star}{3 \times 10^3}\right) \left(\frac{f_a}{5 \times 10^{14} \, \text{GeV}}\right)^2 \left(\frac{m_a}{10^{-28} \, \text{eV}}\right)^{-1/4} \left(\frac{C}{2 \times 10^{-5}}\right)^{1/2} ,$$
(4.5)

where $A_s = 2.2 \times 10^{-9}$, and $k_{\star} \equiv H_{\star}R_{\star}/R_0$ is the comoving momentum corresponding to H at $H = H_{\star} = m_a$ redshifted to today. As discussed, we expect eq. (4.5) to give a lower bound on $f_{\rm iso}$, and to be valid up to an order one factor. We note that the isocurvature constraint is potentially important even when the axions produced by the scaling regime make up a small fraction of the abundance. This is because, for sufficiently light axions, the relative density fluctuations reach values close to one at the observationally constrained scales.

In addition to CMB bounds, it has recently been shown that isocurvature fluctuations at smaller scales are constrained by Lyman- α observations [86], and that these can be important in post-inflationary axion dark matter models [87]. We use the constraint from [86], which assumes a k^3 power spectrum. Expressed in terms of the isocurvature fraction at the Planck pivot scale, this requires $f_{\rm iso} < 0.004$. For axion masses such that the observed modes are in the k^3 part of Δ_a^2 , this can be immediately converted into a bound on f_a similarly to eq. (4.5). However, the dominant scales in Lyman- α studies correspond to momenta of order $k_{\rm L}\alpha \sim 10 \,{\rm Mpc}^{-1}$ much larger than those relevant to CMB observations [87] (and more sophisticated analyses are potentially sensitive to even smaller scales). For sufficiently small masses, $m_a \leq 10^{-22}$ eV, such modes are not in the k^3 region. Consequently the results of [86] cannot be applied and instead a complete reanalysis is needed. We do not attempt in our present work. However, we note that given the density power spectrum remains of order 1 up to $k/H \sim 100$ and drops relatively slowly above this, there are likely to be relevant constraints in this mass range as well.

Impact on the allowed axion masses and decay constants. The bounds on the axion mass and decay constant from CMB and Lyman- α isocurvature constraints are plotted in figure 5. The limits at higher axion masses come from Lyman- α observations, while those at lower masses are due to the CMB observations. As discussed, we do not give bounds from Lyman- α for axion masses smaller than about 10^{-22} eV.

Although we expect the domain walls not to affect the power spectrum associated to pre-existing axions waves by more than an order one factor, we blur the resulting constraints in figure 5 to reflect this uncertainty. Moreover, the constraints from isocurvature would strengthen if the axions from domain walls have large density perturbations, i.e. if their density power spectrum corresponds to a larger coefficient C, if their relic abundance is comparable to that of the axions from scaling (though the bound on f_a would increase only proportionally to $C^{1/4}$). The bounds would also strengthen if the domain walls produced more DM axions than the scaling regime, even if they have the same density power spectrum as those from scaling, because $f_{\rm iso}$ includes a factor of $\Omega_a/\Omega_{\rm DM}$, as in eq. (4.5). We also note that there are other possible constraints on isocurvature from spatial scales between the CMB and Lyman- α observations (e.g. from structure formation and galaxy clusters [87]), which could matter for intermediate axion masses ~ 10^{-25} eV. However, these are more sensitive to astrophysical details, and would require a dedicated analysis. We note that it is clear from eq. (4.5) that the isocurvature constraints are not relevant for the QCD axion in the post-inflationary scenario. Indeed, for the QCD axion H_{\star} corresponds to the Hubble parameter shortly before the QCD crossover, which is much larger than that for ultralight axions, and so k_{\star} is larger and $f_{\rm iso}$ more suppressed. Finally, for both the QCD axion and ultralight axions, isocurvature perturbations sourced during inflation (if the axion was present at this point) are averaged out by the dynamics of the strings and are simply incorporated into the coefficient C of the white noise spectrum.

4.4 Strings and CMB anisotropies

If strings are present at the time of decoupling their gravitational interactions introduce additional anisotropies in the CMB [88, 89]. In particular, a long string induces a 'deficit angle' $\delta = 8\pi G\mu$ in the locally flat metric around it, giving the metric a global conical structure. As a result, two particles moving towards the string in parallel acquire a nonzero relative velocity as they pass the string, and eventually collide.⁴³ If this is applied to an observer and a source of photons, the observer will see a discontinuous Doppler shift of the photons as the string is passed. Consequently, strings lead to discontinuous temperature fluctuations, of order $\delta T/T \propto G\mu$, in the CMB photons around them [90]. Moreover, a string that moves in the primordial plasma produces a wake behind it by pure gravitational interactions, and therefore additional density perturbations, which are again potentially measurable in the CMB. Since the strings act as a random source, such perturbations are not coherent and do not result in the observed acoustic oscillations [91–93]. Consequently they can contribute, at most, a relatively small fraction of the total anisotropy (see e.g. [94–97]).

A statistical analysis comparing the effects mentioned above with CMB observations gives an upper limit on the string tension μ and consequently on the allowed f_a for an axion network that is not destroyed prior to decoupling. These constraints are therefore relevant for axion masses $m_a \leq 10^{-28}$ eV. As for the GW spectrum and axion DM abundance, it is challenging to determine the string induced anisotropy spectrum at the relevant time, which cannot be studied directly in simulations. Reliable constraints can only be obtained by fully accounting for the effects of scaling violations on the string induced anisotropy spectrum, and we do not attempt this in our present work.⁴⁴ Instead, we simply note that, based on the previous literature (e.g. [98–100] for local strings and [101] for global strings), a bound very roughly in the range of $G\mu \leq 10^{-7}$ is plausible, corresponding to $f_a \leq 2 \times 10^{14}$ GeV. This is in possible tension with any axion with $m_a \leq 10^{-28}$ eV and f_a large enough for observable GWs. We however stress that there is significant uncertainty remaining and blur the bound in figure 5 to indicate this. In particular, if the bound on $G\mu$ turns out to be significantly weaker than the quoted limit, observable GWs from axion strings would be allowed for arbitrarily small axion masses.

4.5 The case N > 1

In the previous sections we have performed our analysis assuming that the U(1) breaking scale v equals the axion decay constant f_a . Our results are however easily generalised when $N = v/f_a > 1$. In this case additional explicit breaking of the remaining discrete symmetry must be present to avoid the domain walls over-closing the Universe [102], and this breaking

 $^{^{43}}$ On the other hand, loops are expected to oscillate many times before disappearing and at large distances the gravitational field averaged over one oscillation is the usual Newtonian potential, which affects the motion of bodies like conventional matter.

⁴⁴It would be particularly challenging to accurately determine constraints around $m_a \sim 10^{-28}$ eV, given that the string network is being destroyed by domain walls around the time of decoupling in this case.

must be sufficiently large that axion emission from domain walls does not produce a too large dark matter abundance (as previously, our constraints from the dark matter abundance considering emission from the string network are conservative).

First we observe that the calculation of the axion and GW emission from the strings depends on v, which enters in eq. (2.1) and therefore determines the string tension in eq. (2.3) and the emission rates Γ_a and Γ_g . Thus, the GW spectrum in eq. (3.12) and figure 4 is valid for a generic v with the substitution $f_a \rightarrow v$. Similarly, the bounds from dark radiation and CMB anisotropies in sections 4.2 and 4.4 and figure 5 apply to v.

On the other hand, since the decay constant f_a determines the axion potential $V \propto m_a^2 f_a^2$, a $v \neq f_a$ affects the dark matter abundance and isocurvature perturbations discussed in sections 4.1 and 4.3. In all our calculations in those sections the scale v enters only through the inputted axion energy density spectrum from the scaling regime, and it appears together with $\xi_* \log_*$ (in particular, $\partial \rho_a / \partial k \propto v^2 \xi_* \log_*$). The dark matter abundance in eq. (4.1) is therefore easily generalised by substituting $\xi_* \log_* \rightarrow N^2 \xi_* \log_*$. However, as discussed in section 4.1, if $N \gg 1$ one needs to account for the number density non-conservation. This is done by multiplying eq. (4.1) by the suppression factor in eq. (C.3), which makes $\Omega_a^{\text{st}} \propto (N^2 \xi_* \log_*)^{3/4}$ (instead of a quadratic dependence on N). A similar change occurs in eq. (4.5) via the DM abundance (notice that C depends on $\xi_* \log_*$, and needs to be recomputed).

The overall effect of N > 1 can therefore be summarised by substituting $f_a \to v$ in figures 4 and 5, but with a stronger constraint from dark matter overproduction (by a factor $\mathcal{O}(N^{3/2})$ on the vertical axis of figure 5).

5 Peccei-Quinn restoration in the early universe

The post-inflationary scenario occurs if the U(1) symmetry has ever been restored after inflation. In this section we first review two standard mechanisms that lead to such a restoration, as well as another well known possibility (albeit more dependent on the details of the inflaton couplings and the axion sector). Then we discuss other ways that symmetry restoration can occur for axion decay constants $f_a \gtrsim 10^{14}$ GeV.

• Quantum fluctuations during inflation induce perturbations in any effectively massless scalar field present at this time. These have amplitude of order $H_I/2\pi$, where H_I is the Hubble parameter during inflation, so restore the PQ symmetry if $H_I/2\pi \gtrsim f_a$ [103, 104]. However, the current bound on H_I from the non-observation of tensor modes is [105]

$$\frac{H_I}{2\pi} < 9.6 \times 10^{12} \text{ GeV}.$$
 (5.1)

Consequently such fluctuations do not lead to the post-inflationary scenario for values of f_a that give observable GWs.

• The PQ symmetry can be restored if the (maximum) temperature T_{max} during reheating is greater than f_a . In particular, if the sector that gives rise to the axion is sufficiently close to thermal equilibrium at this time, finite temperature corrections drive the minimum of the scalar potential to the PQ-preserving vacuum for many choices of matter content and potentials (including eq. (2.1)) [106–108].⁴⁵ In this case, the PQ symmetry spontaneously breaks when the temperature subsequently drops [110–112].

⁴⁵High temperature does not restore symmetries in all theories, and the relevance of this to the formation of topological defects has been studied in [109].

If the inflaton decays relatively fast, T_{max} is parametrically larger than H_I . Consequently, the PQ symmetry is restored even for decay constants such that fluctuations during inflation are not sufficient. To illustrate this we parametrise the inflaton φ 's decay rate $\Gamma_{\varphi} = \epsilon H_I$. The Universe enters radiation domination at a temperature T_{RH} such that $\Gamma_{\varphi} = H(T_{\text{RH}})$, so

$$T_{\rm RH} \simeq \left(\frac{\epsilon}{0.001}\right)^{1/2} \left(\frac{H_I}{H_{\rm max}}\right)^{1/2} 3 \times 10^{14} \,\,{\rm GeV}\,,$$
 (5.2)

where H_{max} is the maximum value of Hubble during inflation allowed by eq. (5.1).⁴⁶ For instance, suppose the inflaton's potential is of the form $V(\varphi) = \frac{1}{2}m_{\varphi}^2\varphi^2$ in the part of field space where reheating occurs, and that $\langle \varphi^2 \rangle \simeq M_P^2$ at the start of reheating so $m_{\varphi} \simeq H_I$. Then, if the inflaton decays to fermions ψ though a coupling $\mathcal{L} \supset g\varphi\overline{\psi}\psi$, we have $\epsilon \simeq 0.03g^2$ and $T_{\text{RH}} \simeq g \ 10^{15} \,\text{GeV}$ for $H_I = H_{\text{max}}$.

Moreover, the energy density in radiation is even larger at the start of perturbative reheating, while the inflaton still dominates the energy density of the Universe. If the system is sufficiently close to thermal equilibrium that it can be assigned a temperature at this point, the largest temperature it reaches is $T_{\rm max} \sim M_{\rm P}^{1/4} H_I^{1/4} T_{\rm RH}^{1/2}$ [113].⁴⁷ In particular, parametrising the inflaton decay rate as before,

$$T_{\rm max} = \left(\frac{\epsilon}{0.001}\right)^{1/4} \left(\frac{H_I}{H_{\rm max}}\right)^{1/2} 10^{15} \,\,{\rm GeV}\,.$$
(5.3)

Efficient thermalisation indeed occurs for some couplings and matter content (e.g. if this happens through interactions with massless gauge bosons, see [114, 115]). In this case temperatures close to T_{max} are achieved and if $f_a \simeq 10^{14}$ GeV the PQ symmetry is restored even for $\epsilon \ll 1$, i.e. for inflaton decay rates $\Gamma_{\varphi} \ll H_I$.

• Additionally, for many types of interaction, the inflaton expectation value during inflaton restores the PQ symmetry if it couples to the PQ sector, provided the coupling is large enough [116–119]. Depending on the details of the theory, the PQ symmetry might then break during inflation (as the inflaton evolves towards its final expectation value), or during reheating (once the inflaton is settling down e.g. to $\langle \varphi \rangle = 0$). In many theories the inflaton expectation value is large compared to other scales, so this restores a PQ symmetry with large f_a even if the inflaton only has relatively weak couplings.

As an example, suppose the axion comes from a complex scalar ϕ with the potential of eq. (2.1) that has an interaction with the inflaton

$$V_{\rm int} = \frac{1}{2}g\varphi^2|\phi|^2\,,\tag{5.4}$$

and the inflaton has a non-zero expectation value $\langle \varphi \rangle$ during inflaton and evolves towards the minimum of its potential at $\varphi = 0$ (similar potentials and interactions have been widely considered, see e.g. [116, 120–122]). The interaction eq. (5.4) brings the expectation value of ϕ to zero if, during inflaton, the inflaton satisfies

$$g\left\langle \varphi^{2}\right\rangle > m_{r}^{2}$$
 (5.5)

⁴⁶In determining the numerical prefactors in these expressions we assume that the number of degrees of freedom that are thermalised is approximately similar to the standard model high temperature value $g_s \sim 100$.

⁴⁷The analysis of the inflaton's decay via perturbative processes is only consistent if $\Gamma_{\varphi} \ll m_{\varphi} \lesssim H_I$ so $\epsilon \ll 1$ and $T_{\max} \gg T_{\text{RH}}$ as expected.

Consequently, if $\langle \varphi \rangle \sim M_{\rm P}$ the PQ symmetry is restored by couplings $g \simeq m_r^2/M_{\rm P}^2$, which is tiny, $\sim 10^{-6}$, even for $m_r \sim f_a \sim 10^{15}$ GeV. If all of the inflaton's couplings are of this size the temperature of the Universe after inflation is never close to f_a (as can be seen from eqs. (5.2) and (5.3), e.g. with $\epsilon \simeq 0.03g^2$ in the previously discussed example model).⁴⁸

Summarising, (perturbative) reheating restores the PQ symmetry by thermal corrections to the PQ potential even for large f_a provided H_I is fairly close to H_{max} and the inflaton decay rate and thermalisation are fast. In particular, from eq. (5.3), inflaton decay rates corresponding to $\epsilon \sim 10^{-3}$ restore the PQ symmetry provided $f_a \leq 10^{15}$ GeV (this would require e.g. $g = \mathcal{O}(1)$ in the interaction with fermions).⁴⁹ However, if the inflaton has interactions with the axion sector of this size then in many theories the PQ symmetry is restored directly during inflation regardless of reheating, and this also happens for much smaller couplings for which perturbative reheating is not enough to restore the symmetry. Moreover, as we will see in the following, if the inflaton has interactions with couplings $\gtrsim 10^{-5}$ non-perturbative processes are often important during reheating. This sometimes restores the PQ symmetry for couplings of a size that do not lead to restoration during the subsequent perturbative reheating.

In the remainder of this section we discuss how couplings between the inflaton and the axion sector that restore the PQ symmetry during inflation can be accommodated in complete theories of inflation; and also how non-perturbative reheating, known as 'preheating' leads to symmetry restoration (both these possibilities have previously been considered in various contexts). We finally show that, in some axion models such as the KSVZ model, the PQ symmetry is restored at temperatures much less than f_a if the mass of the radial mode is much smaller than f_a .

5.1 Symmetry restoration during inflation

Interactions between the inflaton and the sector that gives rise to the axion might simply be present without playing a role in inflation. In appendix H.1 we show that symmetry restoration via eq. (5.5) indeed occurs without disrupting the slow roll conditions in an example model. Another possibility is that the axion sector plays a role in inflation. For instance, the complex scalar ϕ with the potential in eq. (2.1) could be the additional field needed in the so-called 'hybrid' inflation scenario. As reviewed in appendix H.1, in hybrid inflation the inflaton expectation value causes symmetry restoration in another sector, e.g. via the interaction in eq. (5.5). The parameters of the theory are fixed so that vacuum energy due to this symmetry restoration (e.g. $\sim f_a^4$) dominates the energy density of the Universe. This relaxes the slow roll constraint on the inflaton potential, $V'M_{\rm Pl}/V \ll 1$, by giving a large contribution to V. Inflation is therefore possible with sub-Planckian field values (and small H_I) [124, 125].⁵⁰ Inflation ends when the inflaton expectation value evolves enough that the (e.g. PQ) symmetry breaks, which naturally leads to topological defects. The fact that cosmic strings form in many models of hybrid inflation has previously been analysed [128– 134], focusing on gauged (i.e. local) strings, and axion strings similarly form in some theories.

⁴⁸Strings might also form in the case that interactions with the radial mode displaced ϕ to large field values $\gg f_a$ during inflation, as small initial fluctuations are amplified as the field subsequently oscillates around the $\phi = 0$ [123], but we do not study this possibility in detail.

⁴⁹We note that large inflaton couplings may lead to contributions to the inflaton potential, either directly or through radiative corrections, that necessitate fine tuning.

⁵⁰This avoids the substantial fine tuning characteristic of many other small field models (see e.g. [126, 127]).

In appendix H.1 we analyse a hybrid model in which ϕ has the potential in eq. (2.1) and the interaction in eq. (5.4) and show that for any inflaton expectation value that satisfies $f_a < \langle \varphi \rangle \lesssim M_{\rm P}$ there is an allowed range of $g \in [f_a^2/\langle \varphi \rangle^2, 1]$ such that hybrid inflation occurs. Although the range of g that leads to symmetry restoration is no larger than when ϕ plays no role in inflation, in these theories the restoration of PQ symmetry enables inflation in the first place rather than this being an ad hoc feature of the model.

5.2 Parametric resonances

For some inflaton couplings and potentials, non-perturbative processes transfer an order one fraction of the inflaton's energy to other fields within $\mathcal{O}(10)$ oscillations around the minimum of its potential. These effects are known as preheating, and they stem from a Bose enhancement of the inflaton decay rate due to the growing occupation number of the modes it decays into. A detailed analysis shows that modes that have frequencies inside particular resonance bands are amplified exponentially fast (until either backreaction or scattering cuts off the growth or the expansion of the Universe moves the mode out of the resonance band), and the resulting energy densities are far higher than are ever reached during perturbative reheating. Depending on the inflaton couplings, there are two different regimes, known as the broad and narrow resonance. Preheating and the resulting effective temperature have been considered analytically in the broad resonance [135, 136] and narrow resonance cases [137], and through lattice simulations in the broad resonance case [138, 139].

We review preheating in more detail in appendix H.2, and determine in which theories it restores a PQ symmetry with a large f_a . One possibility is that preheating occurs to the radial mode directly, e.g. through the interaction in eq. (5.4) leading to fluctuations that are of order f_a . However, we show that for values of f_a relevant for GW searches, preheating is only efficient enough for couplings such that the inflaton expectation value restores the symmetry during inflation anyway. This is because the large radial mass reduces the width of the resonance band preventing efficient energy transfer unless g is large. On the other hand, we also show that preheating leads to the PQ symmetry being restored (in models in which this would otherwise not occur) if the preheating is to some other, effectively massless, scalar. In particular, in some models a PQ symmetry with $f_a = 10^{15}$ GeV is restored for inflaton couplings that give a maximum temperature during perturbative reheating $T_{\text{max}} \leq 10^{12}$ GeV.

5.3 Symmetry restoration with a light radial mode

Finally, we show that if the radial mode (and additional PQ quarks) are light, the PQ phase transition happens at temperatures that are lower than f_a . Consequently, PQ symmetry restoration happens for reheating temperatures lower than if the mass of the radial mode is around f_a (which as discussed, typically requires temperatures $\gtrsim f_a$).

As an example, we consider the Lagrangian in eq. (2.1), with a quartic $\lambda = m_r^2/f_a^2 \ll 1$, with the radial mode coupled to fermions ψ through a term of the form $V \supset g\phi\overline{\psi}\psi$ (such interactions are present e.g. in the KSVZ QCD axion model) with $g \ll 1$. The thermal contribution to the finite temperature potential V_T of ϕ from such fermions is $V_T \simeq T^2 m_{\psi}^2(\phi) = g^2 T^2 \phi^2$, and this produces a minimum at $\phi = 0$ if $g^2 T^2 \phi^2 \gtrsim m_r^2 \phi^2$. Moreover, we demand that $T \gtrsim gf_a$, which ensures that the fermions (which have mass $g\langle\phi\rangle$) are present in the thermal bath at $\langle\phi\rangle = f_a$. This guarantees that the finite temperature potential has no symmetry breaking minimum, so the PQ symmetry is restored regardless of the initial field values (which depend on e.g. the dynamics during inflation). In appendix H.3 we show that these parametric expectations are confirmed in a full analysis of ϕ 's thermal potential (results
are shown in figure 22). Additionally, the condition $g^4 \leq (16\pi^2)m_r^2/f_a^2$ required for the stability of g under perturbative corrections is automatically satisfied given the inequalities above. Consequently the minimum temperature required to restore the PQ symmetry $T_{\rm min}$ is approximately given by

$$T_{\min} \simeq \operatorname{Max}\left(\frac{m_r}{g}, gf_a\right)$$
 (5.6)

Depending on the value of g, this means that T_{\min} can be as small as $\sqrt{f_a m_r}$. For example, taking $f_a \sim 10^{14}$ GeV and $m_r \sim 10^8$ GeV the PQ symmetry could be restored at a temperature of 10^{11} GeV, which is reached during perturbative reheating even for inflaton couplings that are much less than $1.^{51}$ Importantly for this scenario, the energy that an axion string network emits to GWs is dominantly set by the value of f_a rather than m_r (having $m_r \ll f_a$ only affects the logarithm entering the string tension). Consequently, the GW predictions in section 3 are suppressed only by a factor of $\log^4(m_r/H(T_f))/\log^4(f_a/H(T_f))$, and remain observable for $f_a \gtrsim 10^{14}$ GeV provided m_r is not extremely small.

6 Summary and conclusions

Gravitational wave observations can only be used to learn about physics beyond the Standard Model if we understand the spectrum expected in motivated theories. In this paper we have made a step towards such a goal by studying the GWs emitted by the network of global strings that forms in the early Universe in a generic axion model if the U(1) symmetry has been ever restored after inflation.

During the subsequent scaling regime GWs are produced by the motion and interactions of strings. Calculating the resulting spectrum directly from numerical simulations is impossible, as these only have access to a small range of early times. However, in section 3.1 we have shown that the Nambu-Goto effective theory with the Kalb-Ramond term — which describes the parts of the string network for which the string thickness can be neglected — gives us analytic control of the GW emission Γ_g at all times, up to an (order one) constant coefficient r related to shape of the string trajectories during scaling. In particular, $\Gamma_g/\Gamma_a = rG\mu^2/f_a^2$, where Γ_a is the emission rate into axions and is fixed by energy conservation. As shown in section 3.3, this result is reproduced spectacularly well by first principles numerical simulations of the string network (at the accessible small values of $\log(m_r/H)$), from which we have extracted the value of r together with the momentum distribution of Γ_g (this is peaked at momenta of order Hubble and falls off at higher momenta as $\propto 1/k^2$). The existence of the attractor solution then allowed us to reconstruct the GW spectrum from the entire scaling regime, and our results are shown in section 3.4. Due to the logarithmic increase of μ (and of ξ), the spectrum has substantial deviations from scale invariance. This enhances its amplitude at low frequencies, and makes it observable by multiple planned experiments for $f_a \gtrsim 10^{14}$ GeV. Importantly, the detection prospects are not significantly altered by the remaining uncertainties. We note that similar scaling violations have previously been predicted in the GW spectrum from global strings, using models aiming to capture the emission from small loops, and we discuss the relation of our work to the existing literature in appendix F.

In passing, we noted the remarkably self-consistent picture of the scaling regime arising from numerical simulations. In particular, the logarithmic scaling violations of many of the observables seem to be a part of the scaling regime (for instance ξ and the power law q_a of

⁵¹The price of this is that small mass radial mode mass may necessitate fine tuning, although this could be evaded e.g. if this sector is supersymmetric with a breaking scale $\leq m_r$.

the instantaneous emission spectrum of axions $\propto 1/k^{q_a}$ both increase logarithmically with time). This is particularly convincing because the energy emitted in axions and radial modes in the simulations is reproduced precisely by the energy emission rate in eq. (2.5) with the ξ in eq. (2.4) and string tension in eq. (2.3), see appendix 3.3. Moreover, the theoretical expectation that $\Gamma_g/\Gamma_a \propto G\mu^2/f_a^2$ (for trajectories with a fixed shape) is matched in the numerical simulations of the scaling regime, which suggests that the scaling solution in which ξ increases logarithmically is self-similar (showing that this increase is not a transient). Additionally, the GW spectrum shows the similar features as the axion spectrum, but with q > 1. This suggests that indeed our extrapolation of the axion spectrum is correct and that $q_a > 1$ at large log (when the axion will be more weakly coupled to the string cores, like the GWs are).⁵²

In section 4 we studied other general properties of axions in the post-inflationary scenario (including their dark matter abundance, contribution to dark radiation, and isocurvature perturbations), which led to complementary constraint on the axion mass and decay constant. This analysis shows that for all masses in the range 10^{-28} eV $\leq m_a \leq 10^{-17}$ eV ultralight axions can have decay constants large enough ($f_a \geq 10^{14}$ GeV) to lead to observable GWs. The upper limit on m_a comes from dark matter overproduction, while the lower limit comes from CMB observations (see figure 5). As discussed in section 4.4, this last limit is particularly uncertain and a revised analysis of $G\mu$ from CMB anisotropies could make it irrelevant by weakening the lower bound on f_a for $m_a \leq 10^{-28}$ eV. In particular, our results exclude the possibility that GWs from QCD axion strings during scaling are observable, assuming a standard cosmological history, since the dark matter bound in this case requires $f_a \leq 10^{10}$ GeV.⁵³

As well as constraints, the phenomenological features discussed in section 4 also lead to complementary observational signals of ultralight axions in the post-inflationary scenario, including $\Delta N_{\rm eff}$ and isocurvature perturbations. For values of f_a that lead to observable GWs these are close to current bounds, and within reach of future improvements. Moreover, a PQ symmetry with large f_a is most easily restored in the early Universe for large Hubble during inflation, so tensor modes with an amplitude close to the current observational upper bound might be present if GWs from strings are discovered. We also see that any interpretation of the recent possible GW signal by the pulsar timing experiment NANOgrav as being from global strings of an ultralight axion is in tension with cosmological observations. Although we do not attempt a detailed analysis of the possible signal, from figure 4 a GW signal of the observed magnitude (with a standard cosmology) requires $f_a \gtrsim 10^{15}$ GeV, which from figure 5 is in conflict with bounds on $\Delta N_{\rm eff}$ from BBN.⁵⁴

We also note that the small axion masses mentioned above are theoretically plausible, see e.g. [142] and references therein. It appears inevitable that quantum gravity will explicitly break all global symmetries [143–145], including the PQ one. The resulting breaking is often exponentially suppressed (e.g. in the ratio $f_a/M_{\rm P}$ [146, 147]) and could therefore lead to the required ultra-light masses.

Finally we consider the remaining open questions and directions for future work. From a theoretical direction, it would be valuable to understand further which classes of axion

 $^{^{52}}$ It would be useful to reach large enough log to directly see $q_a > 1$, possibly employing adaptive mesh refinement approaches such as the one used in [140].

 $^{^{53}\}mathrm{We}$ cannot exclude signals from the subsequent dynamics of domain walls.

⁵⁴The power law of the spectrum extracted by NANOgrav might also suggest that the signal is not approximately scale invariant as is predicted by global strings. GWs from QCD axion strings in non-standard cosmologies has been recently considered in [70], which modelled the GW emission from loops and suggested that the NANOgrav result could be interpreted as the emission from QCD axion strings if the equation of state is w < 1/3 [141].

models cosmic strings can form in. In particular, we have focused on axions that arise as the PNBG of a symmetry that is realised in four dimensional Lagrangian (e.g. from a scalar with a symmetry breaking potential or a new sector that runs into strong coupling, i.e. a composite axion model). Such axions can appear in string theory models from the closed string sector [12]. However, in string theory compactifications axions often come from the open string sector. Although the conventional picture is that cosmic strings cannot form in this case, given the uncertainties surrounding early Universe cosmology and de Sitter vacua in string theory we believe this merits further study.

It would be also useful to explore the boundary between the pre- and post-inflationary scenarios (as a function of the masses of the radial mode and PQ fermions) in the QCD axion case in more detail. For instance, in the KSVZ QCD axion model [148, 149] the extra fermions required to induce the PQ anomaly can lead to PQ symmetry restoration at temperatures parametrically below f_a if the radial mode is light, in the same way as in the example theory we studied in section 5.3 and appendix H.3.

Another direction in which to extend our work is the study of local strings, which arise from a spontaneously broken gauged U(1) symmetry. In a system of local stings all the degrees of freedom are massive, and, when the Hubble parameter is much smaller than the UV physics scale, the energy might be radiated only in GWs. However, the emission of heavy modes is efficient at small values of $\log(m_r/H)$ (where m_r is the mass of the heavy modes). Consequently, extrapolation will be essential to determine the GW spectrum at observable frequencies.⁵⁵

We also note that the GW signals from axion strings are fairly close to the maximum reach of proposed detectors. Consequently, continued detailed analysis of astrophysical foregrounds will be essential if such signals are to be identified.⁵⁶ Although challenging, subtraction of e.g. the foreground from neutron star and black hole binaries in the BBO frequency range appears feasible [152]. A careful study of the impact of the foregrounds on the prospects of the detecting GW signals from strings in different frequency ranges would be worthwhile in the future.

Acknowledgments

We are very grateful to Giovanni Villadoro for countless invaluable discussions and collaboration on related work. We thank Anson Hook, Junwu Huang, Robert Lasenby and Giovanni Villadoro for helpful comments on a draft. We thank Joan Elias-Miró for useful discussions on the effective theory of strings. We acknowledge SISSA and ICTP for granting access at the Ulysses HPC Linux Cluster, and the HPC Collaboration Agreement between both SISSA and CINECA, and ICTP and CINECA, for granting access to the Marconi Skylake partition. We also acknowledge use of the University of Liverpool Barkla HPC cluster.

⁵⁵Indeed, at small log the system of local strings seems to resemble the global string one in many ways.

 $^{^{56}}$ Note also that, if an ultralight axion makes up an order one percentage of the observed DM, the oscillations in its gravitational field lead to signals at pulsar timing array frequencies that are of the same order as the stochastic GW background from black hole binaries [150]. Axion miniclusters that appear in the postinflationary scenario could also leave imprints in pulsar timing arrays through their gravitational interactions [151], though there are still large uncertainties on the properties of these objects.

A More details on GWs from strings

In this appendix we give more details on the analytic derivations of section 3. In particular, we will discuss the GW emission from Nambu-Goto strings in appendix A.1 and from the whole scaling regime in appendix A.2.

A.1 Axions and gravitational waves from Nambu-Goto strings

In this appendix we derive eq. (3.5) in detail and compute the coefficients $r_a[X]$ and $r_g[X]$, showing that they are invariant under rescaling of the string trajectory.

Eq. (3.5) can be rewritten in terms of the transverse metric fluctuation $H^{\mu\nu} \equiv h^{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}\eta^{\mu\nu}h$ and reads $\partial_{\alpha}\partial^{\alpha}H^{\mu\nu} = 16\pi GT_s^{\mu\nu}$. At large distance $r \equiv |\vec{x}|$ from the region where the trajectory \vec{X} is localised, eq. (3.3) and this last equation provide the axion and gravitational wave field

$$A^{\mu\nu} = \frac{f_a}{2\sqrt{2}r} \int d\sigma \left(\dot{X}^{\mu} X^{\prime\nu} - X^{\prime\mu} \dot{X}^{\nu} \right), \tag{A.1}$$

$$H^{\mu\nu} = \frac{4G\mu}{r} \int d\sigma \left(\dot{X}^{\mu} \dot{X}^{\nu} - {X'}^{\mu} {X'}^{\nu} \right), \tag{A.2}$$

where we neglected terms that decay faster than 1/r. The right hand sides of eqs. (A.1) and (A.2) are evaluated at the retarded time $t' = t - |\vec{x} - \vec{X}|$, which at this order in 1/rreads $t' = t - r + \vec{X} \cdot \vec{n}$ with $\vec{n} \equiv \vec{x}/r$. Clearly eqs. (A.1) and (A.2) verify the wave relations $\partial_{\alpha}H^{\mu\nu} = n_{\alpha}\dot{H}^{\mu\nu}$ with $n^0 \equiv 1$ (so that $n^2 = 0$) up to $1/r^2$ terms. The harmonic gauge condition is rewritten as $\partial_{\mu}H^{\mu\nu} = 0$ which implies the relation $n_{\mu}\dot{H}^{\mu\nu} = 0$ for the solutions of eqs. (A.1) and (A.2).

The axion and gravitational wave energy radiated per unit time at infinity is given by $dE/dt \equiv -\int d^3x \dot{T}^{00}$, where $T^{\mu\nu}$ is the energy momentum tensor of the axion (from the second term in eq. (3.1)) or the gravitational waves, which are respectively

$$T_{a}^{\mu\nu} = F^{\mu\alpha\beta}F^{\nu}_{\ \alpha\beta} - \frac{1}{6}\eta^{\mu\nu}F^{\alpha\beta\gamma}F_{\alpha\beta\gamma}, \qquad (A.3)$$

$$T_g^{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{32\pi G} \left(\partial_\mu H^{\alpha\beta} \partial_\nu H_{\alpha\beta} - \frac{1}{2} \eta^{\mu\nu} \partial_\alpha H \partial^\alpha H \right) , \qquad (A.4)$$

with $H = H^{\alpha}_{\alpha}$. We can use the conservation of $T^{\mu\nu}$ and Gauss theorem to rewrite $dE/dt = \int d^3x \partial_j T^{j0} = \int d\Sigma^j T^{j0}$ where the last integral is done on the sphere at spatial infinity. So,

$$\frac{dE}{dt} = \lim_{r \to \infty} r^2 \int d\Omega \, n^j T^{j0} \,. \tag{A.5}$$

Plugging eqs. (A.1) and (A.2) into eqs. (A.3) and (A.4), and then plugging these in eq. (A.5), the whole (neglected) subleading dependence on 1/r vanishes in the limit and we obtain eq. (3.5). For instance, the coefficient for the gravitational wave emission is

$$r_{g}[X] = \int \frac{d\Omega}{2\pi} \left\{ \left[\int d\sigma \partial_{t} (\dot{X}^{\mu} \dot{X}^{\nu} - X'^{\mu} X'^{\nu}) \right]^{2} - \left[\frac{1}{2} \int d\sigma \partial_{t} (\dot{X}^{2} - X'^{2}) \right]^{2} \right\},$$
(A.6)

where again the right hand side is evaluated in $t' = t - r + \vec{X} \cdot \vec{n}$. A similar equation holds for the axion emission. The parameter σ can be taken to parametrise the string trajectory at a fixed time, and in this case it runs in the interval [0, L] where L is the length of the string trajectory. As initially claimed, eq. (A.6) is invariant under the rescaling $t \to \alpha t$ and $L \to \alpha L$ (and $\vec{x} \to \vec{x}$). This can be easily seen by noticing that⁵⁷ $X^{\mu}(\alpha t, \sigma) = \alpha X^{\mu}(t, \sigma/\alpha)$ and making the change of variable $\sigma \to \alpha \sigma$.

Note that in the nonrelativistic limit the dependence on \vec{n} in t' is subleading and one can perform the angular integral in eq. (A.6) exactly. The result is the well known quadrupole approximation

$$r_{a}[X] = \frac{2\pi}{3} \left[\int d\sigma \partial_{t} (\dot{X}^{i} X'^{j} - \dot{X}^{j} X'^{i}) \right]^{2} , \qquad (A.7)$$

$$r_g[X] = \frac{1}{5} \left\{ \left[\int d\sigma \partial_t^3 (\dot{X}^i \dot{X}^j) \right]^2 - \frac{1}{3} \left[\int d\sigma \partial_t^3 (\dot{X}^i \dot{X}^i) \right]^2 \right\}.$$
 (A.8)

A.2 GW spectrum during the scaling regime

In this appendix we give more details on the derivation of the GW spectrum in eqs. (3.9) and (3.12). We perform in eq. (3.8) the change of variable x = k'/H(t') with $k' \equiv kR/R'$, and use eqs. (3.6) and (2.4). As a result, for $R \propto t^{1/2}$ and in the large log limit

$$\frac{\partial \rho_g}{\partial \log k} \left[k,t\right] = 8\pi^3 c_1 r G f_a^4 H^2 \int_{\max\left[x_0,\frac{k}{\sqrt{HH_1}}\right]}^{k/H} dx \, F_g\left[x,y\right] \log^4\left(x^2 \frac{m_r H}{k^2}\right) \,, \tag{A.9}$$

where $y \equiv m_r k^2/(Hx^2)$ and, as mentioned in section 3.2, we approximated the momentum distribution to be $F_g[x, y] = 0$ for $x < x_0$. For $k < x_0\sqrt{HH_1}$, the lower extreme of the integral in eq. (A.9) is just x_0 . Approximating the momentum distribution with a single power law, i.e.

$$F_g[x,y] = \begin{cases} \frac{(q-1)x_0^{q-1}}{x^q} & x \in [x_0,y]\\ 0 & x \notin [x_0,y] \end{cases},$$
(A.10)

eq. (A.9) for $k < x_0 \sqrt{HH_1}$ leads to

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\partial \rho_g}{\partial \log k} \left[k, t \right] &= 8\pi^3 c_1 r G f_a^4 H^2 \log^4 \left(\frac{m_r}{H} \right) \left\{ \left(1 - 2 \frac{\log(k/k_0)}{\log} \right)^4 - \left(\frac{k_0}{k} \right)^{q-1} + \right. \\ &+ \frac{8}{(q-1)\log} \left[\left(1 - 2 \frac{\log(k/k_0)}{\log} \right)^3 - \left(\frac{k_0}{k} \right)^{q-1} \right] + \\ &+ \frac{48}{(q-1)^2 \log^2} \left[\left(1 - 2 \frac{\log(k/k_0)}{\log} \right)^2 - \left(\frac{k_0}{k} \right)^{q-1} \right] + \cdots \right\}, \end{aligned}$$
(A.11)

where $k_0 \equiv x_0 H$ and the dots stand for terms proportional to further inverse powers of $(q-1)\log$ (up to $(q-1)^{-4}\log^{-4}$). In the large log limit and as long as q-1 remains definitely larger than $1/\log$, only the first two terms in eq. (A.11) survive (see also the discussion in section 3.2). The second term in eq. (A.11) is negligible for $k \gtrsim x_0 H$,⁵⁸ and the

⁵⁷This is because, by dimensional analysis, $X^{\mu}(t, \sigma)$ must be proportional to σ times a dimensionless function of all the other parameters on which X^{μ} depends, i.e. t/σ , L/σ and t/L, etc.. Such a function is therefore left invariant by the mentioned rescaling.

⁵⁸This term encodes the IR profile of $\partial \rho_g / \partial \log k$, and as visible in figure 3 is not well resembled by the simple assumption of a hard IR cutoff for $F_g[x, y]$.

first terms indeed corresponds to the full eq. (3.9). For higher momenta, $k > x_0 \sqrt{HH_1}$, the lower extreme in eq. (A.9) is $k/\sqrt{HH_1}$ and the integration gives

$$\frac{\partial \rho_g}{\partial \log k} \left[k,t\right] = 8\pi^3 c_1 r G f_a^4 H^2 \log^4\left(\frac{m_r}{H}\right) \left[\frac{x_0 \sqrt{HH_1}}{k}\right]^{q-1} \left[1 - \left(\frac{H}{H_1}\right)^{\frac{q-1}{2}} + \cdots\right], \quad (A.12)$$

which gives the dependence on $1/k^{q-1}$ mentioned in section 3.2 (the dots stand again for subdominant $(q-1)^{-1}\log^{-1}$ corrections).

Note that if the effective number of degrees of freedom in thermal equilibrium g is not constant, entropy conservation $(gR^3T^3 = \text{const})$ and the Friedmann equations $(H^2 = 1/(2t)^2 \propto gT^4)$, valid away from particle thresholds) imply $R \propto g^{-1/12}t^{1/2}$. In this case, neglecting time derivatives of g, the same change of variable as before provides the overall factor $(g(t_k)/g(t))^{1/3}$ in eqs. (A.9), (A.11) and (A.12), plus a change in the argument of the logarithms of a factor $(g(t_k)/g(t))^{1/6}$, which is extremely negligible. Finally, we observe that the spectrum in eq. (A.11) is has a very similar form as the axion spectrum in appendix E.1 of [27], with however two more powers of log since $\Gamma_q/\Gamma_a \propto \log^2$ at large log.

From the end of the scaling regime (when $H = H_{\star}$) to today the GWs redshifts freely, i.e. $\frac{d\rho_g}{d\log k}[t_0, k] = (R_{\star}/R_0)^4 \frac{d\rho_g}{d\log k}[t_{\star}, kR_{\star}/R_0]$. From eq. (3.9) and conservation of entropy density, we get the spectrum today in the log $\gg 1$ limit

$$\frac{d\Omega_{\rm gw}}{d\log k} = \frac{c_1 \pi^4 r f_a^4}{90 M_{\rm P}^4} \frac{g_0 T_0^4}{\rho_c} \left(\frac{g_0}{g_k}\right)^{1/3} \log^4 \left[\frac{3\sqrt{10} g_\star^{1/6} M_{\rm P} k^2}{\pi x_0^2 g_0^{2/3} m_r T_0^2}\right],\tag{A.13}$$

where T_0 and g_0 are the temperature of photons and the effective number of relativistic degrees of freedom today. Eq. (3.12) is the numerical evaluation of eq. (A.13) and is valid in the momentum range $x_0H_{\star}(R_{\star}/R_0) < k < x_0\sqrt{H_{\star}H_1}(R_{\star}/R_0)$. Although eq. (A.13) is a very good approximation of the spectrum at large log, as mentioned in section 3.4 to obtain the lines in figure 4 we integrated numerically eq. (3.8), accounting for the smooth change in g and using a double power-law form for $F_g[x]$ (this resembles well the simulation results of figure 3). In particular we used $F_g[x] \propto x^3$ for $x \leq x_0$ and $F_g[x] \propto 1/x^2$ for $x \geq x_0$, as in eq. (38) of [23] with $x_2 \to \infty$.

B Details of simulations

In our numerical simulations of the scaling regime we evolve the equations of motion of eq. (2.1),

$$\ddot{\phi} + 3H\dot{\phi} - \frac{\nabla^2 \phi}{R^2} + \phi \frac{m_r^2}{f_a^2} \left(|\phi|^2 - \frac{f_a^2}{2} \right) = 0, \qquad (B.1)$$

on a discrete lattice. The details of our implementation are as in [23, 27] where extensive further discussion may be found. In this appendix we simply summarise some key aspects, and describe the extra features in our present work.

As mentioned in the main text, we study both the fat and physical string systems. The latter has two advantages: 1) it takes a longer physical time for the maximum log to be reached, and 2) the string core scale changes with time at the same rate as the momentum redshifts, which means that axion waves emitted at the string core scale remain in the UV part of the spectrum (this leads to a cleaner spectrum in the physically relevant region $k < m_r/2$, as discussed in [27]). In all cases we start from initial conditions that are close to the attractor solution identified in [23], with corresponding number of strings per Hubble volume ξ represented in figure 6. This maximises the interval in log over which the properties and changes in the attractor solution can be extracted. Such initial conditions are obtained as in [27] by a procedure that gives strings with the correct core size, which avoids a large amount of energy being emitted as axions and radial modes as the strings relax (and would contaminate the subsequent axion spectrum, especially for the physical string system).

We calculate the GWs emission following the method developed in [153], to which we refer for the details. In this approach, six independent fields u_{ij} , with $u_{ij} = u_{ji}$, are evolved according to eq. (3.10), but sourced by the total energy momentum tensor (rather than its TT part). The Fourier Transform (FT) of the GW field, $h_{ij}(t, \vec{k})$, is then obtained by projecting the FT of u_{ij} as

$$h_{ij}(t,\vec{k}) = \left(P_{il}(\hat{k})P_{jm}(\hat{k}) - \frac{1}{2}P_{ij}(\hat{k})P_{lm}(\hat{k})\right)u_{lm}(t,\vec{k}), \qquad (B.2)$$

where $P_{lm}(\hat{k}) \equiv \delta_{ij} - k_i k_j / |\vec{k}|^2$ (it is indeed easy to see that h_{ij} solves eq. (3.10) if and only if u_{ij} solves the same equation sourced by the total energy momentum tensor).⁵⁹ This procedure avoids the need to obtain the TT part of the energy momentum tensor at every simulation timestep, which greatly reduces the computational cost. Instead FTs are only required at particular timeshots when the h_{ij} are needed to evaluate the GW energy and spectrum. We use the same approach when evaluating the GW emission at the time of the axion mass turn on in axion only simulations, as studied in appendix D, simply by substituting the appropriate energy momentum tensor.

As mentioned in section 3.3, numerical simulations including the GW backreaction (analysed in appendix C.2) require that eq. (B.1) is evolved with the additional term $R^{-2}h_{ij}\partial_i\partial_j\phi$ on the left hand side, and thus the expression of h_{ij} needs to be known at every timestep. For such simulations we calculate h_{ij} from u_{ij} via eq. (B.2) at all time steps (by carrying out all of the required FTs and anti-FTs). Given the computational cost, we limit ourselves to grids of size 800³ for this analysis, which allows $\log \simeq 6$ to be reached. Such a log is sufficient for the system to be in scaling and emitting axions with a momentum distribution with a gap between the IR peak and UV scale for an interval $\Delta \log \simeq 2$, enough to extract the time-dependence of the relevant physical observables. For our main simulations, which are much less computationally demanding, we use larger grids, with $2500^3 \div 3000^3$ lattice points.

C Further results from simulations

In this appendix we provide further results from the numerical simulations of the string system. In particular, in appendix C.1 we give more details on the scaling regime and the emission of radiation from long stings. In appendix C.2 we discuss the effect of the backreaction of the GWs on the string network. Finally, in appendix C.4 and C.5 we describe the end of the scaling regime for a temperature-independent mass and the power spectrum of axion overdensities after the string network is destroyed.



Figure 6. The number of strings per Hubble volume ξ for the fat (left) and physical (right) string systems. The initial conditions that we use for the GW analysis, starting close to the attractor, are plotted in black. The evolution of the system starting from other initial conditions (studied in [23, 27]) is shown for comparison.

C.1 The scaling regime

In figure 6 we show the evolution of the number of strings per Hubble volume ξ , where the logarithmic increase mentioned in section 2 is evident. The black points correspond to the simulations used in this work, while for comparison we also show data from [23, 27] starting from different initial conditions and reaching larger log.⁶⁰ As discussed in [23, 27], the data clearly rules out any behaviour that saturates soon after log = 8. Moreover, for the most overdense initial conditions, ξ first drops and then starts rising again, suggesting that the logarithmic growth is not a transient but a part of the attractor solution.

As shown in [23], the logarithmic growth affects both long strings (defined to be the strings with length much larger than H^{-1}) and loops (which are all the other strings). In particular, ξ restricted only to long strings — which we call ξ_L — is at any time during the scaling regime a fixed fraction of ξ , i.e. $\xi_L = f_L \xi$ with $f_L \simeq 0.814$ for the fat string system (this can be extracted from the jump of the cumulative distribution of ξ in figure 3 of [27]; this jump makes the distinction between long strings and loops sharp). As a result, the fraction of strings in loops is also constant. The fact that the proportion of length in long strings and loops remains the same provides another convincing evidence that the logarithmic growth is a property of the scaling solution.

Energy emission rate and long strings. As mentioned in section 2, in order to maintain the scaling regime the energy that needs to be released from the string system is $\Gamma = \dot{\rho}_s^{\text{free}} - \dot{\rho}_s$. We derived such a quantity in eq. (2.5) assuming that $\rho_s^{\text{free}} \propto R^{-2}$ (see [23] for the details). However, this derivation, strictly speaking, applies only to the part of the string network whose energy decreases proportionally to R^{-2} in the free limit, which are only the long strings.⁶¹ For the sake of a completely consistent treatment, we therefore split the energy density in strings as $\rho_s = \rho_s^L + \rho_s^{\text{loops}}$, where $\rho_s^L = \xi_L \mu_L/t^2$ is the energy in long strings and ρ_s^{loops} the energy in loops. The tension of long strings μ_L is expected to take the form μ_{th} in

 $^{^{59}}$ See [154] for an analysis demonstrating that the lattice version of the projector does not introduce systematic errors.

⁶⁰As mentioned, in our present simulations, evolving the fields u_{ij} adds to the computational cost, so to gain sufficient statistics we use slightly smaller grids.

⁶¹Sub-horizon loops redshift as nonrelativistic matter in the free limit.

eq. (2.3) during the scaling regime. The total energy lost by long strings, $\Gamma = \dot{\rho}_{\text{free}} - \dot{\rho}_s^L$, is then correctly given by eq. (2.5) but with ξ substituted with ξ_L , i.e.

$$\Gamma = \frac{\xi_L \mu_{\rm th}}{t^2} \left[2H - \frac{\dot{\xi}}{\xi} - \frac{\pi f_a^2}{\mu_{\rm th}} \left(H + \frac{\dot{\eta}}{\eta} - \frac{1}{2} \frac{\dot{\xi}}{\xi} \right) \right], \qquad (C.1)$$

where for convention we evaluate μ_{th} with ξ (rather than ξ_L : the difference is a constant reabsorbed in η) and in the square bracket we can use ξ instead of ξ_L given that they are proportional.

The energy Γ lost by long strings is either directly converted into axion and radial mode radiation (Γ^{rad}), or lost by the formation of string loops (Γ^{loops}), which continually arise from the intersection of long strings and then decay into radiation. Therefore $\Gamma = \Gamma^{rad} + \Gamma^{loops}$. The total emission rate into axions and radial modes $\Gamma_a + \Gamma_r$ from the network is the sum of the energy emitted into radiation directly from long strings (Γ^{rad}) and the one from loops. If such loops decay into radiation efficiently, this last quantity also equals the energy lost by long strings by the formation of loops, Γ^{loops} . As a result, we expect $\Gamma = \Gamma_a + \Gamma_r$. In the following we will show that numerical simulations reproduce this expectation remarkably well.

We stress that in this picture the energy emitted into radiation $\Gamma_a + \Gamma_r$ originally comes from long strings. However a part of it comes *directly* from long strings ($\Gamma^{\rm rad}$), and the other *via* loops that decay ($\Gamma^{\rm loops}$), which thus act as an efficient mean dissipation of the energy that is originally in long strings. So, although fixed by Γ in eq. (C.1), the eventual emission into axions happens through both long strings and loops, which is why in section 3.1 we studied a *generic* trajectory, which includes long strings and loops. Similarly, the total emission into GWs, which for a trajectory with a fixed shape is proportional to the one into axions (see section 3.1), depends on both long strings and loops, but we will refer to Γ_g as the sum of the two (Γ_g will have a contribution from long strings and another from loops, which we will not distinguish, as we cannot distinguish them in simulations). In the following, by proving that $\Gamma = \Gamma_a + \Gamma_r$, we will see that this picture agrees with the evolution of the physical system at least at small log. We will comment on the possible changes of this picture if the energy is not emitted efficiently from the decay of loops at large log.

Similarly to [23, 27], during the evolution of the field we extract the energy densities in axions ρ_a and radial modes ρ_r (that are present at a generic time) from the kinetic energies $\langle \dot{a}^2 \rangle$ and $\langle \dot{r}^2 \rangle$, where the averages are done over spatial points away from the string cores (to avoid the contribution from the strings). The emission rates are then calculated as the time variation of these energies, namely $\Gamma_a = R^{-4} \frac{d}{dt} (R^4 \rho_a)$ and $\Gamma_r = R^{-z} \frac{d}{dt} (R^z \rho_r)$ where z = 4 for the fat strings.⁶² For the physical system the redshift factor is 3 < z < 4, and can be calculated as $\int dkz [k/m_r] \partial \rho_r / \partial k$ where $z[k/m_r] \equiv 3 + (k/m_r)^2 / ((k/m_r)^2 + 1)$ is the redshift factor of one mode with momentum k (the spectrum of radial modes $\partial \rho_r / \partial k$ can be found in [27]).⁶³

In figure 7 we show the numerical results for Γ_a and $\Gamma_a + \Gamma_r$ for the fat and physical systems (we use the data from the 4500³ grids of [27], reaching log = 7.9). To allow the direct comparison with the previous discussion, the results are normalised to the theoretical expectation in eq. (C.1) for the total emission rate Γ . In this last equation the (only) free constant

⁶²Irrespectively of whether they are relativistic or not, free radial modes in the fat string system have energy $\sqrt{k^2 + m^2}$ that redshifts as R^{-1} , given that $m_r \propto R^{-1}$ (so the energy density redshift as R^{-4} assuming comoving number density conservation).

⁶³This is easily seen by calculating $d \log E/d \log R$ where the energy E is $E = n_{\rm com}(R_0/R)^3 \cdot \sqrt{m_r^2 + k_{\rm com}^2(R_0/R)^2}$ and assuming comoving number density conservation $dn_{\rm com}/dR = 0$ and using $dk_{\rm com}/dR = 0$.



Figure 7. The energy density emitted in axions and radial modes, Γ_a and Γ_r , during the scaling regime calculated in the simulation, normalised to the theoretical expectation of the total emission rate from (long) strings Γ in eq. (2.5) after fitting the (constant) value η , defined in eq. (2.3). The fact that $\Gamma_a + \Gamma_r$ coincides with the theoretical expectation Γ is a confirmation that the emission rate is described by eq. (2.5) and that the string tension is reproduced by $\mu_{\rm th}$ in eq. (2.3) for a fixed value of η .



Figure 8. The dependence of the ratio $(\Gamma_a + \Gamma_r)/\Gamma$ on the choice of the parameter η . Values of η outside the intervals $0.8 \div 1.1$ and $0.4 \div 1.5$ for the fat and physical strings respectively (shown in light gray) do not lead to a constant ratio, signalling that they are not able to reproduce the emission and therefore the sting tension.

parameter η has been fitted in such a way that $(\Gamma_a + \Gamma_r) / \Gamma$ equals unity. The fact that Γ reproduces $\Gamma_a + \Gamma_r$ over more than four *e*-foldings in time (especially clearly for the fat system) is a remarkable confirmation of the theoretical picture described above. In particular this shows that the form eq. (2.5) captures the total emission rate during scaling when ξ is restricted to the only long strings, that such emission happens either directly or via loops, and that eq. (2.3) reproduces the effective string tension μ_L even at small log for a fixed choice of η .⁶⁴

We now discuss the details for fat and physical strings separately. For the fat string system, shown in figure 7 (left), the agreement between Γ and $\Gamma_a + \Gamma_r$ is excellent and η is fixed precisely. The value of η selected by the fit (in which we consider only log > 4 data and, as mentioned, we evaluate Γ using $f_L = 0.84$), is $\sqrt{4\pi\eta} \simeq 0.95$. This is close to $1/\sqrt{4\pi}$, which is the value this parameter would get if all the long strings were straight and parallel to each other.⁶⁵ Although such η reproduces the emission, we assign to it a conservative 15%

 $^{^{64}}$ Another approach to measure the string tension would be by subtracting the energy in waves, as was done in [27], which leads to compatible results.

⁶⁵This is seen requiring that the argument of the log in eq. (2.3) equals the inter-string distance in units of m_r^{-1} .

uncertainty, i.e $\sqrt{4\pi}\eta_{\text{fat}} = 0.95(15)$. This uncertainty is estimated by looking at how much the ratio $(\Gamma_a + \Gamma_r)/\Gamma$ varies with log for different choices of η : as shown in figure 8, if $\sqrt{4\pi}\eta$ is outside the range $0.8 \div 1.1$ the ratio is not constant, suggesting that the choice of this parameter outside this range is not appropriate to describe the emission.⁶⁶⁶⁷ Notice that the agreement between Γ and $\Gamma_a + \Gamma_r$ for the value of $f_L = 0.84$ extracted from the jump of loop distribution is remarkable, and is a particularly convincing confirmation of the theoretical discussion above. Even more remarkably, leaving both η and f_L as free parameters in the fit $(\Gamma_a + \Gamma_r)/\Gamma = 1$ provides a similar value of η and a value of f_L that differs by less than 1% from the one extracted from the loop distribution. Notice also that, as mentioned in section 2, and shown more in detail in [27], radial modes are still produced (i.e. $\Gamma_r \neq 0$), though increasingly less with respect to axions (i.e. Γ_r/Γ_a diminishes), and it is indeed the sum $\Gamma_a + \Gamma_r$ that reproduces Γ .

The results for the physical system are shown in figure 7 (right), where we calculate the derivative averaging over $\Delta \log = 0.1$ (shaded lines) and over $\Delta \log = 0.4$ (solid lines). For such a system some fluctuations are visible, and are particularly evident at early times and with the smaller time averaging. As already noted in [27], these are related to parametric resonance effects between the axion and radial modes, and possibly to the emission from excited string cores due to imperfect initial conditions.⁶⁸ As the value of f_L is not known for physical strings, in the fit $(\Gamma_a + \Gamma_r)/\Gamma = 1$ (done for log > 4.5) both the parameters η and f_L are allowed to vary. The best fit values correspond to $f_L \simeq 0.9$ and $\sqrt{4\pi\eta} \simeq 0.7$, which are those for which we evaluate Γ in figure 7 (right). As expected, the fit selects $f_L < 1$, and the parameters f_L and η turn out to be remarkably very close to the fat string values. As shown in figure 7 (right), despite the fluctuations, for such values of η and f_L the ratio $(\Gamma_a + \Gamma_r)/\Gamma$ is in average close to unity at all times. The large fluctuations however lead to a greater uncertainty on the actual value of η that reproduces the emission. Similarly to the fat string system, we estimate this uncertainty by varying η and looking at the impact on Γ . As is clear from figure 8 (right), all the η 's in the range $0.4 \div 1.5$ give an approximately constant ratio, while if they are outside this range the ratio starts tilting. We can take this range as a conservative estimate for $\eta_{\rm phys}$.

As in the fat system, the production of radial modes is non-negligible. However the fluctuations make the time evolution of Γ_r/Γ_a more unclear than in the fat string system. Notice that such radial modes are mildly relativistic (in particular, $z \simeq 3.3$ in the whole time range; this turns out to be an essential information for getting a $\Gamma_r \neq 0$ from $R^{-z} \frac{d}{dt} (R^z \rho_r)$).

Let us now discuss the GW emission Γ_g and r, defined in eq. (3.6). As mentioned in section 3.3, the uncertainty on η translates into an uncertainty on the string tension μ_{eff} (more precisely on μ_L ; we discuss later the contribution of ρ_s^{loops} to ρ_s). This uncertainty also affects the value of μ_{th} to be used in the calculation of $r_{\text{sim}} \equiv f_a^2 \Gamma_g / (G \mu_{\text{th}}^2 \Gamma)$ defined in section 3.3.⁶⁹ In figure 8 we show the value of r_{sim} from different η 's chosen in the ranges mentioned above (note that η enters both in μ_{th} and in Γ). Remarkably, the best fit value of η selected by the above discussion leads a constant r_{sim} . As described in the main text, this matches the expectation from the Nambu-Goto effective theory, further confirms that the

⁶⁶Note that indeed the definition of long strings is not completely fixed (and so f_L), so in principle one can just require the ratio to be a constant close to one rather than exactly one.

⁶⁷For the fat string time derivatives are done averaging over $\Delta \log = 0.2$.

⁶⁸These effects are clearly visible in the axion instantaneous emission spectrum as studied in [27], which has large oscillations at around the string core scale.

⁶⁹As in the main text, Γ_g is calculated by averaging the time derivative of ρ_g over $\Delta \log = 0.2$, which is already consistent with the continuum limit.



Figure 9. The dependence of $f_a^2 \Gamma_g / (G \mu_{\text{th}}^2 \Gamma)$ on the parameter η , which enters the string tension μ_{th} for the fat (left) and physical (right) string systems. We plot results for the range of η compatible with the measured instantaneous energy emitted to axions and radial modes of figure 8. For the value of η Across this range, the plotted ratio approaches a constant value, as is expected from the theoretical analysis in section 3.1.

value of η reproduces the string tension and ensures the energy emitted into GWs can safely be extrapolated to large log. As expected, larger (smaller) values of η lead to an increasing (decreasing) $r_{\rm sim}$, which however tends asymptotically to the same constant. Although the best fit values of η lead to a constant $r_{\rm sim}$, we conservatively estimate the uncertainty on r from the one on η by varying $\eta_{\rm fat}$ and $\eta_{\rm phys}$ in the intervals mentioned before for which $(\Gamma_a + \Gamma_r)/\Gamma$ is constant, and considering the range in which $r_{\rm sim}$ varies at the largest available log = 7.4 for such η 's. For instance, $r_{\rm phys}$ ranges in the interval $0.17 \div 0.34$.⁷⁰

The discussion above confirms that the tension of long strings μ_L is reproduced by $\mu_{\rm th}$, i.e. $\rho_s^L = \xi_L \mu_{\rm th}/t^2$, with the η fixed as before. As mentioned at the beginning, the energy density in strings $\rho_s = \rho_s^L + \rho_s^{\rm loops}$ however contains also the contribution from loops $\rho_s^{\rm loops}$. This in principle changes ρ_s and therefore could make the effective string tension $\mu_{\rm eff}$ not match $\mu_{\rm th}$ anymore for the same value of η (note that $\mu_{\rm eff}$ — and not μ_L — is the one determining the GW emission, as GWs are emitted both from long strings and from loops, and therefore should be the one that leads to a constant $r = f_a^2 \Gamma_g / (G \mu^2 \Gamma_a)$, since Γ_g is the *total* GW emission rate).

First, we expect a possible overall (constant, see [27]) factor on the total string tension μ_{eff} due to the non-trivial boost factor of loops but, as mentioned in footnote 17 in section 3.3, this gives an overall correction to μ_{th} and could be simply reabsorbed in the definition of r. In particular, Γ_g defined in eq. (3.6) with r extracted from figure 1 still provides the correct large log behaviour of the emission.

Moreover, the fact that η predicted by long strings works well in providing a constant r suggests that even the time dependence of μ_{eff} is close to that of μ_{th} with the same value of η (or that, alternatively, most of the GW emission is from long strings).⁷¹⁷²

⁷⁰Notice that strictly speaking $\Gamma_a = \xi_L \mu_{\rm th}/t^3$ at large log (rather than $\Gamma_a = \xi \mu_{\rm th}/t^3$). This makes the extraction of the numerical value of r from $r_{\rm sim}$ a factor of f_L^{-1} larger and Γ_a a factor of f_L smaller than what mentioned in the main text, leaving in any case the GW emission rate Γ_g in eq. (3.6) invariant.

⁷¹The fact that the effective tension of the strings is close to $\mu_{\rm th}$ with $\eta \approx 1/\sqrt{4\pi}$ is also suggested by the direct measurement of the string tension in [27].

⁷²During the scaling regime, the loop distribution is scale invariant, i.e. contains a fixed number of loops per decade of loop length, for lengths between the IR and UV cutoffs $\simeq H^{-1}$ and $\simeq m_r^{-1}$ (see [27] for more details). For such a distribution the energy takes the form $(\xi - \xi_L)\pi f_a^2 \log(m_r/H\eta')/t^2$, where η' is a (possibly time-dependent) parameter that depends on the precise location of the cut-offs in units of H^{-1} and m_r^{-1} .



Figure 10. The normalised instantaneous emission spectrum (left) and the total spectrum of GWs in simulations (right) for the fat string system. The key features match those of the physical system plotted in figure 3.



Figure 11. The time-evolution of the power-law q of the instantaneous GW spectrum $F_g[x, y] \propto 1/x^q$ for the fat (left) and physical (right) string systems. In both cases after log = 5 the values are approximately constant (and compatible with 2). For smaller times the GW spectrum fluctuates and has no definite power law.

We finally comment on the validity of this picture at larger values of log. If the loops become very long lived, the energy could be radiated less efficiently from loops into radiation, therefore the total emission rate will be enhanced with respect to the energy lost by long strings in eq. (C.1) (i.e. $\Gamma_a + \Gamma_r > \Gamma$). Indeed, in the limit of infinite oscillations the loop energy density will redshift as R^{-3} , which diminishes slower than R^{-4} , which is the rate at which the energy would decrease if it were immediately radiated into axions. Although we do not see a sign of this in the simulation between log = 4 and log = 8, we cannot exclude this possibility at very large log. If this is the case, this would enhance most likely the axion and GW emission, and our predictions would still be reliable lower bounds.

[[]To show this, notice that for such a distribution the number of loops per unit length and unit volume is $dn_{\ell}/d\ell = 4H^3(\xi - \xi_L)/\ell$ and the energy of a loop of length ℓ is $E_{\ell} = \pi f_a^2 \log(m_r \ell)$. The mentioned energy density follows from $\int_{m_r^{-1}}^{H^{-1}} d\ell E_{\ell} dn_{\ell}/d\ell$ in the limit $m_r \gg H$.] This formula implies $\rho_s^{\text{loops}} \approx (\xi - \xi_L)\mu_{\text{th}}/t^2$ (except for the value of η'), which justifies why μ_{eff} in eq. (2.2) is approximated by μ_{th} , at least at large log. We stress in any case that the precise form of ρ_s^{loops} is still uncertain as we do not have complete control of the cutoffs of the loop distribution and of the boost factors of the loops, which could change the formula above.



Figure 12. The total GW spectrum for the fat (left) and physical (right) string networks. The results are identical to those in figures 3 and 10 except without the \log^4 normalisation. The growth of the spectrum is clear in both cases.

The GW spectrum. Finally, we give more details on the GW spectrum $\partial \rho_g / \partial k$. To extract $\partial \rho_g / \partial k$ in the simulation we used its explicit expression in terms of $\dot{u}_{ij}(\vec{k})$ defined in eq. (B.2), easily derived from its definition $\int dk \partial \rho_g / \partial k \equiv T_g^{00} = (32\pi G)^{-1} \langle h_{ij} \dot{h}_{ij} \rangle$, see e.g. eq. (29) in [153]. From $\partial \rho_g / \partial k$ we calculate the instantaneous emission spectrum F_g defined in eq. (3.7) as (we calculate the time derivatives numerically considering $\Delta \log = 0.2$)

$$F_g\left[\frac{k}{H}, \frac{m_r}{H}\right] = \frac{H/\Gamma_g}{R^3} \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \left(R^3 \frac{\partial \rho_g}{\partial k}\right) \,. \tag{C.2}$$

In figure 10 we plot $\partial \rho_g / \partial k$ and $F_g[x, y]$ for the fat string system. Both these observables have similar features to the physical system, shown in figure 3. In particular, the approximate power law $q \simeq 2$ is reproduced and is time-independent. As a further study, in figure 11 we show the best fit value for the slope of F_g in the momentum range $30H < k < m_r/4$. As mentioned in section 3.3, given that q is safely above 1 (and appears constant), we do not analyse further its time-dependence and the possible dependence of the fitted value of the slope on the momentum range.⁷³ Although already clear from the previous plots, to show explicitly the time-dependence of the spectrum we also plot the total GW spectrum without the \log^4 normalisation in figure 12 for the fat and physical system.

C.2 GW backreaction on the strings

In this appendix we discuss the GW backreaction on the string network in the physical system of eq. (2.1) by solving the coupled eqs. (3.10) and (B.1) (including the backreaction term $R^{-2}h_{ij}\partial_i\partial_j\phi$ in the left hand side of this last equation). As mentioned in appendix B, this is numerically expensive as requires to perform FT and anti-FT every time step, and we therefore limit ourselves to small 800³ grids that can explore values of log < 6.⁷⁴

The theoretical discussion of section 3 suggests that the (evolving) effective parameter controlling the relevance of the GW backreaction on the string network during scaling is $G\mu^2/f_a^2 = \pi/8(f_a \log/M_{\rm P})^2$ (as in the main text, $M_{\rm P} = 1/\sqrt{8\pi G}$). Numerical simulations will confirm this expectation. In particular we will see that, as long as $G\mu^2/f_a^2 \lesssim 0.5$ (corresponding to $f_a \lesssim M_{\rm P}/\log$), (a) gravity is always in the perturbative regime and (b)

⁷³Such detail is more important for the power law of the axion instantaneous spectrum since it changes with the log.

⁷⁴Similarly to the simulations in the main text, this corresponds at the time when HL = 1.5 for $m_r \Delta = 1$.



Figure 13. The evolution of the average square value of the GW field $\langle h \rangle \equiv \langle h_{ij} h_{ij} \rangle^{1/2}$ for different values of $f_a/M_{\rm P}$, and in the limit $f_a/M_P \to 0$ normalised to the theoretical expectation for the string tension squared $\mu_{\rm th}^2$ (left). We also show the relative deviation of $\langle h \rangle$ for different non-zero $f_a/M_{\rm P}$ from its value for $f_a/M_P \to 0$ (right). On the *x*-axis we plot $G\xi^{1/2}\mu_{\rm th}^{3/2}/f_a$, which is the parameter expected to control the deviation of $\langle h \rangle$.

the effects of the GWs on the properties of the string network (e.g. ξ and ρ_a) is smaller than few percent. Therefore the backreaction is relevant only for $f_a \gtrsim M_{\rm P}/\log$ which is well beyond the region allowed by the bounds in figure 5. A detailed analysis of the impact of the backreaction is therefore not necessary (and, as mentioned, we did not include the backreaction in the simulations presented the main text).

First, notice that the equations of motion (3.10) and (B.1) depend only on the dimensionless ratio $f_a/M_{\rm P}$.⁷⁵ We evolve these equations for fat strings and different values of $f_a/M_{\rm P} = 0.05, 0.1, 0.2, 0.3, 0.4$, for the same set of initial conditions (similar to those in figure 6), as well as in the limit $f_a/M_{\rm P} \rightarrow 0$, i.e. not taking into account the backreaction term in eq. (B.1). In figure 13 (left) we show the evolution of the average square value of the GW field $\langle h \rangle \equiv \langle h_{ij} h_{ij} \rangle^{1/2}$ in the limit $f_a/M_{\rm P} \rightarrow 0$. As expected from the form of the instantaneous GW emission in eq. (3.6) and of the energy density in GWs, $\langle h \rangle$ is of order $f_a^2/M_{\rm P}^2$ for log = $\mathcal{O}(1)$ and increases proportionally to log² (up to subleading corrections).

Figure 13 (right) and figure 14 show the effect of a finite value of $f_a/M_{\rm P}$ on $\langle h \rangle$, ξ and ρ_a by plotting the time evolution of these observables for different values of $f_a/M_{\rm P}$, normalised to their value in the absence of backreaction. To make the role of the effective parameter $G\mu^2/f_a^2$ manifest, we trade $\log(m_r/H)$ with $G\mu_{\rm th}^2/f_a^2 = \pi/8f_a^2/M_{\rm P}^2\log(m_r/H\eta/\sqrt{\xi})$ in the *x*-axis.⁷⁶ For a non-zero value of $f_a/M_{\rm P}$, the quantities $\langle h \rangle/(f_a^2/M_{\rm P}^2)$ and ξ increase with respect to their value in the limit $f_a/M_{\rm P} \to 0$, while ρ_a decreases. Indeed, as expected, more energy is transferred to GWs rather than to axions, making h_{ij} larger and ρ_a smaller. Crucially, the deviation of these observables from their value at $f_a/M_{\rm P} \to 0$ is controlled by the combination $G\mu_{\rm th}^2/f_a^2$, rather than by log and $f_a/M_{\rm P}$ separately. Indeed, simulations with different value of $f_a/M_{\rm P}$ present the same deviation at a different value of log but at the same $G\mu_{\rm th}^2/f_a^2$, as suggested by the fact that the lines overlap in figure 14.

When $G\mu_{\rm th}^2/f_a^2 \simeq 0.5$ the numerical evolution of the equations of motion breaks down for all $f_a/M_{\rm P}$,⁷⁷ signalling that the linear approximation of the Einstein equations is not valid, and the full general relativity description should be used. We therefore show the results for $\langle h \rangle$, ξ and ρ_a until the evolution makes sense, with a filled circle at the time when the

 $^{^{75}\}text{This}$ can be seen by redefining $\phi \to \phi f_a$ and $h_{ij} \to h_{ij} f_a^2/M_{\rm P}^2$ in such equations.

⁷⁶We fix the same value of η as in the main text.

 $^{^{77}}$ This is seen by the non-convergence of the numerical algorithm that integrates eqs. (3.10) and (B.1).



Figure 14. The evolution of ξ and ρ_a for different values of $f_a/M_{\rm P}$, normalised to their value in the limit $f_a/M_{\rm P} \to 0$ (i.e. without GW backreaction, as in the main sections). We plot $G\mu_{\rm th}^2/f_a^2$ rather than $\log(m_r/H)$ on the *x*-axis to highlight that the deviations of these observables from GW backreaction depend on the effective (evolving) parameter $G\mu_{\rm eff}^2/f_a^2$. The filled circles correspond to the time when the numerical evolution of the linear approximation of the Einstein equations breaks down, and at this point $G\mu_{\rm eff}^2/f_a^2 \simeq 0.5$. For smaller values of this parameter, the linear approximation is valid and the observables deviate by less than few percent from their value in the $f_a/M_{\rm P} \to 0$ limit.

numerical evolution breaks. From figure 13, it is easy to see that this value of $G\mu_{\rm th}^2/f_a^2$ corresponds to $\langle h \rangle \simeq 0.1$ (the local value of h_{ij} will be larger than this). Moreover, at this value of $G\mu_{\rm th}^2/f_a^2$, the observables ξ and ρ_a have changed only of a few percent with respect to their value in the absence of backreaction. This suggests that a dramatic change of the evolution of the network can be only captured by the full general relativity description of the system.

The decrease in energy in axions seen for non-zero $f_a/M_{\rm P}$ in figure 14 left is quantitatively consistent with the energy that is found to be in gravitational waves, and therefore the value of r obtained in section 3.3 (there is a small increase in the sum of the energy in all components as f_a increases, which is expected since the effect of backreaction is to slightly increase ξ , as seen in figure 14, right).

We observe that, while the dependence on the parameter $G\mu_{\rm th}^2/f_a^2$ has only been tested for small logs and relatively large values of $f_a/M_{\rm P}$, the theoretical discussion in section 3 allows to extrapolate the results of figure 13 and 14 also at large logs (and smaller $f_a/M_{\rm P}$), in particular ensuring that the GW backreaction is negligible for all f_a in figure 5, despite the large log. Finally notice that, as the evolution of the system is not known for $f_a \gtrsim M_{\rm P}/\log$, there are in principle two orders of magnitude of f_a below $M_{\rm P}$ for which the bounds in figure 5 do not apply, and a complete general relativity reanalysis would be needed.

C.3 Analysis of systematics

It is essential that systematic uncertainties from simulations are under control if their results are to be reliable. The most important sources of systematic errors come from the lattice spacing Δ and the number of Hubble lengths in a box HL, where L is the physical box length. In [23, 27] it was shown that $HL \geq 1.5$ and $m_r\Delta \geq 1$ are accurate for ξ and most observables relevant to the axion emission. Here we will show that the same values of HLand Δ are accurate for the GW observables of interest as well, and we therefore use these for our main simulations. We fix the time step to be $a_{\tau} = a_c/3$ where a_{τ} , a_c are the comoving time and space steps respectively, which is small enough to introduce a negligible error in all quantities [23].



Figure 15. The dependence on the lattice spacing $m_r \Delta$ of the energy emission rate into GWs (left), and of the GW instantaneous emission spectrum, plotted at log = 6.6 (right). Data is shown for $m_r \Delta = 1$ and also for a finer lattice with $m_r \Delta = 0.67$. The agreement between the two data sets indicates that $m_r \Delta = 1$ does not introduce significant systematic uncertainties (in particular, they are smaller than the statistical fluctuations in our main data set).

In particular, we analyse the effect of $m_r \Delta$ and HL on two of the most important observables: the fraction of energy going into GWs, defined by $r_{\rm sim}$, and the instantaneous GW emission spectrum, F_g . The latter is more sensitive to finite box size systematics than the total GW spectrum, which, even at the end of simulations when HL is small, includes emission from earlier times when HL was larger. In combination with the analysis of the effects on the axion observables described in [27], this assures us that the effects of systematics on the results in the main text are negligible.

In figure 15 we plot $r_{\rm sim} \equiv f_a^2 \Gamma_g / (G \mu_{\rm th}^2 \Gamma)$ and F_g for $m_r \Delta = 1$ and for the finer lattice spacing $m_r \Delta = 2/3$, both for the fat string system (the results is an average over 10 simulations; the grid sizes were taken equal in both cases so the finer lattice spacing simulations finish sooner). The only deviations between $r_{\rm sim}$ the two data sets are small statistical fluctuations at late times (when the number of independent Hubble patches is indeed smallest), and the form of F_g is consistent in both cases (as for the axion instantaneous spectrum F_a , a finer lattice spacing reduces the energy going into modes with momentum $k > m_r$, however it has no effect on the part of F_g from which we extract the spectral index q).

Similarly, in figure 16 we study the HL systematics. To do so we carried out a set of simulations on small grids, of size 800^3 , with smaller value of HL (but with otherwise identical properties as the main simulations, e.g. identical initial string density and also with $m_r\Delta = 1$). At a log such that $HL \simeq 1$ on the small grids, HL is safely $\gg 1$ on the large grid, enabling the finite volume effects to be easily identified. From figure 16 it is clear that $HL \gtrsim 1.5$ has no visible effect on the result for $r_{\rm sim}$. For smaller values of HL, the IR part of F_g starts being distorted, but the momentum range of interest for extracting the spectral index q (i.e. $k/H \gtrsim 10$) is unchanged.

C.4 The end of the scaling regime and nonlinear transient

In this appendix we give more details on the end of the scaling regime for a temperatureindependent axion mass. We will also study in more depth the non-conservation of the comoving number density of axons at $H \simeq H_{\star}$. Most of the discussion of this appendix builds on the material of section 3 of [27] and appendices D and E of the same reference, to which we refer for a more pedagogical presentation.



Figure 16. The effect of the finite box size L on the fraction of energy going into GWs, left, and the normalised GW instantaneous emission spectrum (plotted at log = 6.2), right. The two data sets are from simulations on different sized grids. The smaller grids reach $HL \simeq 1$ earlier, when there are many Hubble patches left in the larger simulations. The agreement between these two data sets up to when the smaller grid has HL = 1.5 indicates that $HL \ge 1.5$ does not lead to large systematic uncertainties in these quantities.



Figure 17. Left: the evolution of ξ for a non-zero constant axion mass at different $\log_{\star} \equiv \log (m_r/m_a)$ (solid lines), and for $m_a = 0$ throughout with the same initial condition (dashed lines). Independently of \log_{\star} , ξ is unaffected by the mass before $H = H_{\text{crit}} \equiv H_{\star}/3$. Right: the axion spectrum in the presence of the axion mass with $\log_{\star} = 5$ (upper lines) at different times labelled by H_{\star}/H , and for vanishing axion mass (lower lines, dashed). Before $H = H_{\text{crit}}$ the effect of the non-zero axion mass has on the spectrum is negligible.

End of the scaling regime. As mentioned in section 2, the axion potential becomes relevant in the evolution of the string system only for $H \leq H_{\star} \equiv m_a$, at which time a network of domain walls forms and destroys the string system. To determine precisely the critical value of H (which we call $H_{\rm crit}$) when the scaling regime starts getting affected by the axion potential, we evolve eq. (B.1) with the same initial conditions as in the main text for the fat string system, but with the additional term $-m_a^2 f_a^2/\sqrt{2}$, which corresponds to including the axion potential $V = m_a^2 f_a^2(1 - \cos(a/f_a))$ in the Lagrangian of eq. (2.1) (see appendix D of [27]). Notice that the dependence on m_a of the equations of motion enters only through the ratio m_a/m_r , and we therefore refer to different axion masses via the value of $\log(m_r/m_a) = \log(m_r/H_{\star}) \equiv \log_{\star}$.

In figure 17 (left) we show the time-evolution of ξ for different values of \log_{\star} , plotted as a function of H_{\star}/H , together with the evolution of the equations for $m_a = 0$ (dashed lines). In figure 17 (right) we also show the time-evolution of the axion spectrum $\partial \rho_a/\partial k$ for $\log_{\star} = 5$. It can be easily seen that for values of H larger than $H_{\text{crit}} \equiv H_{\star}/3$ both ξ and the axion spectrum are not significantly affected by the axion potential, as they closely follow the evolution for $m_a = 0$. For smaller values of H, ξ diminishes (as the network starts being destroyed) and the spectrum gets affected, starting from its IR part. Although the value of H_{crit} can be numerically studied only at small values of \log_{\star} , it is reasonable to expect that it will not change at larger \log_{\star} .

Nonlinear evolution of the axions waves. As mentioned in section 4.1, and explained in detail section 3 of [27], the axion waves produced up until H_{\star} have kinetic energy much larger than the potential energy at $H = H_{\star}$ (we momentarily assume that $H_{\text{crit}} = H_{\star}$, and discuss to the modification to a generic H_{crit} later).⁷⁸ This results in a period of relativistic redshift and a nonlinear transient, which implies a partial non-conservation of the comoving number density. However we now show that the number density non-conservation is small for the value of $\xi_{\star} \log_{\star}$ discussed in section 4.1 for a temperature-independent mass.

The number density after the nonlinear transient follows the analytic description and eq. (36) of [27] (evaluated for a constant axion mass, i.e. $\alpha = 0$). The corresponding number density non-conservation reads

$$\frac{n_a^{\rm st}}{n_a^{\rm st}|_{\rm linear}} = \frac{c_n c_V}{\frac{8\pi\xi_\star \log_\star}{x_{0,a}}} \left[\frac{W_{-1} \left(-\frac{c_V}{2\pi\xi_\star \log_\star} \left(\frac{x_{0,a}}{c_m} \right)^4 \right)}{-\frac{c_V}{2\pi\xi_\star \log_\star}} \right]^{\frac{3}{4}}$$
(C.3)

$$= \frac{c_n c_V}{\frac{8\pi\xi_\star \log_\star}{x_{0,a}}} \left[2\pi\xi_\star \log_\star \log\left(\frac{2\pi\xi_\star \log_\star}{c_V} \left(\frac{c_m}{x_{0,a}}\right)^4\right) \right]^{\frac{3}{4}}, \qquad (C.4)$$

where W_k is the Lambert W-function evaluated on the k-th Riemann sheet and in the second equality we expanded W_{-1} for large negative values of its argument. The coefficients c_m , c_V , c_n have been extracted in [27] by fitting eq. (C.3) with the number density obtained from the numerical evolution of

$$\ddot{a} + 3H\dot{a} - R^{-2}\nabla^2 a + m_a^2 f_a \sin(a/f_a) = 0, \qquad (C.5)$$

with $m_a = H_{\star}(H_{\star}/H)^{\alpha/4}$ and $\alpha = 4, 6, 8$, with initial conditions (at $H = H_{\star}$) given by a superposition of axion waves with energy density spectrum $\partial \rho_a / \partial k$ from the (reconstructed) scaling regime at $H = H_{\star}$ (see [27] and the following eq. (C.6) for the explicit expression of the initial conditions). Note that such simulations (that include only the axion field) can study directly the physical point (i.e. without extrapolation, unlike simulations of the physical system in (2.1), which must include modes with $k \simeq m_r$).⁷⁹

Let us now discuss what changes if $H_{\rm crit} < H_{\star}$. In this case the number density at $H = H_{\rm crit}$ is approximately $n_a = 8\pi\xi_{\star}\log_{\star}H_{\rm crit}f_a^2/x_{0,a}$.⁸⁰ If this number density is thought as

 $^{^{78}}$ Recently it has been claimed that this cannot be true because the compactness of the axion field bounds the energy that can be stored in low momentum modes [155]. In fact, the periodicity of the axion only affects the zero-mode: all the other modes can be populated by arbitrarily large amplitudes.

⁷⁹The coefficients read $c_m = 2.40$, $c_V = 0.12$, $c_n = 1.20$ and $c_m = 2.08$, $c_V = 0.13$, $c_n = 1.35$, respectively for an initial axion energy density spectrum given by the convolution of F_a sharp IR cutoff at $x = x_{0,a}$ and a more physical form as described in [27] (in both cases with $q_a = 5$).

⁸⁰As defined in section 4.1, the number density is $n_a^{\text{st}} \equiv \int dk \partial \rho_a / \partial k$, and can be approximated with $\rho_{\text{IR}}/(x_{0,a}H)$ during the scaling regime (up until H_{crit}), where $\rho_{\text{IR}} = 8\pi f_a^2 \xi \log H^2$ is the energy density in IR modes. The difference $\xi_{\star} \log_{\star}$ from $\xi_{\text{crit}} \log_{\text{crit}}$ is insignificant with respect to the change in H.



Figure 18. The evolution of the comoving number density of the axions (produced during the scaling regime) through the nonlinear transient that occurs when the axion potential becomes cosmologically relevant. The initial conditions are set at $H = H_{\rm crit} = H_{\star}/3$ to be a superposition of axion waves with the energy density spectrum $\partial \rho_a / \partial k$ from the (reconstructed) scaling regime at $H = H_{\rm crit}$ (see [27]). For $\xi_{\star} \log_{\star} \lesssim 3000$ (which are the relevant values for ultralight axions) the number density non-conservation is at most 20%, and was therefore neglected in the derivation of $\Omega_a^{\rm st}$ of section 4.1.

coming from an axion field at $H = H_{\star}$ (which redshifts relativistically from H_{\star} to $H_{\rm crit}$), such a field has the same energy density spectrum $\partial \rho_a / \partial k|_{\star}$ but with $x_{0,a} \to x_{0,a} (H_{\rm crit}/H_{\star})^{1/2} = x_{0,a}/\sqrt{3}$ (i.e. an IR cutoff smaller by $\sqrt{3}$).⁸¹ To evaluate the suppression of the number density for $H_{\rm crit} < H_{\star}$ we can therefore use eq. (C.3) with $x_{0,a} \to x_{0,a}/\sqrt{3}$, which gives a 20% non-conservation of the comoving number density for $\xi_{\star} \log_{\star} = 3000$ (and $x_{0,a} = 10$).⁸²

In support of this, in figure 18 we also show the evolution of the comoving number density for different values of $\xi_{\star} \log_{\star}$ from the numerical evolution of the equation of motion (C.5). The set up of the simulations is explained in [27], to which we refer for the details. As in [27], we start from $H = H_{\text{crit}} = H_{\star}/3$ with initial conditions given by an axion field made of a random superposition of waves with the energy density spectrum of the scaling regime at $H = H_{\text{crit}}$, i.e. (for $k > k_0 \equiv x_{0,a}H_{\text{crit}}$)

$$\frac{\partial \rho_a}{\partial k}(t_{\rm crit},k) = \frac{8\xi_\star \mu_\star H_{\rm crit}^2}{k} \left[\left(1 - 2\frac{\log(k/k_0)}{\log_\star} \right)^2 - \left(\frac{k_0}{k}\right)^{q_a - 1} + 4\frac{1 - 2\frac{\log(k/k_0)}{\log_\star} - \left(\frac{k_0}{k}\right)^{q_a - 1}}{(q_a - 1)\log_\star} + 8\frac{1 - \left(\frac{k_0}{k}\right)^{q_a - 1}}{(q_a - 1)^2\log_\star^2} \right],$$
(C.6)

which follows from eq. (3.8) with Γ_g replaced with Γ_a and F_g with F_a , and we assume $F_a \propto 1/x^{q_a}$ for $x > x_{0,a}$ and $q_a > 1$ (and $F_a = 0$ for $x < x_{0,a}$).⁸³ Notice from figure 18 that for values of $\xi_{\star} \log_{\star} = \mathcal{O}(10^3)$ the suppression is the predicted one, and for smaller values the conservation of the number density is even more accurate (and eq. (C.3) breaks).

⁸¹In particular, at $H = H_{\star}$ its (relativistic) number density will be enhanced by a factor $\sqrt{3}$ with respect to $8\pi\xi_{\star}\log_{\star}H_{\star}f_{a}^{2}/x_{0,a}$.

⁸²In doing this estimate we used a c_V that is $(1 - 1/q_a)^{-1} = 5/4$ larger than what mentioned before, in order to account for the fact that the coefficients have been extracted for $q_a = 5$ instead of $q \to \infty$ (which is the limit in which $n_a = 8\pi\xi \log / x_{0,a} f_a^2 H$ is valid.)

⁸³We used $q_a = 5$ and as mentioned $x_{0,a} = 10$.

Finally, for larger (not relevant, unless N > 1, see section 4.5) values of $\xi_{\star} \log_{\star}$ the nonconservation of the number density becomes substantial, and the relic density in eq. (4.1) must be multiplied by the suppression factor in eq. (C.3). In particular, as mentioned in the main text, $\Omega_a^{\text{st}} \propto (\xi_{\star} \log_{\star})^{3/4}$.

C.5 The density power spectrum

In this appendix we give more details on the determination of the power spectrum of axion overdensities $\Delta_a^2(k)$ defined in eq. (4.4), and discuss the uncertainties on this.

As described in section 4.3 and appendix C.4, we consider only the axion radiation emitted during the scaling regime up to $H = H_{\rm crit} = H_{\star}/3$. In particular, we neglect the strings and the domain walls that are present in the field at this time. The evolution of such radiation follows the axion equations of motion (C.5). Similarly to appendix C.4, we start at $H = H_{\rm crit}$ with initial conditions given by a superposition of waves with the axion spectrum $\partial \rho_a / \partial k$ from the extrapolated scaling solution (with $\xi_{\star} \log_{\star} = 2000$) in eq. (C.6).⁸⁴ As discussed in appendix C.4, the axion number density (and in general the dynamics of the IR part of this radiation) can be directly studied at the physical value of \log_{\star} in these simulations without the need of extrapolations (thanks to the absence of strings).

Such simulations capture the dynamics of axion field up the momentum mode $k_{\rm UV} \simeq NH_{\star}/(H_{\star}L_{\star})$ at H_{\star} , where N is the number of lattice points and $H_{\star}L_{\star}$ is the number of Hubble lengths in the box at this time. While most of the energy density of the field is not included in the simulations due to the almost scale invariant form of the energy density spectrum $\partial \rho_a/\partial k$ (see eq. (C.6)), the axion number density $n_a = \int dk/\omega_k \partial \rho_a/\partial k$ dominantly comes from IR modes, which are included (at $k > m_a$ the contribution to the number density from the mode k is proportional to k^{-2}). Consequently, the IR modes of the field also dominantly determine the axion dark matter power spectrum $\Delta_a^2(k)$ at least at IR momenta.⁸⁵

Since we are primarily interested in the coefficient of the k^3 IR part of the density power spectrum, the simulations are carried out starting with HL = 20 at $H_{\rm crit}$ so that modes with momentum down to $k/H_{\star} \simeq 0.2$ are included, giving a large enough momentum range for the k^3 slope to be present and C to be fit. Moreover, we set N = 1300, which is large enough that modes with $k/H_{\star} \simeq 200$ are included, corresponding to 95% of the number density. During the evolution of the field, we calculate the (discretized version of the) power spectrum as $\Delta_a^2(k) = k^3/(2\pi^2 L^3) \langle \tilde{\delta}^2(\vec{k}) \rangle|_{|\vec{k}|=k}$ where $\tilde{\delta}(k)$ is the Fourier Transform of $\delta(x)$ and $\langle \cdot \rangle|_{|\vec{k}|=k}$ stands for the average over the momenta with modulus \vec{k} .

In figure 19 left we show the results for $\Delta_a^2(k)$ at increasing times during the evolution of the system at $H < H_{\text{crit}}$ (as the mass becomes relevant), for the input spectrum in eq. (C.6) with $x_{0,a} = 10$. As expected, $\Delta_a^2(k)$ changes, in particular growing at scales $k_{\text{com}}/H_{\star} \simeq 10$. Thanks to the relatively large N used, the transient has finished and the axion energy in

⁸⁴Although this spectrum derives from a simplified form of f_a , we have confirmed that starting with a more realistic F_a (discussed in [27]) with the same $x_{0,a}$ but with an IR tail $F(x) \sim x^3$ for $x < x_{0,a}$ changes the fit of the constant C to the IR of Δ_k^2 by less than 20%, which is much smaller than the uncertainties we subsequently discuss.

⁸⁵In particular, the UV modes evolve freely without affecting the dynamics of the IR modes at any point including during the previously discussed non-linear transient [27]. Subsequently, the energy in the UV modes simply redshifts away leaving a negligible contribution to the DM abundance. The fact that simulations do not include the (large fraction of the total axion) energy that is such UV modes therefore does not introduce uncertainty in the power spectrum that we extract.



Figure 19. Left: the power spectrum Δ_a^2 , as a function of comoving momentum $k_{\rm com} \equiv k(R/R_{\star})$, during the evolution of the axion waves (produced during the scaling regime) when the axion mass becomes cosmologically relevant (blue), and at the final simulation time (black), after the nonlinear transient and once it has reached an approximately constant form. The simulation starts at H = $H_{\rm crit} = H_{\star}/3$ with waves with the energy density spectrum $\partial \rho_a / \partial k$ predicted from the scaling regime in eq. (C.6) at $\xi_{\star} \log_{\star} = 2000$ and $x_{0,a} = 10$. The green line is the result at the final time for a purely linear evolution. Right: the result of Δ_a^2 at the final time for different values of the IR cutoff of F_a , i.e. the parameter $x_{0,a}$, in the initial energy density spectrum.



Figure 20. The evolution of the power spectrum Δ_a^2 during the destruction of the string network at the unphysical value of $\log(m_r/H_{\star}) = 5$. See figure 17 for the corresponding evolution of ξ and the axion energy density spectrum at these times.

the simulation is redshifting non-relativistically by the end of the simulation.⁸⁶ As it is clear in figure 19, at this time the IR part of $\Delta_a^2(k)$ has reached a time-independent form. The UV part of $\Delta_a^2(k)$ is not fully constant, due to the presence of high momentum modes and oscillons (these contain only a small fraction of the total energy and will eventually decay into high momentum modes so will not alter the IR of the density power spectrum), and as mentioned in section 4.3 its understanding is beyond the scope of this paper.

The IR part of $\Delta_a^2(k)$ approaches the expected k^3 dependence, with coefficient $C \simeq 2 \times 10^5$ (defined in section 4.3). Note that even with a linear evolution (i.e. with potential

⁸⁶As discussed, in reality soon after H_{\star} a large fraction of the axion energy is in UV modes that are not captured by simulations. However, these continue to redshift until the energy they contain is negligible so the true power spectrum will eventually reach the form measured in simulations.

 $V = 1/2m_a^2 a^2$), $\Delta_a^2(k)$ would evolve simply due to modes turning non-relativistic. However the results we obtain differ from those with a linear potential due to the, previously discussed, relativistic redshift and the small non-linear transient. To understand the importance of these two effects, in figure 19 we also plot the Δ_a^2 that is obtained at the final simulation time evolving with a linear potential. From this is can be seen that the non-linear effects decrease $\Delta_a^2(k)$ by a factor of 4 in the IR. This is reasonable since the transient moves energy to higher momentum modes, and it is also not surprising that the effect is relatively small given that the transient only has a minor effect on the axion number density. Although we have fixed a potential of the form $V(a) = m_a^2 f_a^2 (1 - \cos(a/f_a))$ we expect any other bounded potential to lead to a similar $\Delta_a^2(k)$ (since the main effect of the non-linear potential on $\Delta_a^2(k)$ comes from the extra era of relativistic redshifting).

Let us discuss the possible uncertainties in C. One uncertainty comes from the value of the IR cutoff $x_{0,a}$ of F_a . As mentioned, at $\log \simeq 7 \div 8$ the value of $x_{0,a} = 10$ (as we have used) fits well the simulation results [27], with no evidence for a strong log dependence. Nevertheless, we cannot exclude that $x_{0,a}$ has a log dependence that is smaller than would be visible with current simulations (for instance the growth of ξ might increase $x_{0,a}$). In figure 19 (right) we plot $\Delta_a^2(k)$ with $x_{0,a}$ between 5 and 50, from which it can be seen that $x_{0,a} > 10$ decreases $\Delta_a^2(k)$ in the IR leading to a smaller C and a weaker limit via eq. (4.5). Decreasing $x_{0,a}$ below 10 actually barely affected the fitted C, since the non-linear transient has a greater effect in this case, removing energy from IR modes. For $x_{0,a}$ between 5 and 30, which we take as a plausible range, C varies by a factor of 20. For a fixed f_{iso} , the bound on $f_a \sim C^{1/4}$, so this leads to a 100% uncertainty on the limit on f_a . In figure 5, we correspondingly blur the limit above a lower edge corresponding to the constraint for $x_{0,a} = 10$ to reflect this uncertainty. Together these uncertainties mean that the isocurvature bounds that we plot should be treated with substantial caution as discussed in the main text.

Finally, as discussed in section 4.3, our analysis of density perturbations in DM axions from the scaling regime gives a conservative isocurvature bound, since it misses the DM axions produced by the network of strings and domain walls formed when the mass becomes cosmologically relevant. To get an idea of how much these could strengthen the bound, we also calculate Δ_a^2 from simulations of the string network through the mass turn on until its destruction at a small (unphysical) value of log_{*}, by numerically solving eq. (2.1) with an additional mass term, as in appendix C.4. Of course, such simulations are at small scale separations (i.e. small tension) and have no hope of accurately reproducing the dynamics of the system at the physical point, and our results are solely to give an indication of the possible magnitudes of effects. The various competing requirements in such simulations discussed in appendix F of [27] dramatically limit the value of log_{*}, and the results we show are for log_{*} = 5.⁸⁷

The results for Δ_a^2 are shown in figure 20 at increasing times until the network is destroyed (see figure 17 for the behaviour of ξ and the axion energy density spectrum at the corresponding times). Given the more challenging simulations, the minimum values of $k_{\rm com}/H_{\star}$ (where $k_{\rm com} = k(R/R_{\star}) = k(H_{\star}/H)^{1/2}$ is the comoving momentum) are larger than in simulations in which only the axion field is evolved. Nevertheless, the expected k^3 IR power law is reproduced and in this momentum region Δ_a^2 is time independent after the network disappears. The coefficient $C \simeq 5 \times 10^{-2}$ is much larger than in the axion only

⁸⁷These requirements include, in particular, the lattice spacing $\leq m_r^{-1}$, a large enough hierarchy between axion and radial model mass, and that HL is sufficiently large that the k^3 IR part of the density power spectrum can be fit once Δ_a^2 has reached a constant form in the IR part.

simulations (this is perhaps not surprising, since at $H = H_{\rm crit}$ most of the string length is in long strings, which are expected to lead to fluctuations on Hubble scales).⁸⁸ Similar results have been observed in analogous simulations where the axion mass has nontrivial temperature-dependence. This has been studied for the first time in [55], where a detailed analysis of the power spectrum (at all momenta) has been carried out at small \log_{\star} for the QCD axion.⁸⁹

It is plausible that the slope of the k^3 tail may be similar at large values of \log_{\star} , and if the relic abundance of axions from the destruction of the network is comparable to (or larger than) that from scaling, the isocurvature constraint would be significantly strengthened. For instance, assuming equal DM abundance from the waves produced during the scaling regime and from the destruction of the network, and $C \simeq 5 \times 10^{-2}$, using eq. (4.5) for a fixed m_a the bound on f_a figure 5 would strengthen by a factor of 7, ruling out large parts of the ranges of f_a and m_a that could be detected at SKA. As mentioned in the main text, even if the true Cfrom the destruction of the network at large tension is small, if the DM abundance is larger than that produced during scaling the isocurvature limit can also strengthen, owing to the DM abundance factor in eq. (4.5).

D GWs from the nonlinear transient and oscillons

As mentioned, we refrain from attempting to calculate the contribution to the GW background from the collapse of the system of strings and domain walls at $H \simeq m_a$, since the dynamics of this system is yet not fully understood. One contribution to the GW spectrum from this collapse is expected to lie at frequencies and amplitudes of the same order as the last *e*-folding of the scaling regime, as already pointed out in [102] (where numerical simulations at small scale separations have been carried out). As described in section 3.4, such a contribution has a too low frequency for ultralight axions (for the masses that are not excluded by DM overproduction) and a too small amplitude for the QCD axion, for which $f_a \leq 10^{10}$ GeV (but in principle at frequencies that are under investigation) to be observed.

As we will now explain, there could be an additional source of observable GWs in this system. As discussed in section 4.1 and in more detail in [27], the axion waves (accumulated during the scaling regime) experience a period of relativistic redshift after at $H \simeq m_a$ and a small nonlinear transient. During the nonlinear transient, the field is a superposition of waves containing (topologically trivial) domain walls that decay rapidly into axions. After the transient, the axion field is mostly in the linear regime (settling down to a = 0), except in small regions called oscillons where it oscillates with an amplitude of order f_a . If the evolution of the axion waves were purely linear, the axion waves would not produce GWs [156]. However, the existence of a small nonlinear regime provides a possible source of GWs. Unfortunately, this contribution is again in amplitude and frequency of the same order as the last *e*-folding of the scaling regime, and therefore not observationally relevant both for ultralight axions and for the QCD axion.

This conclusion can be easily drawn by estimating the parametric dependence on f_a and H_{\star} of this contribution via quadrupole formula (valid in the nonrelativistic limit) applied to the topologically trivial domain walls. In any case, in figure 21 we show the full spectrum of GWs from the numerical evolution of the axion waves during the nonlinear regime, discussed

⁸⁸The UV part of Δ_a^2 is still evolving at the final simulation time, but the overall energy density is mostly in IR modes so the IR part of the density power spectrum will not change dramatically.

⁸⁹In particular, the power spectrum is also characterized by a peak related to the presence of oscillons.



Figure 21. The evolution of the GW spectrum generated during the nonlinear transient that the axion waves (emitted during the scaling regime) experience at the time $H \leq H_{\star}$, as a function of the (comoving) momentum. Increasing times are labelled by different values of H_{\star}/H . We show with a gray point the momentum corresponding to the axion mass. The overall redshift of the waves has been factored out in the plot by dividing the spectrum by H^2 .

in appendix E of [27]. We start with a configuration of waves with the energy density spectrum from the scaling regime with for $\log_{\star} = 65$, and we assume $m_a = R^{\alpha/2}$ with $\alpha = 8$, which is the case for the QCD axion (see section 3.2 in [27] for more details on the details of the evolution of these waves). It is immediate to see that the spectrum in figure 21 is peaked at momenta a few times larger than $k \simeq x_0 H_{\star}$ and is of the same order as the spectrum in eq. (3.9) evaluated at $H = H_{\star}$ (and $k = x_0 H_{\star}$). Moreover, most of the GWs are produced around the time $H/H_{\ell} \simeq 6$, when the potential energy equals the kinetic energy and the system becomes completely nonlinear (see [27]). At the final times the field is in the linear regime except for the presence of oscillons. Being spherical, oscillons do not contribute significantly to the GWs. Indeed, the GWs stop being produced after the nonlinear regime ends (at around $H_{\star}/H \simeq 10$), and are not produced during the subsequent times when oscillons are present.

Finally notice that the for a temperature-independent mass, the nonlinear regime is much milder, and the contribution to the GW spectrum is smaller (and, as mentioned, outside the detectable frequency range). Given the experimental irrelevance of the GWs from the nonlinear transient, we refrain from a more detailed analytical study.

E Other bounds

Black hole superradiance. Weakly interacting light particles can spontaneously draw energy out of black holes through the phenomenon of superradiance. The observation of spinning black hole that have not had their angular momentum removed by superradiance therefore constrains the axion parameter space [157–159]. Currently, axions in the mass range $10^{-16} \div 10^{-18}$ eV are in tension with observations, however sufficiently large self-interactions prevent superradiance so the constraints only apply to $f_a \gtrsim 10^{15}$ GeV, see [160] for a detailed analysis. In the post-inflationary scenario that we consider these limits are less important than that from the axion relic abundance. Other CMB bounds. Dark matter axions with masses ~ 10^{-25} eV are constrained by their effect on CMB observables independently of the presence of strings [161] (we note that the sensitivity of these observations could increase substantially in the future [162]). In the post-inflationary scenario these bounds are subdominant to the isocurvature constraints even with our most conservative assumption for the power spectrum of density perturbations. Additionally, a new approach to detecting strings that exist beyond the time of decoupling and are associated to an axion that interacts with photons has recently been proposed [163]. This is probably not relevant for strings that give the observable GW signals, since such long lived strings are likely to be in conflict with CMB anisotropy constraints for $f_a \gtrsim 10^{14}$ GeV.

F Comparison to the literature

In this appendix we first comment on the difference between our approach and previous works on GWs from global strings from the scaling regime.⁹⁰

- Refs. [166] and [52, 167] utilise a particular model of the string evolution (also known as one-scale velocity-dependent model) and the expressions for the rate of energy emission to GWs and axions (in the zero coupling limit, derived in [38, 39]) to calculate the GW spectrum from the loops produced during the scaling regime. Such references correctly reproduce the logarithmic deviation of the GW spectrum due to the logarithmic time-dependence of the tension. In particular, the resulting \log^3 dependence on the momentum (and the corresponding enhancement of the spectrum) has been already pointed out in [52]. However, as such a model does not seem to always reproduce the logarithmic increase in ξ , the corresponding increase in the GW spectrum has not been captured.
- Refs. [168, 169] extract the GW spectrum directly from numerical simulations of physical systems similar to that in eq. (2.1) at small log, without any extrapolation. These references claim that the GW spectrum asymptotes to an *exactly* scale invariant form. However, as is clear from section 3, this is in contradiction with conservation of energy and effective field theory, and also with our simulation results. Indeed, the spectrum results in [169] appear to show a residual time increase (and not an exactly scale invariant form).

We also observe that the original analysis of isocurvature perturbation of section 4.3 has been developed for the QCD axion [82] and axion-like particles in [83, 84]. However, compared to these works we differ in our expression for the relic abundance, in the power spectrum that we use (which we obtain from simulations of the string network rather than motivated by misalignment production) and in allowing the axion to comprise a subdominant fraction of the dark matter. We also apply constraints on isocurvature from Lyman- α observations. These were derived in the context of primordial black hole dark matter models and extended to axion string scenario in [87] (our analysis differs from this work again in our calculation of the relic abundance and in the density power spectrum that we use).

 $^{^{90}}$ There has also been some work on GW signals from axions in the pre-inflationary scenario [164, 165], which can arise if there the an axion is coupled to a light hidden sector gauge boson.

G Cosmological stability of the axions and temperature dependent masses

In this appendix we show that all generic axions that lead to observable GW signals and are not ruled out by the constraints of section 4 are cosmologically stable, and that also a temperature-dependent mass forces the axions to be ultralight.

As discussed in section 3.4 and visible in figure 4, for a temperature-independent axion mass GWs in the observable frequency range are only possible for $f_a \gtrsim 10^{14}$ GeV and $m_a \lesssim$ 100 keV so that the string network is not destroyed before $T_{\star} \simeq 10^7$ GeV. In this case the axion is always stable on cosmological timescales regardless of its interactions. For example, the axion might have an interaction with photons of the form [72]

$$\mathcal{L} \supset -C \frac{\alpha_{\rm EM}}{8\pi f_a} a F_{\mu\nu} \tilde{F}^{\mu\nu} \,, \tag{G.1}$$

which allows decays, where $F_{\mu\nu}$ is the electromagnetic field strength with associated coupling constant $\alpha_{\rm EM}$, and the coefficient C is model-dependent and expected to be not much larger than order one for the theory to be perturbative. However, denoting the temperature of the universe when $H = m_a$ by T_{\star} the corresponding lifetime

$$\Gamma_{a \to \gamma\gamma}^{-1} = \frac{1}{C^2} \left(\frac{\text{MeV}}{m_a}\right)^3 \left(\frac{f_a}{10^{14} \text{ GeV}}\right)^2 10^{21} \text{ s}$$
(G.2)

$$= \frac{1}{C^2} \left(\frac{6 \times 10^7 \text{ GeV}}{T_{\star}} \right)^6 \left(\frac{f_a}{10^{14} \text{ GeV}} \right)^2 10^{21} \text{ s}, \qquad (G.3)$$

exceeds the age of the Universe for all the decay constants of interest and for axion masses $m_a \leq \text{MeV}$, and in particular $m_a \leq 100 \text{ keV}$. If the axion is sufficiently heavy and has suitable interactions it could also decay to leptons or hadrons, or hidden sector particles. However, these channels (or similar decays into hidden sector states) are not expected to significantly shorten the axion lifetime compared to that corresponding to the only photon coupling and do not change the conclusion.

As mentioned in section 4, a temperature-dependent mass does not relax the constraints in figure 3.4 on f_a and $m_a(0)$ that lead to observable GWs, and still force the axion to be ultralight. To see this, we assume for simplicity that the axion mass dependence on temperature is $m_a(T) \simeq \Lambda^2/f_a \equiv m_a(0)$ for $T < \Lambda$ and $m_a(T) \leq m_a(0)$ for $T > \Lambda$, where Λ is the strong coupling scale of a new sector, which happens in typical models (for $T \gg \Lambda$ the dependence is a power law but not relevant for our present argument).

As mentioned above, the conditions for the GWs to be observable are $f_a \gtrsim 10^{14} \text{ GeV}$ and $T_{\star} \lesssim 10^7 \text{ GeV}$. If $T_{\star} < \Lambda$, then as far as the cosmological evolution of the string network and axions are concerned the axion mass is constant and the bounds on dark matter, dark radiation and isocurvature perturbations are those discussed in section 4. On the other hand, $T_{\star} > \Lambda$ means that $\Lambda \lesssim 10^7 \text{ GeV}$, which for $f_a \gtrsim 10^{14} \text{ GeV}$ requires $m_a(0) \lesssim \text{GeV}$. If MeV $\lesssim m_a(0) \lesssim \text{GeV}$, such values of the axion mass and decay constant are actually ruled out as the axions decay after BBN (from eq. (G.2)) and dominate the energy density of the Universe at the time of BBN (which can be easily seen redshifting back today's would be DM abundance from eq. (4.1) to T = MeV). If instead $m_a(0) \lesssim \text{MeV}$ the axion is stable and only ultralight axions do not overproduce DM (T_{\star} in this case is always smaller than the corresponding T_{\star} if m_a did not depend on the temperature, implying in general a larger DM abundance despite the nonlinear evolution leading to a larger suppression in this case). We finally note that in such models there are new constraints on the effective number of degrees of freedom in the hidden sector, since Λ is far below the scale of BBN for the viable masses. These require the hidden sector is cold relative to the visible sector.

H Symmetry restoration

In this appendix we give more details on the ways in which a PQ symmetry with large f_a can be restored in the early Universe described in section 5.

H.1 Symmetry restoration during inflation

First we further analyse the scenario in which a coupling between the inflaton φ and (the radial mode part of) ϕ leads to symmetry restoration. In particular, we discuss the effect that a coupling of the form eq. (5.4) has on inflation. Such a coupling gives no contribution to $\partial V/\partial \varphi$ (where V is the full potential of the theory) as long as $\langle \phi \rangle = 0$. Therefore it has no effect on the inflaton's slow-roll evolution provided that the radial mode's potential energy at this point is small compared to that of the inflaton, i.e. $H_I^2 M_P^2 \gg f_a^4$ (which, e.g. for an inflaton with a quadratic potential requires $4m_{\varphi}^2 \langle \varphi^2 \rangle \gg f_a^4$). This is satisfied in the example theory described in section 5, which has $m_{\varphi} \simeq H_{\text{max}} = 6 \times 10^{13} \text{ GeV}$, $\langle \varphi \rangle \sim M_P$, and $f_a \lesssim 10^{15} \text{ GeV}$. Otherwise, if $H_I^2 M_P^2 \sim f_a^4$ the potential of the radial mode actually makes slow-roll easier to achieve, which is the hybrid scenario discussed in section 5.1 and below.

Once the PQ symmetry is broken (which if a string network is to form must happen close to the end of inflation or during reheating), there is a contribution to the inflaton's mass of $\delta m_{\varphi}^2 \simeq g f_a^2$. For large enough g and f_a this exceeds the inflaton's bare mass, changing the dynamics in a way that we have not analysed. However, for $f_a \sim 10^{15}$ GeV and values of $g \in (10^{-6}, 10^{-2})$ with $\langle \varphi \rangle \sim M_{\rm P}$ the PQ symmetry is restored during inflation without this contribution being relevant, assuming that a not too small fraction of the inflaton's potential energy at this time comes from its mass term (i.e. $m_{\varphi}^2 \langle \varphi^2 \rangle \simeq H_I^2 M_{\rm P}^2$).

Additionally, interactions between the axion sector and the inflation typically lead to radiative corrections in the absence of extra symmetries (e.g. softly broken supersymmetry) or further new physics. Depending on their size, these could require that the inflaton's potential is fine tuned so that the slow roll conditions for inflaton are satisfied. The most dangerous radiative correction is the expected quadratically divergent correction to the mass of the inflaton that is cutoff by a UV scale $\Lambda_{\rm UV}$, which is expected to be of the form $\delta m_{\varphi}^2 = g \Lambda_{\rm UV}^2 / (32\pi^2)$ [170]. For this not to violate the slow roll condition requires $g/(48\pi^2) \Lambda^2 \langle \varphi \rangle M_{\rm P} < H_I^2 M_{\rm P}^2$, which for $\Lambda \sim M_{\rm P}$ requires $\sqrt{g \langle \varphi \rangle M_{\rm P} / (48\pi^2)} < H_I$. However, for the interaction to restore the PQ symmetry (with $\langle \varphi \rangle \leq M_{\rm P}$) we need $m_r^2 < g \langle \varphi^2 \rangle < g \langle \varphi \rangle M_{\rm P}$. Combining these bounds with the observational limit on H_I eq. (5.1), the condition that the radiative corrections do not disrupt slow roll is

$$\frac{m_r}{\sqrt{48\pi^2}} < H_I < 6 \times 10^{13} \text{ GeV} . \tag{H.1}$$

These inequalities can be simultaneously satisfied for values $m_r < 1.3 \times 10^{15}$ GeV provided H_I is close to its maximum allowed value. For other m_r , g, and H_I either some tuning of the inflaton's potential is required, or the UV cutoff Λ must be below the Planck scale.

Hybrid inflation. Here we give more details about the hybrid inflation scenario. In particular, we show that hybrid inflation that is compatible with observations of the CMB occurs with a coupling between the radial mode and the inflaton of the form eq. (5.4) for a wide range of g, when f_a is large enough for observable GW signals.

As an example, we consider a theory with a potential of the form

$$V = V_{\varphi} + V_{\phi} + V_{\text{int}} , \qquad (\text{H.2})$$

where V_{ϕ} is the axion sector potential (which by itself would spontaneously break the PQ symmetry), V_{φ} is the inflaton's potential, and V_{int} is an interaction between the two sectors. We take V_{ϕ} and V_{int} to be given by eqs. (2.1), (5.4) respectively, and for the following we assume V_{φ} to be quadratic, although this is not essential (and we no longer fix $\langle \varphi \rangle \sim M_{\text{P}}$ and $m_{\varphi} \sim H_I$). We also assume $f_a \approx m_r$. In combination, the model we consider is a minor modification of the original hybrid inflation theory [124, 125], with the change that ϕ is a complex scalar with a U(1) global symmetry rather than either a real scalar or a complex scalar with a gauge symmetry.

As described in the main text, ϕ is kept at $\langle \phi \rangle = 0$ during inflation by its interaction with the inflaton, and its potential energy at this point exceeds that of the inflaton. This scenario occurs provided

$$g\left\langle \varphi^2 \right\rangle \gtrsim m_r^2 \,, \tag{H.3}$$

for symmetry restoration, and

$$m_{\varphi}^2 \left\langle \varphi^2 \right\rangle \ll \frac{f_a^4}{4} \,, \tag{H.4}$$

for the potential energy of ϕ to dominate.

Because of V_{ϕ} 's large contribution to the total energy density, the slow roll condition for inflation is $V'M_{\rm Pl}/V_{\phi} \ll 1$, where $V' = dV/d\varphi$, whereas in the absence of ϕ it would be $V'M_{\rm P}/V_{\varphi} \ll 1$. Thus in the hybrid scenario, inflation can occur with significantly lower values of the inflaton expectation value and mass, and consequently smaller H_I , than would otherwise be possible. For the particular realisation of hybrid inflation that we consider, by substituting for the potentials in eq. (H.2), the slow-roll condition is

$$8m_{\omega}^2 \langle \varphi \rangle M_{\rm P} \ll f_a^4$$
. (H.5)

As long as the PQ symmetry remains restored the slow-roll condition above continues to be satisfied and the inflaton expectation value slowly changes (evolving towards 0 with the potential we consider). Eventually the inflaton expectation value falls below $\varphi_c = m_r/g^{1/2}$ and the PQ symmetry is broken. The potential energy of the Universe then decreases faster (corresponding to the slow roll parameter $V'/(V(\phi) + V_{int})M_{\rm Pl}$ increasing) and inflation will subsequently end at $\langle \varphi \rangle < \varphi_c$. In fact, following [125, 128] it can be shown that inflation ends within one *e*-fold of symmetry breaking (and thus the axion string network that forms is not diluted by further inflation) provided

$$f_a^3 \ll m_\varphi M_{\rm P}^2 \,, \tag{H.6}$$

which is satisfied if the mass of the inflaton is not too small $m_{\varphi} \gg f_a^3/M_{\rm P}^2 \simeq 10^9 \,\text{GeV}$ for $f_a \simeq 10^{15} \,\text{GeV}$.⁹¹

The final constraint on the hybrid scenario comes from the COBE normalisation condition, which fixes the amplitude of density perturbations using observations of CMB anisotropies. This requires

$$\frac{V^{3/2}}{M_{\rm p}^3 V'} = 5 \times 10^{-4} \,, \tag{H.8}$$

where the left hand side is evaluated when modes corresponding to the pivot scale $k_{\rm CMB} = 0.05 \,\,{\rm Mpc}^{-1}$ leave the horizon (see [171] for a review). In the model we consider, eq. (H.8) translates into a relation between m_{φ} and g [125]

$$m_{\varphi} = 9\sqrt{\frac{g^{1/2}f_a^5}{M_{\rm P}^3}}$$
 (H.9)

Imposing this condition means that (for $\langle \varphi \rangle$, $f_a < M_{\rm P}$) the slow roll condition and eq. (H.6) are automatically satisfied, so inflation will continue for as long as the PQ symmetry is restored and will end immediately after symmetry breaking. Moreover, for $f_a \leq M_{\rm P}$ and $g \leq 1$, if eq. (H.9) is satisfied the potential of the radial mode dominates the total energy density while $\langle \phi \rangle = 0$, so our calculation of the slow roll condition in eq. (H.5) is self-consistent.

In summary, the are two relevant conditions that remain in our example model: one from requiring PQ symmetry restoration, and one from the COBE normalisation. For any inflaton expectation value that satisfies $f_a < \langle \varphi \rangle \leq M_{\rm P}$ there is an allowed range of perturbative $g \in (f_a^2/\langle \varphi \rangle^2, 1)$ such that hybrid inflation occurs, with the corresponding inflaton mass fixed by eq. (H.9).

H.2 Preheating

Here we give more details of how non-perturbative energy transfer from the inflaton to other states, i.e. preheating, can lead to far higher temperatures after inflation than occur during perturbative reheating. We show that the relatively large mass of the radial mode renders direct preheating to this inefficient (for $m_r \simeq f_a$ and $f_a \gtrsim 10^{14}$ GeV relevant for observable GWs), but that preheating to another, light, particle can still restore the PQ symmetry.

We consider a general real scalar χ that interacts with the inflaton through $V_{\text{int}} = \frac{1}{2}g\varphi^2\chi^2$, and we assume that the inflaton potential is quadratic in the part of field space that

$$\frac{V'' M_{\rm P}^2}{V} = \frac{4M_{\rm P}^2}{\varphi_c^2} > 1.$$
(H.7)

⁹¹In more detail, eq. (H.6) can be derived by considering the change in the system in the first *e*-fold that follows PQ symmetry breaking. During this time the inflaton's expectation value shifts by $\Delta \varphi = \langle \dot{\varphi} \rangle / H = 8M_P^2 m_{\varphi}^2 \varphi_c / f_a^4$. Meanwhile, the complex scalar ϕ now has a symmetry breaking minimum at $|\phi|^2 = (m_r^2 - g \langle \varphi^2 \rangle)/2$, which is away from the origin but not yet at $f_a / \sqrt{2}$ since the inflaton expectation value is still non-zero. The position of this minimum continues to move away towards $f_a / \sqrt{2}$ as the inflaton rolls toward 0. As a result, one *e*-fold after symmetry breaking the radial mode part of ϕ has an effective mass $m_{\phi}^2 = m_r^2 - g \langle \varphi^2 \rangle \approx 2g\varphi_c \Delta \varphi$. If (H.6) holds, then $m_{\phi} \gg H$ and the radial mode tracks the minimum of its potential. The resulting change in the energy density of the Universe is $\Delta V = 32M_P^4 m_{\varphi}^4 / f_a^4 + \mathcal{O}(\Delta \varphi^3)$, so the slow roll parameter becomes

Therefore, for $\varphi_c \leq M_{\rm P}$, slow roll inflation indeed ends less than one *e*-fold after symmetry breaking, provided eq. (H.6) holds.

reheating occurs in, $V_{\varphi} = \frac{1}{2}m_{\varphi}^2\varphi^2$. Following the analysis in [135], the momentum modes χ_k of χ evolve according to

$$\ddot{\chi}_k + 3H\dot{\chi}_k + \left(\frac{k^2}{R(t)^2} + m_{\chi}^2 + g\tilde{\varphi}^2 \sin^2(m_{\varphi}t)\right)\chi_k = 0, \qquad (\text{H.10})$$

where $\tilde{\varphi}$ denotes the amplitude of the inflaton oscillations. Neglecting the expansion of the Universe, eq. (H.10) can be reexpressed as the Mathieu equation

$$\chi_k'' + [A_k - 2q\cos(2z)]\chi_k = 0, \qquad (H.11)$$

where $q = g\tilde{\varphi}^2/(4m_{\varphi}^2)$; $A_k = ((k/R)^2 + m_{\chi}^2)/m_{\varphi}^2 + 2q$; $z = m_{\varphi}t$ and differentiation is with respect to z.

The family of solutions of the Mathieu equation has resonant bands at particular momentum k, which depend on q, A_k [172]. The solutions with k inside these bands grow exponentially, as $\chi_k \sim e^{\alpha z}$ where α has a real part $\Re(\alpha) > 0$. Meanwhile, the solutions for k outside these bands oscillate (corresponding to $\Re(\alpha) = 0$). Preheating happens when a mode χ_k has momentum inside one of the resonance bands. The resulting amplification corresponds to an exponentially fast increase in the mode's occupation number, i.e. an extremely fast transfer of energy from the inflaton to χ .

However, a particular mode is only exponentially amplified for a limited time. One reason for this is that the expansion of the Universe redshifts a mode's momentum, which results in it moving out of a resonance bands.⁹² It is shown in [135] that this results in the resonance bands being effectively 'blurred': modes are mostly amplified inside a broad resonance band at low frequency $\omega \in (0, \omega_{\max})$, where $\omega^2 \equiv k^2/R^2 + m_{\gamma}^2$, and $\omega_{\max} = k^2/R^2 + m_{\gamma}^2$ $\sqrt{g^{1/2}\tilde{\varphi}m_{\varphi}/2}$. Outside this broad resonance, the resonance bands are very narrow and modes are quickly moved out of them by the expansion of the Universe, resulting in little energy being transferred. Additionally, if the resonance is efficient enough that a substantial amount of energy has been transferred into χ , the amplitude of the inflaton oscillations will decrease significantly faster than just due to redshifting. The interaction between the inflaton and χ also causes a contribution to the mass of the inflaton $m_{\text{eff}}^2 \simeq m_{\varphi}^2 + g \langle \chi^2 \rangle$ which can end up dominating. Thus the backreaction of the created particles further modifies (in particular, it decreases) the values of q, A_k , which changes the structure of the resonance bands. Overall, these effects mean preheating generally does not transfer all of the inflaton's energy to χ . Indeed, it is shown in [135] that inflation lasts until half of the (redshifted) inflaton energy has been transferred to χ for $g > 10^{-6}$, and this takes roughly 20 inflaton oscillations, meaning the energy density in χ at this time is a factor 10^{-4} lower than the original energy density at the end of inflation. For lower values of q the fraction of energy transferred decreases very quickly (roughly exponentially with $q^{1/2}$).

From the discussion above, we see that if the mass of χ is large enough then efficient preheating does not occur. This is simply because the energy of χ modes is $\omega_k \geq m_{\chi}$, so if $m_{\chi} > \omega_{\max}$ no modes are in the broad band (and the remaining narrow resonances are highly inefficient). In the intermediate case $0 < m_{\chi} < \omega_{\max}$ fewer modes satisfy the condition to be in broad resonance, $\omega_k < \omega_{\max}$. This is expected to reduce the efficiency of preheating, although we do not investigate such a scenario in detail.

We now apply these results to analyse the possibility that the PQ symmetry is restored by preheating directly to the radial mode of a complex scalar that gives rise to the axion, i.e.

⁹²The exception to this is if the inflaton's potential has a pure quartic form.

we identify χ with the radial part of ϕ of eq. (2.1), via the interaction eq. (5.4). The condition for broad resonance $m_{\chi} \ll \omega_{\text{max}}$ requires $g\tilde{\varphi}^2 \gg 4m_r^4/m_{\varphi}^2$. However, for the $m_r \gtrsim 10^{14} \text{ GeV}$ as is relevant for GWs $m_r^4/m_{\varphi}^2 > m_r^2$ (for the inflaton masses that are permitted by the slow roll constraints in typical theories [173]). Consequently, from eq. (5.5) efficient preheating requires that the coupling g is large enough that the symmetry is restored directly during inflation anyway, as mentioned in section 5.2 (or, depending on the sign of the interaction, the complex scalar is displaced to large field values, which might also lead to strings although we do not study this scenario in detail).

We also note that our analysis is consistent with results from simulations of preheating carried out in [138], which consider preheating to a real scalar field and include the case that this is massive compared to the inflaton. They consider a quadratic inflaton potential with starting inflaton amplitude $\tilde{\varphi} \sim M_{\rm P}$ and inflaton mass $m_{\varphi} \sim 10^{13}$ GeV of same order of magnitude to our case. These papers find that for $m_r \gtrsim 2m_{\varphi}$, which is the case relevant to the scenario that we are interested in with $m_r \gtrsim 10^{14}$ GeV, $q > 10^5$ is required for fluctuations created during preheating to be large enough to restore the symmetry. This translates to requiring $g > 10^{-4}$ and $\omega_{\rm max} \gtrsim 10^{15}$ GeV $\gg m_r$.

Intermediate preheating. Alternatively, as mentioned, the PQ symmetry could be restored if a new, light, scalar is preheated and this then transfers energy to the sector that gives rise to the axion. As an example in which this happens we consider a theory where the energy transfer to the axion sector happens through an interaction of the form $g_{\chi\phi}\chi^2 |\phi|^2$, where χ is a real scalar that is preheated as before. Since the intermediate field χ could be effectively massless and a large coupling g does not lead to symmetry restoration during inflation, we will see that in this theory the PQ symmetry can be restored solely thanks to efficient preheating.

Calculating the effective temperatures χ and ϕ reach after this process is complex due to the non-perturbative and out of equilibrium nature of the dynamics. We therefore take a simplified approach in which we analyse the distribution of energy in χ after preheating and use this to approximate the scattering rate Γ of $\chi + \chi \rightarrow \phi + \phi$. We will compare this to the Hubble parameter H at the time when the energy density transferred into χ and the energy density remaining in the inflaton are equal. Earlier than this, the energy density in χ will be significantly lower, leading to a lower effective temperature in the axion sector. However, if preheating lasts beyond this time then backreaction will play an important role in the evolution, which makes the dynamics more complicated and is expected to slow down energy transfer from the inflaton to χ . Assuming preheating ends when half the energy is transferred is enough for an order of magnitude estimate of the maximum effective temperature achievable (indeed, even if the entire energy density of the inflaton is subsequently transferred into χ , this will be at most a factor of 2 higher than that at the moment of equality). The condition that preheating lasts until this point, and thus that a substantial fraction of the inflaton energy is transferred into χ , is that the coupling $g \gtrsim 10^{-6}$ [135, 138].

We denote the amplitude of the inflaton oscillations at the point where the energy density of the inflaton and of χ are equal by $\tilde{\varphi}_{eq}$. To estimate the typical occupation numbers n_k of χ_k modes that are inside the resonance band $k \in (0, \omega_{max})$ we equate the energy density in χ at this moment

$$\rho_{\chi} \approx \frac{2\pi}{3} n_k \omega_{\text{max}}^4 = \frac{\pi}{6} n_k g \tilde{\varphi}_{\text{eq}}^2 m_{\varphi}^2, \qquad (\text{H.12})$$

to the energy density in the inflaton $\frac{1}{2}\tilde{\varphi}_{eq}^2 m_{\varphi}^2$, so $n_k \simeq 3/(\pi g)$ inside the resonance band.

Meanwhile, modes outside the resonance band $k > \omega_{\text{max}}$ have not been exponentially amplified, so their occupation numbers are negligible.

To transfer energy to ϕ efficiently there must be χ modes that are energetic enough for $\chi + \chi \rightarrow \phi + \phi$ to occur, which requires $\omega_{\max} \gg m_r$. This leads to a condition $g \gg 10^{-5}$ for $m_r \simeq 10^{15}$ GeV.⁹³ Given the momentum distribution described above, the scattering rate $\Gamma = n \langle \sigma v \rangle$ can be calculated, where σ is the interaction cross section

$$\sigma = \frac{g_{\chi\phi}^2 \sqrt{k^2 - m_r^2}}{128\pi k^3} \,, \tag{H.13}$$

leading to

$$\Gamma = \frac{3g_{\chi\phi}^2 m_{\varphi}^{1/2} \tilde{\varphi}_{\text{eq}}^{1/2}}{32\sqrt{2}\pi q^{3/4}}.$$
(H.14)

If this scattering rate is larger than the Hubble at that time preheating ends $\Gamma \gtrsim H$ then χ and ϕ will reach equilibrium at an effective temperature $T \sim \sqrt{HM_{\rm P}}$. As discussed above, preheating lasts for approximately 20 inflaton oscillations until a significant fraction of the inflaton energy has been transferred [135], so we can estimate the Hubble at the end of preheating $H \simeq 0.025 H_I \lesssim 1.5 \times 10^{12}$ GeV , leading to an effective temperature $T \simeq 2 \times 10^{15}$ GeV , which is high enough to restore the PQ symmetry for axion decay constants that lead to observable GWs. Meanwhile, if $\Gamma \ll H$ immediately after preheating the energy transferred to the axion sector through this process is not sufficient to restore the PQ symmetry, since the rate of energy transfer by $\chi + \chi \rightarrow \phi + \phi$ will decrease faster than the Hubble parameter drops.

In summary, the conditions for symmetry restoration in this scenario are that preheating is sufficiently efficient and χ energetic enough to allow scattering, which occur provided $g \gg 10^{-5}$, that the scattering rate is large enough for thermalisation to be efficient, which requires $g_{\chi\phi}^2 > 10^{-2}g^{3/4} > 10^{-6}$, and that there is sufficient energy at the end of inflation, and subsequently at the end of preheating, $H_I > 3 \times 10^{13}$ GeV. For comparison, couplings $g, g_{\chi\phi}$ of such order would lead to a maximum temperature via perturbative reheating $T_{\text{max}} \sim 10^{12}$ GeV from eq. (5.3) (and a far lower final reheating temperature).

H.3 Symmetry restoration with a light radial mode

Here we give more details on the scenario where the symmetry is restored at temperatures $T \ll f_a$ because the radial mode is light. In particular, we justify the parametric dependence for the minimum temperature that leads to symmetry restoration given in eq. (5.6) and we show that this expression is accurate taking into account the full finite temperature potential.

As in the main text we consider a potential

$$V(\phi) = \frac{m_r^2}{2f_a^2} \left(|\phi|^2 - \frac{f_a^2}{2} \right)^2 . \tag{H.15}$$

Although it will turn out not to restore the PQ symmetry for $T \ll f_a$ it is useful to first consider the finite temperature contribution from ϕ to its own thermal potential. In the high temperature limit $T \gg m_r$ this is given by

$$V_T \simeq \frac{1}{24} m_r^2(\phi) T^2 \simeq \frac{1}{16} \frac{m_r^2}{f_a^2} |\phi|^2 T^2 , \qquad (\text{H.16})$$

⁹³For the lowest value of interest $m_r \simeq 10^{14}$ GeV the condition would be $g \gg 10^{-9}$, i.e. weaker than the condition required for efficient preheating.

where $m_r(\phi)^2 \sim \lambda |\phi|^2$ is the mass of the radial mode on the background of its own expectation value (and in the second equality we have dropped a ϕ independent term). Comparing eqs. (H.15) and (H.16), we immediately see that eq. (H.16) can only restore the symmetry for $T \gtrsim f_a$ (i.e. $T \gtrsim m_r$ is not sufficient). It is straightforward to show that the conclusion is unchanged if the full thermal potential is used rather than eq. (H.16).

However, the complex scalar could also couple to new fermions. In a QCD axion model these might be the fermions that generate the QCD-PQ anomaly in KSVZ models, but more generally the new fermions need not be charged under the SM gauge group.⁹⁴ We consider an interaction of the form

$$\mathcal{L} \supset g\phi\psi^c\psi + \text{h.c.},$$
 (H.17)

where ψ and ψ^c are Weyl fermions that are massless in the absence of a ϕ expectation value (and h.c. denotes the Hermitian conjugate).⁹⁵ The dependence of the mass of ψ on ϕ 's expectation value leads to finite temperature contribution to ϕ 's potential

$$V_T = \frac{-n_f T^4}{2\pi^2} \int_0^\infty q^2 \log\left(1 + e^{-\sqrt{q^2 + g^2 |\phi|^2/T^2}}\right) \, dq \,, \tag{H.18}$$

where $n_f = 4$ if there are a single pair of fermions. In the high temperature limit $T \gg m_{\psi} = g \langle \phi \rangle$ eq. (H.18) is approximately

$$V_T \simeq \frac{1}{24} g^2 \phi^2 T^2 \,.$$
 (H.19)

Consequently $\langle \phi \rangle = 0$ is a local minimum of the potential for any temperature $T \gtrsim m_r/g$. However, we impose a stronger condition, which is that the thermal potential ensures that the system reaches $\langle \phi \rangle = 0$ regardless of the initial conditions.⁹⁶ This is not automatic given eq. (H.19), because this is only valid for $T \gg g \langle \phi \rangle$, which is not satisfied around $\langle \phi \rangle \sim f_a$ if $T \lesssim gf_a$. Instead, for $T \ll gf_a$ the thermal potential of eq. (H.18) is exponentially suppressed at $\langle \phi \rangle \sim f_a$. Physically, this happens because ψ decouples from the thermal bath when its mass is greater than the temperature. Therefore, there is a local minimum close to the zero temperature minimum for temperatures in this range.

Combining the preceding conditions, the lowest temperature at which the PQ symmetry is restored regardless of the initial condition is parametrically given by eq. (5.6). Precise results for the minimum temperature for a given model can easily be obtained by evaluating eq. (H.18) numerically. In figure 22 we plot the results for the simple model of eq. (2.1) with a single pair of fermions $\psi \ \psi^c$ as a function of m_r/f_a and the coupling g. It can be seen that eq. (5.6) is quite accurate (although the condition $T > gf_a$ is slightly too strong since the fermions do not decouple from the thermal bath immediately when this condition is violated). If an axion arises from a more complex theory the minimum temperature required will change by order 1 factors, but the main parametric dependence will remain fixed.

We finish our analysis of these models with two additional comments. First, we note that the values of g in our parameter space of interest are small but not tiny, so the fermions

⁹⁴Indeed to avoid a too large axion mass for the parameter space that we are interested in, they must not lead to a QCD induced axion mass.

 $^{^{95}}$ Unless g is tiny radiative corrections induced by this term typically require that ϕ 's mass is fine tuned. We do not worry about this issue, which could be avoided for example if the axion and new fermion sector is supersymmetric.

⁹⁶We could e.g. consider models of inflation such that $\langle \phi \rangle = 0$ initially, in which case $T \gtrsim m_r/g$ would keep the system at this point. However, in such a theory strings will form anyway, so the thermal potential is not required for this.



Figure 22. The minimum reheating temperature required to restore the axion PQ symmetry (regardless of the system's initial conditions) in theories such that the radial mode of the complex scalar ϕ that gives rise to the axion has a mass m_r that is significantly smaller than the axion decay constant f_a , and ϕ has an interaction with fermions with coupling constant g as in eq. (H.17).

 ψ are easily in thermal equilibrium (since their typical interaction rate with the thermal bath is $g^2T \gg H(T)$ where H(T) is the Hubble parameter) and our analysis using the thermal potential is valid. Second, as mentioned in the main text, the GW signal emitted by such a network will be largely unaffected by the small m_r , i.e. it will approximately match the predictions of section 3. This is because the GW energy depends on the string tension, which is set by f_a not m_r , and the GW spectrum is IR dominated so it is unaffected by the UV cutoff at m_r being much smaller than f_a . The only effect on the GW spectrum will be through the value of the log $\log(m_r/H)$ being slightly reduced.⁹⁷ This will feed into ξ and the ratio $\Gamma_{\rm GW}/\Gamma_a$ as well as the tension. However, the change is not too dramatic as long as m_r is not tiny. For example, taking $m_r = 5 \times 10^8$ GeV and $f_a = 5 \times 10^{14}$ GeV (so that, from figure 22, the symmetry can be restored for temperatures $\sim 5 \times 10^{11}$ GeV), the value of the log when the GW emission is relevant to SKA is log ~ 60 , as opposed to log ~ 75 if $m_r \sim f_a$. The amplitude of the resulting GW signal is reduced by roughly 50% relative to that plotted in figure 4, but it remains detectable by SKA.

References

- LIGO SCIENTIFIC and VIRGO collaborations, Observation of Gravitational Waves from a Binary Black Hole Merger, Phys. Rev. Lett. 116 (2016) 061102 [arXiv:1602.03837]
 [INSPIRE].
- [2] LIGO SCIENTIFIC and VIRGO collaborations, GW190521: A Binary Black Hole Merger with a Total Mass of 150M_☉, Phys. Rev. Lett. **125** (2020) 101102 [arXiv:2009.01075] [INSPIRE].
- [3] LIGO SCIENTIFIC and VIRGO collaborations, Properties and Astrophysical Implications of the 150 M_☉ Binary Black Hole Merger GW190521, Astrophys. J. Lett. 900 (2020) L13 [arXiv:2009.01190] [INSPIRE].
- [4] R.D. Peccei and H.R. Quinn, CP Conservation in the Presence of Instantons, Phys. Rev. Lett. 38 (1977) 1440 [INSPIRE].

 $^{^{97}}$ Since the divergence in the energy of the string is cut of by the physical string core size m_r^{-1} rather than f_a^{-1} .

- [5] S. Weinberg, A New Light Boson?, Phys. Rev. Lett. 40 (1978) 223 [INSPIRE].
- [6] F. Wilczek, Problem of Strong P and T Invariance in the Presence of Instantons, Phys. Rev. Lett. 40 (1978) 279 [INSPIRE].
- [7] P. Svrček and E. Witten, Axions In String Theory, JHEP 06 (2006) 051 [hep-th/0605206]
 [INSPIRE].
- [8] A. Arvanitaki, S. Dimopoulos, S. Dubovsky, N. Kaloper and J. March-Russell, *String Axiverse*, *Phys. Rev. D* 81 (2010) 123530 [arXiv:0905.4720] [INSPIRE].
- [9] B.S. Acharya, K. Bobkov and P. Kumar, An M-theory Solution to the Strong CP Problem and Constraints on the Axiverse, JHEP 11 (2010) 105 [arXiv:1004.5138] [INSPIRE].
- [10] M. Cicoli, M. Goodsell and A. Ringwald, The type IIB string axiverse and its low-energy phenomenology, JHEP 10 (2012) 146 [arXiv:1206.0819] [INSPIRE].
- [11] M. Demirtas, C. Long, L. McAllister and M. Stillman, The Kreuzer-Skarke Axiverse, JHEP 04 (2020) 138 [arXiv:1808.01282] [INSPIRE].
- [12] L.E. Ibáñez and F. Quevedo, Anomalous U(1)'s and proton stability in brane models, JHEP 10 (1999) 001 [hep-ph/9908305] [INSPIRE].
- [13] L.F. Abbott and P. Sikivie, A Cosmological Bound on the Invisible Axion, Phys. Lett. B 120 (1983) 133 [INSPIRE].
- [14] M. Dine and W. Fischler, The Not So Harmless Axion, Phys. Lett. B 120 (1983) 137 [INSPIRE].
- [15] J. Preskill, M.B. Wise and F. Wilczek, Cosmology of the Invisible Axion, Phys. Lett. B 120 (1983) 127 [INSPIRE].
- [16] I.G. Irastorza and J. Redondo, New experimental approaches in the search for axion-like particles, Prog. Part. Nucl. Phys. 102 (2018) 89 [arXiv:1801.08127] [INSPIRE].
- [17] G. Janssen et al., Gravitational wave astronomy with the SKA, PoS AASKA14 (2015) 037 [arXiv:1501.00127] [INSPIRE].
- [18] LISA collaboration, Laser Interferometer Space Antenna, arXiv:1702.00786 [INSPIRE].
- [19] LIGO SCIENTIFIC, VIRGO collaboration, Characterization of the LIGO detectors during their sixth science run, Class. Quant. Grav. 32 (2015) 115012 [arXiv:1410.7764] [INSPIRE].
- [20] S. Hild et al., Sensitivity Studies for Third-Generation Gravitational Wave Observatories, Class. Quant. Grav. 28 (2011) 094013 [arXiv:1012.0908] [INSPIRE].
- [21] M. Punturo et al., The Einstein Telescope: A third-generation gravitational wave observatory, Class. Quant. Grav. 27 (2010) 194002 [INSPIRE].
- [22] AEDGE collaboration, AEDGE: Atomic Experiment for Dark Matter and Gravity Exploration in Space, EPJ Quant. Technol. 7 (2020) 6 [arXiv:1908.00802] [INSPIRE].
- [23] M. Gorghetto, E. Hardy and G. Villadoro, Axions from Strings: the Attractive Solution, JHEP 07 (2018) 151 [arXiv:1806.04677] [INSPIRE].
- [24] G. Mussardo, Statistical field theory: an introduction to exactly solved models in statistical physics, Oxford graduate texts, Oxford University Press, New York, NY, U.S.A. (2010).
- [25] M. Kawasaki, T. Sekiguchi, M. Yamaguchi and J. Yokoyama, Long-term dynamics of cosmological axion strings, PTEP 2018 (2018) 091E01 [arXiv:1806.05566] [INSPIRE].
- [26] A. Vaquero, J. Redondo and J. Stadler, Early seeds of axion miniclusters, JCAP 04 (2019) 012 [arXiv:1809.09241] [INSPIRE].
- [27] M. Gorghetto, E. Hardy and G. Villadoro, More Axions from Strings, SciPost Phys. 10 (2021) 050 [arXiv:2007.04990] [INSPIRE].
- [28] P. Sikivie, Of Axions, Domain Walls and the Early Universe, Phys. Rev. Lett. 48 (1982) 1156 [INSPIRE].
- [29] A. Vilenkin and A.E. Everett, Cosmic Strings and Domain Walls in Models with Goldstone and PseudoGoldstone Bosons, Phys. Rev. Lett. 48 (1982) 1867 [INSPIRE].
- [30] A. Vilenkin, Cosmic Strings and Domain Walls, Phys. Rept. **121** (1985) 263 [INSPIRE].
- [31] R.L. Davis, Cosmic Axions from Cosmic Strings, Phys. Lett. B 180 (1986) 225 [INSPIRE].
- [32] C.J.A.P. Martins and E.P.S. Shellard, Extending the velocity dependent one scale string evolution model, Phys. Rev. D 65 (2002) 043514 [hep-ph/0003298] [INSPIRE].
- [33] F. Lund and T. Regge, Unified Approach to Strings and Vortices with Soliton Solutions, Phys. Rev. D 14 (1976) 1524 [INSPIRE].
- [34] M. Kalb and P. Ramond, Classical direct interstring action, Phys. Rev. D 9 (1974) 2273 [INSPIRE].
- [35] R.L. Davis and E.P.S. Shellard, Antisymmetric Tensors and Spontaneous Symmetry Breaking, Phys. Lett. B 214 (1988) 219 [INSPIRE].
- [36] A. Dabholkar and J.M. Quashnock, Pinning Down the Axion, Nucl. Phys. B 333 (1990) 815 [INSPIRE].
- [37] B. Horn, A. Nicolis and R. Penco, Effective string theory for vortex lines in fluids and superfluids, JHEP 10 (2015) 153 [arXiv:1507.05635] [INSPIRE].
- [38] T. Vachaspati and A. Vilenkin, Gravitational Radiation from Cosmic Strings, Phys. Rev. D 31 (1985) 3052 [INSPIRE].
- [39] A. Vilenkin and T. Vachaspati, *Radiation of Goldstone Bosons From Cosmic Strings*, *Phys. Rev. D* **35** (1987) 1138 [INSPIRE].
- [40] E.J. Copeland, D. Haws and M. Hindmarsh, Classical theory of radiating strings, Phys. Rev. D 42 (1990) 726 [INSPIRE].
- [41] J.M. Quashnock and D.N. Spergel, Gravitational Selfinteractions of Cosmic Strings, Phys. Rev. D 42 (1990) 2505 [INSPIRE].
- [42] P. Auclair et al., Probing the gravitational wave background from cosmic strings with LISA, JCAP 04 (2020) 034 [arXiv:1909.00819] [INSPIRE].
- [43] C. Caprini, R. Durrer, T. Konstandin and G. Servant, General Properties of the Gravitational Wave Spectrum from Phase Transitions, Phys. Rev. D 79 (2009) 083519 [arXiv:0901.1661]
 [INSPIRE].
- [44] L. Lentati et al., European Pulsar Timing Array Limits On An Isotropic Stochastic Gravitational-Wave Background, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 453 (2015) 2576 [arXiv:1504.03692] [INSPIRE].
- [45] R.M. Shannon et al., Gravitational waves from binary supermassive black holes missing in pulsar observations, Science 349 (2015) 1522 [arXiv:1509.07320] [INSPIRE].
- [46] K. Yagi and N. Seto, Detector configuration of DECIGO/BBO and identification of cosmological neutron-star binaries, Phys. Rev. D 83 (2011) 044011 [Erratum ibid. 95 (2017) 109901] [arXiv:1101.3940] [INSPIRE].
- [47] L. Badurina et al., AION: An Atom Interferometer Observatory and Network, JCAP 05 (2020) 011 [arXiv:1911.11755] [INSPIRE].
- [48] NANOGRAV collaboration, The NANOGrav 12.5 yr Data Set: Search for an Isotropic Stochastic Gravitational-wave Background, Astrophys. J. Lett. 905 (2020) L34 [arXiv:2009.04496] [INSPIRE].

- [49] E. Thrane and J.D. Romano, Sensitivity curves for searches for gravitational-wave backgrounds, Phys. Rev. D 88 (2013) 124032 [arXiv:1310.5300] [INSPIRE].
- [50] C.J. Moore, R.H. Cole and C.P.L. Berry, Gravitational-wave sensitivity curves, Class. Quant. Grav. 32 (2015) 015014 [arXiv:1408.0740] [INSPIRE].
- [51] J.D. Romano and N.J. Cornish, Detection methods for stochastic gravitational-wave backgrounds: a unified treatment, Living Rev. Rel. 20 (2017) 2 [arXiv:1608.06889] [INSPIRE].
- [52] Y. Gouttenoire, G. Servant and P. Simakachorn, Beyond the Standard Models with Cosmic Strings, JCAP 07 (2020) 032 [arXiv:1912.02569] [INSPIRE].
- [53] L. Fleury and G.D. Moore, Axion dark matter: strings and their cores, JCAP 01 (2016) 004 [arXiv:1509.00026] [INSPIRE].
- [54] M. Buschmann, J.W. Foster and B.R. Safdi, Early-Universe Simulations of the Cosmological Axion, Phys. Rev. Lett. 124 (2020) 161103 [arXiv:1906.00967] [INSPIRE].
- [55] A. Vaquero, J. Redondo and J. Stadler, Early seeds of axion miniclusters, JCAP 04 (2019) 012 [arXiv:1809.09241] [INSPIRE].
- [56] D.P. Bennett and F.R. Bouchet, Evidence for a Scaling Solution in Cosmic String Evolution, Phys. Rev. Lett. 60 (1988) 257 [INSPIRE].
- [57] B. Allen and E.P.S. Shellard, Cosmic string evolution: a numerical simulation, Phys. Rev. Lett. 64 (1990) 119 [INSPIRE].
- [58] D.P. Bennett and F.R. Bouchet, High resolution simulations of cosmic string evolution.
 1. Network evolution, Phys. Rev. D 41 (1990) 2408 [INSPIRE].
- [59] V.B. Klaer and G.D. Moore, How to simulate global cosmic strings with large string tension, JCAP 10 (2017) 043 [arXiv:1707.05566] [INSPIRE].
- [60] V.B. Klaer and G.D. Moore, Global cosmic string networks as a function of tension, JCAP 06 (2020) 021 [arXiv:1912.08058] [INSPIRE].
- [61] M. Hindmarsh, J. Lizarraga, A. Lopez-Eiguren and J. Urrestilla, Scaling Density of Axion Strings, Phys. Rev. Lett. 124 (2020) 021301 [arXiv:1908.03522] [INSPIRE].
- [62] R.A. Battye and E.P.S. Shellard, Axion string constraints, Phys. Rev. Lett. 73 (1994) 2954
 [Erratum ibid. 76 (1996) 2203] [astro-ph/9403018] [INSPIRE].
- [63] J. Garriga and M. Sakellariadou, Effects of friction on cosmic strings, Phys. Rev. D 48 (1993) 2502 [hep-th/9303024] [INSPIRE].
- [64] A. Vilenkin, Cosmic string dynamics with friction, Phys. Rev. D 43 (1991) 1060 [INSPIRE].
- [65] C.J.A.P. Martins and E.P.S. Shellard, String evolution with friction, Phys. Rev. D 53 (1996) 575 [hep-ph/9507335] [INSPIRE].
- [66] P. Agrawal, A. Hook, J. Huang and G. Marques-Tavares, Axion string signatures II: A cosmological plasma collider, arXiv:2010.15848 [INSPIRE].
- [67] M. Giovannini, Gravitational waves constraints on postinflationary phases stiffer than radiation, Phys. Rev. D 58 (1998) 083504 [hep-ph/9806329] [INSPIRE].
- [68] A. Riazuelo and J.-P. Uzan, Quintessence and gravitational waves, Phys. Rev. D 62 (2000) 083506 [astro-ph/0004156] [INSPIRE].
- [69] Y. Cui, M. Lewicki, D.E. Morrissey and J.D. Wells, Probing the pre-BBN universe with gravitational waves from cosmic strings, JHEP 01 (2019) 081 [arXiv:1808.08968] [INSPIRE].
- [70] N. Ramberg and L. Visinelli, Probing the Early Universe with Axion Physics and Gravitational Waves, Phys. Rev. D 99 (2019) 123513 [arXiv:1904.05707] [INSPIRE].

- [71] R.A. Battye, R.R. Caldwell and E.P.S. Shellard, Gravitational waves from cosmic strings, in Conference on Topological Defects and CMB, 6, 1997 [astro-ph/9706013] [INSPIRE].
- [72] P. Arias, D. Cadamuro, M. Goodsell, J. Jaeckel, J. Redondo and A. Ringwald, WISPy Cold Dark Matter, JCAP 06 (2012) 013 [arXiv:1201.5902] [INSPIRE].
- [73] L. Hui, J.P. Ostriker, S. Tremaine and E. Witten, Ultralight scalars as cosmological dark matter, Phys. Rev. D 95 (2017) 043541 [arXiv:1610.08297] [INSPIRE].
- [74] V. Iršič, M. Viel, M.G. Haehnelt, J.S. Bolton and G.D. Becker, First constraints on fuzzy dark matter from Lyman-α forest data and hydrodynamical simulations, Phys. Rev. Lett. 119 (2017) 031302 [arXiv:1703.04683] [INSPIRE].
- [75] T. Kobayashi, R. Murgia, A. De Simone, V. Iršič and M. Viel, Lyman-α constraints on ultralight scalar dark matter: Implications for the early and late universe, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017) 123514 [arXiv:1708.00015] [INSPIRE].
- [76] K.K. Rogers and H.V. Peiris, Strong Bound on Canonical Ultralight Axion Dark Matter from the Lyman-Alpha Forest, Phys. Rev. Lett. 126 (2021) 071302 [arXiv:2007.12705] [INSPIRE].
- [77] PLANCK collaboration, Planck 2018 results. VI. Cosmological parameters, Astron. Astrophys.
 641 (2020) A6 [arXiv:1807.06209] [INSPIRE].
- [78] C. Pitrou, A. Coc, J.-P. Uzan and E. Vangioni, Precision big bang nucleosynthesis with improved Helium-4 predictions, Phys. Rept. 754 (2018) 1 [arXiv:1801.08023] [INSPIRE].
- [79] K.N. Abazajian et al., Neutrino Physics from the Cosmic Microwave Background and Large Scale Structure, Astropart. Phys. 63 (2015) 66 [arXiv:1309.5383] [INSPIRE].
- [80] J.A. Dror, H. Murayama and N.L. Rodd, The Cosmic Axion Background, arXiv:2101.09287 [INSPIRE].
- [81] C.J. Hogan and M.J. Rees, Axion miniclusters, Phys. Lett. B 205 (1988) 228 [INSPIRE].
- [82] J. Enander, A. Pargner and T. Schwetz, Axion minicluster power spectrum and mass function, JCAP 12 (2017) 038 [arXiv:1708.04466] [INSPIRE].
- [83] M. Feix, J. Frank, A. Pargner, R. Reischke, B.M. Schäfer and T. Schwetz, Isocurvature bounds on axion-like particle dark matter in the post-inflationary scenario, JCAP 05 (2019) 021 [arXiv:1903.06194] [INSPIRE].
- [84] M. Feix, S. Hagstotz, A. Pargner, R. Reischke, B.M. Schäfer and T. Schwetz, Post-inflationary axion isocurvature perturbations facing CMB and large-scale structure, JCAP 11 (2020) 046 [arXiv:2004.02926] [INSPIRE].
- [85] PLANCK collaboration, Planck 2018 results. VI. Cosmological parameters, Astron. Astrophys. 641 (2020) A6 [arXiv:1807.06209] [INSPIRE].
- [86] R. Murgia, G. Scelfo, M. Viel and A. Raccanelli, Lyman-α Forest Constraints on Primordial Black Holes as Dark Matter, Phys. Rev. Lett. **123** (2019) 071102 [arXiv:1903.10509] [INSPIRE].
- [87] V. Iršič, H. Xiao and M. McQuinn, Early structure formation constraints on the ultralight axion in the postinflation scenario, Phys. Rev. D 101 (2020) 123518 [arXiv:1911.11150] [INSPIRE].
- [88] Y.B. Zeldovich, Cosmological fluctuations produced near a singularity, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 192 (1980) 663 [INSPIRE].
- [89] A. Vilenkin, Cosmological Density Fluctuations Produced by Vacuum Strings, Phys. Rev. Lett. 46 (1981) 1169 [Erratum ibid. 46 (1981) 1496] [INSPIRE].
- [90] N. Kaiser and A. Stebbins, Microwave Anisotropy Due to Cosmic Strings, Nature 310 (1984) 391 [INSPIRE].

- [91] A. Albrecht, D. Coulson, P. Ferreira and J. Magueijo, Causality and the microwave background, Phys. Rev. Lett. 76 (1996) 1413 [astro-ph/9505030] [INSPIRE].
- [92] J. Magueijo, A. Albrecht, D. Coulson and P. Ferreira, Doppler peaks from active perturbations, Phys. Rev. Lett. 76 (1996) 2617 [astro-ph/9511042] [INSPIRE].
- [93] U.-L. Pen, U. Seljak and N. Turok, Power spectra in global defect theories of cosmic structure formation, Phys. Rev. Lett. 79 (1997) 1611 [astro-ph/9704165] [INSPIRE].
- [94] L. Pogosian, S.H.H. Tye, I. Wasserman and M. Wyman, Observational constraints on cosmic string production during brane inflation, Phys. Rev. D 68 (2003) 023506 [Erratum ibid. 73 (2006) 089904] [hep-th/0304188] [INSPIRE].
- [95] M. Wyman, L. Pogosian and I. Wasserman, Bounds on cosmic strings from WMAP and SDSS, Phys. Rev. D 72 (2005) 023513 [Erratum ibid. 73 (2006) 089905] [astro-ph/0503364]
 [INSPIRE].
- [96] A.A. Fraisse, Limits on Defects Formation and Hybrid Inflationary Models with Three-Year WMAP Observations, JCAP 03 (2007) 008 [astro-ph/0603589] [INSPIRE].
- [97] PLANCK collaboration, Planck 2013 results. XXV. Searches for cosmic strings and other topological defects, Astron. Astrophys. 571 (2014) A25 [arXiv:1303.5085] [INSPIRE].
- [98] R. Battye and A. Moss, Updated constraints on the cosmic string tension, Phys. Rev. D 82 (2010) 023521 [arXiv:1005.0479] [INSPIRE].
- [99] T. Charnock, A. Avgoustidis, E.J. Copeland and A. Moss, CMB constraints on cosmic strings and superstrings, Phys. Rev. D 93 (2016) 123503 [arXiv:1603.01275] [INSPIRE].
- [100] J. Lizarraga, J. Urrestilla, D. Daverio, M. Hindmarsh and M. Kunz, New CMB constraints for Abelian Higgs cosmic strings, JCAP 10 (2016) 042 [arXiv:1609.03386] [INSPIRE].
- [101] A. Lopez-Eiguren, J. Lizarraga, M. Hindmarsh and J. Urrestilla, Cosmic Microwave Background constraints for global strings and global monopoles, JCAP 07 (2017) 026 [arXiv:1705.04154] [INSPIRE].
- [102] T. Hiramatsu, M. Kawasaki, K. Saikawa and T. Sekiguchi, Axion cosmology with long-lived domain walls, JCAP 01 (2013) 001 [arXiv:1207.3166] [INSPIRE].
- [103] A.D. Linde and D.H. Lyth, Axionic domain wall production during inflation, Phys. Lett. B 246 (1990) 353 [INSPIRE].
- [104] D.H. Lyth and E.D. Stewart, Axions and inflation: String formation during inflation, Phys. Rev. D 46 (1992) 532 [INSPIRE].
- [105] PLANCK collaboration, Planck 2018 results. X. Constraints on inflation, Astron. Astrophys.
 641 (2020) A10 [arXiv:1807.06211] [INSPIRE].
- [106] D.A. Kirzhnits and A.D. Linde, Macroscopic Consequences of the Weinberg Model, Phys. Lett. B 42 (1972) 471 [INSPIRE].
- [107] D.A. Kirzhnits and A.D. Linde, A Relativistic phase transition, Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. 67 (1974) 1263 [INSPIRE].
- [108] S. Weinberg, Gauge and Global Symmetries at High Temperature, Phys. Rev. D 9 (1974) 3357
 [INSPIRE].
- [109] G.R. Dvali and G. Senjanović, Is there a domain wall problem?, Phys. Rev. Lett. 74 (1995) 5178 [hep-ph/9501387] [INSPIRE].
- [110] T.W.B. Kibble, Topology of Cosmic Domains and Strings, J. Phys. A 9 (1976) 1387 [INSPIRE].
- [111] T.W.B. Kibble, Some Implications of a Cosmological Phase Transition, Phys. Rept. 67 (1980) 183 [INSPIRE].

- [112] W.H. Zurek, Cosmological Experiments in Superfluid Helium?, Nature 317 (1985) 505
 [INSPIRE].
- [113] G.F. Giudice, E.W. Kolb and A. Riotto, Largest temperature of the radiation era and its cosmological implications, Phys. Rev. D 64 (2001) 023508 [hep-ph/0005123] [INSPIRE].
- [114] R. Allahverdi and M. Drees, Thermalization after inflation and production of massive stable particles, Phys. Rev. D 66 (2002) 063513 [hep-ph/0205246] [INSPIRE].
- [115] A. Mazumdar and B. Zaldivar, Quantifying the reheating temperature of the universe, Nucl. Phys. B 886 (2014) 312 [arXiv:1310.5143] [INSPIRE].
- [116] L.A. Kofman and A.D. Linde, Generation of Density Perturbations in the Inflationary Cosmology, Nucl. Phys. B 282 (1987) 555 [INSPIRE].
- [117] E.T. Vishniac, K.A. Olive and D. Seckel, Cosmic Strings and Inflation, Nucl. Phys. B 289 (1987) 717 [INSPIRE].
- [118] J. Yokoyama, Inflation can save cosmic strings, Phys. Rev. Lett. 63 (1989) 712 [INSPIRE].
- [119] H.M. Hodges and J.R. Primack, Strings, texture and inflation, Phys. Rev. D 43 (1991) 3155
 [INSPIRE].
- [120] Q. Shafi and A. Vilenkin, Spontaneously Broken Global Symmetries and Cosmology, Phys. Rev. D 29 (1984) 1870 [INSPIRE].
- [121] L.A. Kofman and D.Y. Pogosian, Nonflat Perturbations in Inflationary Cosmology, Phys. Lett. B 214 (1988) 508 [INSPIRE].
- [122] H.M. Hodges, G.R. Blumenthal, L.A. Kofman and J.R. Primack, Nonstandard Primordial Fluctuations From a Polynomial Inflaton Potential, Nucl. Phys. B 335 (1990) 197 [INSPIRE].
- [123] G. Ballesteros, J. Redondo, A. Ringwald and C. Tamarit, Standard Model-axion-seesaw-Higgs portal inflation. Five problems of particle physics and cosmology solved in one stroke, JCAP 08 (2017) 001 [arXiv:1610.01639] [INSPIRE].
- [124] A.D. Linde, Axions in inflationary cosmology, Phys. Lett. B 259 (1991) 38 [INSPIRE].
- [125] A.D. Linde, Hybrid inflation, Phys. Rev. D 49 (1994) 748 [astro-ph/9307002] [INSPIRE].
- [126] J.M. Cline, L. Hoi and B. Underwood, Dynamical Fine Tuning in Brane Inflation, JHEP 06 (2009) 078 [arXiv:0902.0339] [INSPIRE].
- [127] N. Itzhaki, The Overshoot Problem and Giant Structures, JHEP 10 (2008) 061
 [arXiv:0807.3216] [INSPIRE].
- [128] E.J. Copeland, A.R. Liddle, D.H. Lyth, E.D. Stewart and D. Wands, False vacuum inflation with Einstein gravity, Phys. Rev. D 49 (1994) 6410 [astro-ph/9401011] [INSPIRE].
- [129] R.A. Battye and J. Weller, Cosmic structure formation in hybrid inflation models, Phys. Rev. D 61 (2000) 043501 [astro-ph/9810203] [INSPIRE].
- [130] R. Jeannerot, J. Rocher and M. Sakellariadou, How generic is cosmic string formation in SUSY GUTs, Phys. Rev. D 68 (2003) 103514 [hep-ph/0308134] [INSPIRE].
- [131] A. Linde, Chaotic inflation in supergravity and cosmic string production, Phys. Rev. D 88 (2013) 123503 [arXiv:1303.4435] [INSPIRE].
- [132] G.R. Dvali, Q. Shafi and R.K. Schaefer, Large scale structure and supersymmetric inflation without fine tuning, Phys. Rev. Lett. 73 (1994) 1886 [hep-ph/9406319] [INSPIRE].
- [133] P. Binetruy and G.R. Dvali, D term inflation, Phys. Lett. B 388 (1996) 241
 [hep-ph/9606342] [INSPIRE].

- [134] J. Rocher and M. Sakellariadou, D-term inflation, cosmic strings, and consistency with cosmic microwave background measurement, Phys. Rev. Lett. 94 (2005) 011303
 [hep-ph/0412143] [INSPIRE].
- [135] L. Kofman, A.D. Linde and A.A. Starobinsky, Towards the theory of reheating after inflation, Phys. Rev. D 56 (1997) 3258 [hep-ph/9704452] [INSPIRE].
- [136] Y. Bai, M. Korwar and N. Orlofsky, Electroweak-Symmetric Dark Monopoles from Preheating, JHEP 07 (2020) 167 [arXiv:2005.00503] [INSPIRE].
- [137] Y. Shtanov, J.H. Traschen and R.H. Brandenberger, Universe reheating after inflation, Phys. Rev. D 51 (1995) 5438 [hep-ph/9407247] [INSPIRE].
- [138] S.Y. Khlebnikov and I.I. Tkachev, The Universe after inflation: The Wide resonance case, Phys. Lett. B 390 (1997) 80 [hep-ph/9608458] [INSPIRE].
- [139] D.G. Figueroa and F. Torrenti, Parametric resonance in the early Universe a fitting analysis, JCAP 02 (2017) 001 [arXiv:1609.05197] [INSPIRE].
- [140] A. Drew and E.P.S. Shellard, Radiation from Global Topological Strings using Adaptive Mesh Refinement: Methodology and Massless Modes, arXiv:1910.01718 [INSPIRE].
- [141] N. Ramberg and L. Visinelli, QCD axion and gravitational waves in light of NANOGrav results, Phys. Rev. D 103 (2021) 063031 [arXiv:2012.06882] [INSPIRE].
- [142] J. Halverson, C. Long and P. Nath, Ultralight axion in supersymmetry and strings and cosmology at small scales, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017) 056025 [arXiv:1703.07779] [INSPIRE].
- [143] R. Holman, S.D.H. Hsu, T.W. Kephart, E.W. Kolb, R. Watkins and L.M. Widrow, Solutions to the strong CP problem in a world with gravity, Phys. Lett. B 282 (1992) 132
 [hep-ph/9203206] [INSPIRE].
- [144] M. Kamionkowski and J. March-Russell, Planck scale physics and the Peccei-Quinn mechanism, Phys. Lett. B 282 (1992) 137 [hep-th/9202003] [INSPIRE].
- [145] S.M. Barr and D. Seckel, Planck scale corrections to axion models, Phys. Rev. D 46 (1992) 539 [INSPIRE].
- [146] R. Kallosh, A.D. Linde, D.A. Linde and L. Susskind, Gravity and global symmetries, Phys. Rev. D 52 (1995) 912 [hep-th/9502069] [INSPIRE].
- [147] R. Alonso and A. Urbano, Wormholes and masses for Goldstone bosons, JHEP 02 (2019) 136 [arXiv:1706.07415] [INSPIRE].
- [148] J.E. Kim, Weak Interaction Singlet and Strong CP Invariance, Phys. Rev. Lett. 43 (1979) 103
 [INSPIRE].
- [149] M.A. Shifman, A.I. Vainshtein and V.I. Zakharov, Can Confinement Ensure Natural CP Invariance of Strong Interactions?, Nucl. Phys. B 166 (1980) 493 [INSPIRE].
- [150] A. Khmelnitsky and V. Rubakov, Pulsar timing signal from ultralight scalar dark matter, JCAP 02 (2014) 019 [arXiv:1309.5888] [INSPIRE].
- [151] V.S.H. Lee, A. Mitridate, T. Trickle and K.M. Zurek, Probing Small-Scale Power Spectra with Pulsar Timing Arrays, arXiv:2012.09857 [INSPIRE].
- [152] C. Cutler and J. Harms, BBO and the neutron-star-binary subtraction problem, Phys. Rev. D 73 (2006) 042001 [gr-qc/0511092] [INSPIRE].
- [153] J. García-Bellido, D.G. Figueroa and A. Sastre, A Gravitational Wave Background from Reheating after Hybrid Inflation, Phys. Rev. D 77 (2008) 043517 [arXiv:0707.0839]
 [INSPIRE].

- [154] D.G. Figueroa, J. García-Bellido and A. Rajantie, On the Transverse-Traceless Projection in Lattice Simulations of Gravitational Wave Production, JCAP 11 (2011) 015
 [arXiv:1110.0337] [INSPIRE].
- [155] M. Dine, N. Fernandez, A. Ghalsasi and H.H. Patel, Comments on Axions, Domain Walls, and Cosmic Strings, arXiv:2012.13065 [INSPIRE].
- [156] J.F. Dufaux, A. Bergman, G.N. Felder, L. Kofman and J.-P. Uzan, Theory and Numerics of Gravitational Waves from Preheating after Inflation, Phys. Rev. D 76 (2007) 123517 [arXiv:0707.0875] [INSPIRE].
- [157] A. Arvanitaki and S. Dubovsky, Exploring the String Axiverse with Precision Black Hole Physics, Phys. Rev. D 83 (2011) 044026 [arXiv:1004.3558] [INSPIRE].
- [158] A. Arvanitaki, M. Baryakhtar and X. Huang, Discovering the QCD Axion with Black Holes and Gravitational Waves, Phys. Rev. D 91 (2015) 084011 [arXiv:1411.2263] [INSPIRE].
- [159] M.J. Stott and D.J.E. Marsh, Black hole spin constraints on the mass spectrum and number of axionlike fields, Phys. Rev. D 98 (2018) 083006 [arXiv:1805.02016] [INSPIRE].
- [160] M. Baryakhtar, M. Galanis, R. Lasenby and O. Simon, Black hole superradiance of self-interacting scalar fields, arXiv:2011.11646 [INSPIRE].
- [161] R. Hlozek, D.J.E. Marsh and D. Grin, Using the Full Power of the Cosmic Microwave Background to Probe Axion Dark Matter, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 476 (2018) 3063 [arXiv:1708.05681] [INSPIRE].
- [162] J.B. Bauer, D.J.E. Marsh, R. Hložek, H. Padmanabhan and A. Laguë, Intensity Mapping as a Probe of Axion Dark Matter, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 500 (2020) 3162 [arXiv:2003.09655] [INSPIRE].
- [163] P. Agrawal, A. Hook and J. Huang, A CMB Millikan experiment with cosmic axiverse strings, JHEP 07 (2020) 138 [arXiv:1912.02823] [INSPIRE].
- [164] C.S. Machado, W. Ratzinger, P. Schwaller and B.A. Stefanek, Audible Axions, JHEP 01 (2019) 053 [arXiv:1811.01950] [INSPIRE].
- [165] C.S. Machado, W. Ratzinger, P. Schwaller and B.A. Stefanek, Gravitational wave probes of axionlike particles, Phys. Rev. D 102 (2020) 075033 [arXiv:1912.01007] [INSPIRE].
- [166] C.-F. Chang and Y. Cui, Stochastic Gravitational Wave Background from Global Cosmic Strings, Phys. Dark Univ. 29 (2020) 100604 [arXiv:1910.04781] [INSPIRE].
- [167] Y. Gouttenoire, G. Servant and P. Simakachorn, BSM with Cosmic Strings: Heavy, up to EeV mass, Unstable Particles, JCAP 07 (2020) 016 [arXiv:1912.03245] [INSPIRE].
- [168] D.G. Figueroa, M. Hindmarsh and J. Urrestilla, Exact Scale-Invariant Background of Gravitational Waves from Cosmic Defects, Phys. Rev. Lett. 110 (2013) 101302 [arXiv:1212.5458] [INSPIRE].
- [169] D.G. Figueroa, M. Hindmarsh, J. Lizarraga and J. Urrestilla, Irreducible background of gravitational waves from a cosmic defect network: update and comparison of numerical techniques, Phys. Rev. D 102 (2020) 103516 [arXiv:2007.03337] [INSPIRE].
- [170] E.J. Weinberg, Radiative corrections as the origin of spontaneous symmetry breaking, Ph.D. thesis, Harvard U., 1973. hep-th/0507214 [INSPIRE].
- [171] D.H. Lyth and A. Riotto, Particle physics models of inflation and the cosmological density perturbation, Phys. Rept. 314 (1999) 1 [hep-ph/9807278] [INSPIRE].
- [172] N.W. McLachlan, Theory and application of Mathieu functions, Clarendon Press, Oxford (1951).
- [173] J. Martin, C. Ringeval, R. Trotta and V. Vennin, The Best Inflationary Models After Planck, JCAP 03 (2014) 039 [arXiv:1312.3529] [INSPIRE].